
Meeting of:  Cabinet
Date: Tuesday, 28th January, 2020
Time: 6.00 pm.
Venue: Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, 

Number One Riverside, Smith Street, 
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.

Item 
No.

AGENDA Page No

1  Apologies 

To receive any apologies for absence.

2  Declarations of Interest 

Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.   

3  Urgent Items of Business 

To determine whether there are any additional items of business 
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency.

4  Items for Exclusion of Public and Press 

To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to 
be excluded from the meeting.

5  Minutes 4 - 14

Members are requested to approve the Minutes of the Meeting held on

the 2nd December 2019.

Public Document Pack



6  Finance Update Report 2019/20 15 - 43

To consider the Finance Update Report 2019/20.

7  Collection Fund 2019/20 44 - 54

To consider an update on the Collection Fund 2019/20.

8  Research report - 'Unknown and Unseen: the Social, Economic 
and Cultural needs of the Kashmiri Community in Rochdale' 

55 - 87

To consider the research report - ‘Unknown and Unseen: the Social, 
Economic and Cultural needs of the Kashmiri Community in Rochdale’.

9  Response to Climate Emergency Motion 88 - 123

To consider the response to the Climate Emergency Motion.

10  Greater Manchester's Clean Air Plan - Tackling Nitrogen Dioxide 
Exceedances at the Roadside - Update 

124 - 138

To consider an update on Greater Manchester's Clean Air Plan.

11  Exclusion of Press and Public 

To consider that the press and public be excluded from the remaining 
part of the meeting pursuant to Section 100(A)4 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 on the grounds that discussions may involve the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the provisions of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 and public 
interest would not be served in publishing the information. 

12  Holiday Pay 139 - 150

To consider a report relating to holiday pay.

13  HR and Payroll System Contract 151 - 156

To consider a report relating to the HR and Payroll System Contract.



14  St Mary's Gate Rochdale - Proposed Acquisition of Property 157 - 161

To consider the proposed acquisition of a property at St Marys Gate, 
Rochdale.

15  Consent for Proposed Disposals of Land 162 - 168

To requested consideration of proposed disposals of land.

Cabinet Members
Councillor Daalat Ali Councillor Allen Brett
Councillor Neil Emmott Councillor Janet Emsley
Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed Councillor John Blundell
Councillor Kieran Heakin Councillor Sara Rowbotham
Councillor Carol Wardle

For more information about this meeting, please contact 
Alison James/Peter Thompson – Governance and Committee Services

Telephone: 01706 924711/924715
E-mail: alison.james@rochdale.gov.uk/peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk 



CABINET

MINUTES OF MEETING
Monday 2nd December 2019

PRESENT: Councillor Brett (Chair); Councillors Daalat Ali, Blundell and 
Heakin

OFFICERS: Steve Rumbelow (Chief Executive), Neil Thornton (Director of 
Resources), Gail Hopper (Director of Children’s Services), Julie Murphy (Chief 
Finance Officer), Mark Robinson (Assistant Director – Economy), Peter 
Maynard, Jo Oliver and Robert Scott (Neighbourhoods Directorate), Jim 
Hopkinson (Children’s Services Directorate), Carolyn Goddard, Keith 
McKenzie and Alison James (Resources Directorate)

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: Councillor Cocks, Councillor Dearnley, Councillor 
Hartley, Councillor Massey, Councillor Rana, Councillor Smith and Councillor 
Wazir. Two members of the public.

45 APOLOGIES
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Neil Emmott, Councillor 
Emsley, Councillor Robinson, Councillor Rowbotham and Councillor Wardle.

46 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest.

47 URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS
There were no urgent items of business.

48 MINUTES
Resolved:

That the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on 29th October 2019 be 
approved and signed as a correct record.

49 BURY AND ROCHDALE YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN 2019 - 2021
Cabinet considered the report of the Director of Children’s Services which 
presented the Youth Justice Plan 2019/21 and highlighted some of the key 
achievements in reducing re-offending during 2018/19.  The report also 
provided the areas for improvement that the service would focus upon, as set 
out in the Service Improvement Plan appended to the report.

Alternatives considered:

There were no alternatives as the Youth Justice Plan is a statutory plan.

Resolved:

1. That the Youth Justice Plan 2019/21 and performance summary for the
period 2019/19 be noted.

Page 4

Agenda Item 5



Reasons for the recommendation:

Local authorities continue to have a statutory duty to submit an annual youth 
justice plan relating to the provision of youth justice services.  Section 40 of 
the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 sets out the youth offending partnership’s 
responsibilities in producing this plan.  It states that it is the duty of each local 
authority, after consultation with the partner agencies, to formulate and 
implement an annual youth justice plan, setting out:

(a) How youth justice services in their area are to be provided and 
funded; and 

(b) How the YOT will be composed and funded, how it will operate, 
and what functions it will carry out.

Eligible for call in – no 

50 2020/21 COUNCIL TAX TAXBASE
Cabinet considered the report of the Chief Finance Officer which requested 
that the statutory Council Tax Base calculation for 2020/21, calculated in 
accordance with The Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) 
(England) Regulations 2012 as part of the 2020/21 Estimates process and the 
precept payment dates for 2020/21 be recommended to Council for approval.

Cabinet members were informed that the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee would consider the report in January 2020. The Chair of the 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee had been consulted and had 
indicated he was satisfied with the recommendations being put forward.

Alternatives considered:

No alternative is available, as the Council has a statutory requirement to 
calculate and approve a Council Tax base each financial year.

Resolved:

That Council on 18th December 2019 be recommended to approve:

1. That the Council Tax base expressed for “Band D equivalent 
properties” should be 55,745 for 2020/21 (55,176 2019/20) as detailed 
at Appendix 1 to the submitted report;

2. That the proposed precepts payment schedule be as follows:

20th April 2020 20th October 2020
20th May 2020 20th November 2020
22nd June 2020 21st December 2020
20th July 2020 20th January 2021
20th August 2020 22nd February 2021
21st September 2020 22nd March 2021

Page 5



Reasons for the recommendation:

Rochdale Borough Council, as a Council Tax billing authority, is required each 
year to make statutory calculations specified in Section 33 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended). The Local Authorities 
(Calculation of Council Tax Base) (England) Regulations 2012 require 
authorities to calculate the Council Tax base (number of taxable properties), 
expressed as "Band D equivalent properties". Approval of these calculations 
is required by 31st January in each financial year. 

The Local Government Finance Act 1992 prescribes the procedures to be 
adopted in setting precept payment dates. The Act requires billing authorities 
to notify precepting authorities of a proposed payments schedule. This 
notification must be given before 31st December in respect of the following 
financial year. The final payments schedule is then confirmed by 31st 
January.

The calculation of the tax base has to be made by 31st January and notified to 
the major precepting and levying authorities. Under Section 84 of the Local 
Government Act 2003 the determination can be delegated to a committee or 
sub-committee in accordance with Section 101 of the Local Government Act 
1972. 

Eligible for call in – no 

51 2020/21 SETTING OF THE BUSINESS RATE BASE
Cabinet considered the report of the Chief Finance Officer which sought 
approval from Council on 18th December 2019 for the setting of the Business 
Rates baseline for 2020/21 in accordance with the Local Government Finance 
Act 1988 and the Non-Domestic Rating Regulations 2013 and the precept 
payment dates for 2020/21.

Cabinet members were informed that the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee would consider the report in January 2020. The Chair of the 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee had been consulted and had 
indicated he was satisfied with the recommendations being put forward.

Alternatives considered:

No alternative is available, as the Council has a statutory requirement to 
estimate and set a Business Rates Baseline each financial year.

Resolved: 

That Council on 18th December 2019 be recommended to approve:

1. That the draft Business Rate baseline figure be £63.991m for 2020/21, 
subject to any changes which may result from:

Page 6



 The provisional Local Government Finance Settlement 2020/21;
 The issue of the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 

Government (MHCLG) guidance on completion of the 2020/21 
Business Rates baseline return (NNDR1), due in January 2020.

2. That the Chief Finance Officer, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Finance, to be authorised to conclude and agree the final 
Business Rates baseline return (NNDR1) due on 31 January 2020, 
should the final information yet to be received from MHCLG change the 
baseline figure for 2020/21.

3. That the proposed precepts payment schedule be as follows:

20th April 2020 20th October 2020
20th May 2020 20th November 2020
22nd June 2020 21st December 2020
20th July 2020 20th January 2021
20th August 2020 22nd February 2021
21st September 2020 22nd March 2021

Reasons for the recommendation:

The Non-Domestic Rating (Rates Retention) Regulations 2013 (SI 2013/452) 
require billing authorities to notify the Secretary of State and their major 
precepting authority of their calculation of non-domestic rating income for the 
following financial year and the estimated surplus/deficit on the Collection 
Fund by 31st January each year.

The figures are produced subject to the MHCLG guidance being published 
and provided, following which the figure in this report may have to be 
revisited.

Eligible for call in – no 

52 2020/21 LOCAL COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME
Cabinet considered the report of the Chief Finance Officer which proposed 
changes to the Council’s Local Council Tax Support scheme for 2020/21. The 
changes were proposed so that the scheme remained fit for purpose for 
working age residents in receipt of Universal Credit.

Cabinet members were informed that the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee would consider the report in January 2020. The Chair of the 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee had been consulted and had 
indicated he was satisfied with the recommendations being put forward.

Alternatives considered:

The current Local Council Tax Support scheme could continue unchanged for
2020/21. This would create confusion and uncertainty for the growing number 
of Universal Credit customers.

Page 7



Resolved:

That the following recommendations be approved to form the basis of a report 
to Council on 18 December 2019:

 That the findings of the consultation process for the review of the Local 
Council Tax Support Scheme for 2020/21 be noted;

 That the introduction a banded income scheme for 2020/21 for working 
age residents in receipt of Universal Credit in line with Sections 4.1, 4.2 
& 4.3 of the report, following the outcome of the consultation exercise 
as detailed in Section 7 of the report be approved;

 That the Local Council Tax Support Scheme for 2020/21 will be 
approved in accordance with Section 67 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 as amended.

Reasons for the recommendation:

Schedule 1A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 as amended requires 
local authorities to consider whether to revise or to replace its Local Council 
Tax Support Scheme each year. Any revisions or a replacement scheme must 
have been considered and agreed for operation from 1 April 2020.

Eligible for call in – no 

53 COUNCIL TAX EMPTY PROPERTY CHARGES
Cabinet considered the report of the Chief Finance Officer which sought 
approval to increase the council tax empty property premium from 100% to 
200% with effect from 1 April 2020 for properties that have been empty in 
excess of 5 years.

Cabinet members were informed that the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee would consider the report in January 2020. The Chair of the 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee had been consulted and had 
indicated he was satisfied with the recommendations being put forward.

Alternatives considered:

The empty property premium could remain at 100%. However, Government 
has identified that additional measures are needed to continue the 
improvements already made and have amended the legislation. 

Of the 238 properties that are currently subject to the premium, 61 have been 
empty in excess of 5 years and a further 34 in excess of 10 years, so there 
are still problems locally that need to be addressed and the 100% premium 
isn’t working in these cases. 

Page 8



The 95 long-term empty properties that have been empty in excess of 5 years 
and the other 143 that have been empty more than 2 years are causing 
problems in their communities and adding pressure on the overall housing 
stock.

Resolved:

1. That the council tax empty property premium being increased from 
100% to 200% with effect from 1 April 2020 for properties that have 
been empty in excess of 5 years be approved.

Reasons for the decision:

In April 2013, Government gave local authorities power to determine the level 
of empty property discounts in dwelling classes B, C and D (Section 12 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 2012). The power included an option to 
charge a premium of up to 50% where a property has been empty in excess 
of two years. The Council decided to introduce a 50% premium with effect 
from 1 April 2013 and increased this to 100% with effect from 1 April 2019.

From 1 April 2020, Government is increasing the optional maximum empty 
property premium charge to 200% for properties that have been empty in 
excess of 5 years.

With effect from 1 April 2021, Government is also increasing the optional 
maximum empty property premium charge to 300% for properties that have 
been empty in excess of 10 years.

Eligible for call in - yes

54 RISK BASED VERIFICATION
Cabinet considered the report of the Chief Finance Officer which sought 
approval to stop using the Risk Based Verification policy for Housing Benefit 
and Local Council Tax Support claims from 1 April 2020.

Cabinet members were informed that the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee would consider the report in January 2020. The Chair of the 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee had been consulted and had 
indicated he was satisfied with the recommendations being put forward.

Alternatives considered:

The Risk Based Verification policy could continue to operate. However, its 
primary purpose of identifying high and medium risk Housing Benefit claims 
for people of working-age has been removed by the introduction of Universal 
Credit full service.

Page 9



Resolved:

1. That the ending of the use of the Risk Based Verification policy for 
Housing Benefit and Local Council Tax Support claims from 1 April 
2020 be approved.

Reasons for the Decision:

On 3 August 2015, Cabinet approved the implementation of the Risk Based 
Verification policy for Housing Benefit and Local Council Tax Support claims.

Risk Based Verification is a method of applying different levels of verification 
checks to benefit claims according to the predicted risk associated with those 
claims. This policy was primarily aimed at Housing Benefit claims from people 
of working-age.

Following the introduction of Universal Credit full service on 16 May 2018, the 
majority of new claims from people of working-age who need help to pay their 
rent have to be made to the Department for Work and Pensions.

Claims from people of pension age and claims for Local Council Tax Support 
are in the main low risk and the Risk Based Verification policy is no longer 
considered to be necessary.

Eligible for call in – yes

55 CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2020/21 TO 2022/23
Cabinet considered the report of the Chief Finance Officer which outlined the 
Council’s proposed Capital Programme for 2021/22 to 2022/23. 

The report would be submitted to the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee in January 2020.

Alternatives considered:

The Council is legally obliged to set a balanced budget. The budget setting 
process is complex and must be undertaken in a planned way. Budgets are 
prepared in accordance with the approved guidelines.

A number of alternative elements of the Capital Programme were considered 
in the development of the programme, the one which is presented is of the 
most strategic/community value and therefore forms the basis for Public 
Consultation, on the understanding that any alternatives offered during that 
process will be considered.

Resolved:

1. That the 2020/21 (£80.723m) Capital Programme and provisional 
programmes for 2021/22 and 2022/23, be approved for the purposes of 
consultation, subject to confirmation of grant funding allocations.

Page 10



Reasons for the decision:

The provisional 2020/21 to 2022/23 Capital Programme is presented to 
Cabinet for consultation as part of the budget setting process.

Eligible for call in – no 

56 FINANCE UPDATE REPORT 2019/20
Cabinet considered the report of the Chief Finance Officer which provided 
details of the Council’s forecast 2019/20 financial position as at the end of 
September 2019.

The report would be submitted to the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee in January 2020.

Alternatives considered:

Not reporting on financial performance puts at risk the achievement of the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan. Effective budget management is 
critical to ensuring financial resources are spent in line with the budget and 
are targeted towards the Council’s priorities. Monitoring enables the early 
identification of variations against the plan and facilitates timely corrective 
action.

Resolved:

1. That the forecast 2019/20 budget positions for Revenue, Savings and 
Capital as at the end of September 2019 be noted;

2. That the £6.700m additional contribution to the pooled fund detailed in 
paragraph 4.1.3 of the submitted report, noting £0.823m to be reduced 
off the 2020/21 contribution be approved;

3. That the Revenue Budget Pressure Fund requests for 2019/20 totalling 
£0.091m detailed in section 4.1.4. of the submitted report be approved;

4. That the Capital funding switch detailed in section 4.1.3. of the 
submitted report be approved;

5. That the net Capital re-phasing of £7.210m detailed in section 4.4.2. of 
the submitted report be noted;

6. That the Treasury Management update which as detailed in Appendix 
G. of the submitted report be noted;

Reasons for the decision:

Cabinet Members should be kept updated on the financial position of the 
authority, as effective budget management is critical to ensuring the financial 
resources are spent in line with the budget and are targeted towards the 

Page 11



Council’s priorities. Monitoring enables the early identification of variations 
against the plan and facilitates timely corrective action.

This report provides an overview of the forecast 2019/20 financial position for 
the Council and focuses on the position as at the end of September 2019.  

Eligible for call in – no 

57 COLLECTION FUND 2019/20
Cabinet considered the report of the Chief Finance Officer which provided 
details of the forecast Collection Fund outturn position for 2019/20 as at the 
end of September 2019.

The report would be submitted to the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee in January 2020.

Alternatives considered:

Not reporting on financial performance puts at risk the achievement of the 
Authority’s Medium Term Financial Strategy. Effective financial management 
is critical to ensuring that financial resources are received in line with the 
budget, which enables them to be targeted towards the Council’s priorities.

Resolved:

1. That the forecast 2019/20 Collection Fund outturn position be noted:

2. That it be noted that the Council is due to receive £1.470m from 
Greater Manchester Combined Authority in respect of 2018/19 
Business Rates growth previously paid, and this will be held in the 
Business Rates Growth Reserve, as detailed in paragraph 4.2.5.

Reasons for the decision:

The Collection Fund forecast outturn report for 2019/20 is presented to 
Cabinet for noting as part of the budget monitoring process.

Eligible for call in – no 

58 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
Resolved:

That the Press and Public be excluded from the meeting during consideration 
of the following three items of business, in accordance with the provisions of 
Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended.

Page 12



Reason for the Decision:

Should the press and public remain during debate on these three items there 
may be a disclosure of information that is deemed to be exempt under Parts 1 
and 4 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

59 AFFORDABLE HOUSING FUND
Cabinet considered the report of the Director of Neighbourhoods which 
outlined proposals for the Affordable Housing Fund (AHF).

Alternatives considered:

Not invest AHF monies. This would result in the risk of losing available funding 
as Section 106 planning obligations which remain unspent must be returned 
to developers from whom they were secured if not spent on their defined 
purpose. 

Continue to rely on Registered Providers and private developers for all new 
housing delivery – this could run the risk of the gaps in provision.

Resolved:

1. That the issues/difficulties currently affecting housing provision within 
the Borough as referred to in the submitted report be noted;  

2. That the use of AHF monies to invest in housing schemes to meet the 
housing needs in the Borough and to meet all costs, as set out in 
Section 4 of the submitted report be approved;

3. That the delegation to the Property and Growth Fund Sub-Committee 
in conjunction with the Director of Resources and the Director of 
Neighbourhoods to approve all project-specific costs and actions 
necessary to deliver specific projects to completion be approved.

Reasons for the decision:

In order to release the AHF for investment in affordable housing to meet 
housing need.

Eligible for call in - yes

60 WASTE LEVY ALLOCATION METHODOLOGY AGREEMENT
Cabinet considered the report of the Director of Neighbourhoods which 
provided an update on the Levy Allocation Methodology Agreement (LAMA) 
for waste and recycling between the Greater Manchester Combined Authority 
– Waste and Resources and district members.

Page 13



Alternatives considered:

Failure to agree the new LAMA will result in the original payment mechanism 
being applied

Resolved:

1. That Council be recommended to approve:-

• The new Levy Allocation Methodology Agreement (LAMA);
• Authority being delegated to the Director of Resources in consultation 

with the Cabinet Member for Resources to approve any further 
changes to the LAMA which are not considered material.

Reasons for the decision:

Following the award of a new contract which commenced on 1 June 2019 to 
manage waste and recycling facilities across Greater Manchester it is 
necessary for all constituent districts to agree a revised LAMA to reflect the 
revised financial arrangements from 1 April 2020.

Eligible for call in – no 

Page 14



Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting Tuesday 28th January 
2020

Portfolio Leader of the Council and 
Cabinet Member for 
Finance

Report Author Stuart Smith (Resources 
Directorate)

Public/Private Document Public

Finance Update Report 2019/20

Executive Summary

To inform Cabinet and the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee of the 
Council’s forecast 2019/20 financial position as at the end of November 2019.

1.1 The Finance Update Report contains detail of the following:

 The forecast Revenue outturn is a breakeven position, however it 
should be noted this has been achieved after the application of 
significant sums from the Equalisation Reserve and an expected refund 
from the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA).  

 An update of the Savings target of £0.135m, as part of the Revenue 
budget 2019/20.

 Forecast Capital spend of £106.040m after net re-phasing of £15.846m 
and a budget return of £0.050m. 

Recommendation

2.1 Cabinet notes the forecast 2019/20 budget positions for Revenue, Savings 
and Capital as at the end of November 2019.

2.2 Cabinet approves the Revenue Budget Pressure Fund requests for 2019/20 
totalling £0.145m detailed in section 4.1.4.

2.3 Cabinet notes the net Capital re-phasing of £15.846m detailed in section 
4.4.2.

2.4 Cabinet approves the Capital funding switch detailed in 4.4.3.

2.5 Cabinet notes the Capital budget increase of £0.614m in 4.4.4

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



2.6 Cabinet notes the Capital budget return of £0.050m in 4.4.5.

Reason for Recommendation

3.1. Cabinet Members should be kept updated on the financial position of the 
authority, as effective budget management is critical to ensuring the financial 
resources are spent in line with the budget and are targeted towards the 
Council’s priorities. Monitoring enables the early identification of variations 
against the plan and facilitates timely corrective action.

This report provides an overview of the forecast 2019/20 financial position for 
the Council and focuses on the position as at the end of November 2019.  

Key Points for Consideration

4.1 Revenue Budget 2019/20

4.1.1. The budget set by Budget Council on 26th February 2019 was £216.221m. 

The Revenue Budget is £215.621m as at the end of November 2019 with no 
changes in this reporting period.

Approved by When Reason for change Amount (£m)
Budget Council Feb-19 Approved budget 216.221

Jul-19 Reduction in S31 relief -0.600
GRAND TOTAL 215.621

4.1.2 The overall position taking account of the projections currently being forecast 
by services as at the end of November 2019 is a breakeven position, which 
includes a contribution from the Equalisation Reserve for the pooled fund 
pressures and an expected refund from GMCA.

Please see Appendix A for details of budget allocations and forecast Revenue 
Outturn Position.

4.1.3 The major (≥ £0.250m) variations to controllable budget, by service, are 
detailed below:-

Adult Care: £1.233m overspend offset by an increased contribution from the 
Health & Social Care Pooled Budget

The Adult Care service is experiencing financial pressures from the number 
and costs of care packages for service users. There is a further pressure from 
the provision of statutory Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards assessments. 
These pressures are partially mitigated by in-year savings from staff turnover 
and vacancies.

Page 16



The remaining net pressure of £1.233m for Adult Care budgets in 2019/20 will 
be wholly met by an additional contribution from the Health & Social Care 
pooled budget.

Children’s Services - £6.977m overspend with £4.030m being allocated from 
the Dedicated Schools Grant Reserve relating to Special Educational Needs 
and Disability (SEND) 

Children's Services are currently forecasting a pressure of £6.977m which 
relates mainly to External Residential Placements and SEND pressures. 

£2.951m is attributable to external residential placements, with the 2018/19 
growth in cared for children continuing to be cared for in 2019/20. Throughout 
the first three quarters of 2019/20 there has been a small steady reduction in 
the number of cared for children; from 1st April - 16th December 2019 this 
equates to a net reduction of 33 cared for children.

There is a significant pressure of £4.292m within High Needs, £0.262m is the 
pressure on Council funded areas and the remaining £4.030m is related to a 
pressure on the Dedicated School Grant (DSG). The pressures are in relation 
to a continued rise in numbers of children with education health care plans 
and children requiring SEND support. The growth in numbers is not unique to 
Rochdale, this is a national trend with the majority of local authorities now 
facing pressures on their High Needs DSG. The allocation from the DSG 
reserve will leave a deficit position and the Council will be required to submit a 
3 year recovery plan to the Department for Education at the end of the 
financial year to bring the reserve back into a surplus position. A recovery plan 
to bring the balance to less than a £2m deficit would alleviate the need for 
Department of Education intervention.

Financial Control - £4.370m In-Year saving

The forecast in-year saving relates to an expected refund from the Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority and interest savings. The interest savings 
are due to the borrowing requirement being funded through internal borrowing 
with nil cost and the forecast reduction in capital expenditure.

Resources - £0.323m In-Year saving

The service is reporting an in-year saving of £0.323m which includes a 
pressure within the Legal Shared Service with Manchester City Council.  This 
pressure is being mitigated in 2019/20 by savings from staffing costs within 
the Directorate.  However, a significant amount of the 2019/20 staff savings 
have either been committed to the 2020/21 Savings Programme or are one 
year only, therefore, a request for Corporate Funding may be required in 
2020/21 to manage the pressure within Legal Services which is likely to 
continue, due to the growth in Children in Care.

Page 17



Integrated Pooled Budget Contribution - £0.823m Overspend

The Council and the CCG have made the additional contributions approved at 
December Cabinet. The remaining balance reported is a £0.823m pressure. 
The Council will contribute an additional £0.823m to support delivery of the 
commissioning functions for 2019/20 with a corresponding reduction to the 
Council’s contribution in 2020/21. The Council will only make this contribution 
if the pooled fund is unable to identify alternative sources of funding or 
savings to bridge the remaining £0.823m pressure in 2019/20.

There is no period 8 update report to the Integrated Commissioning Board 
relating to the Health & Social Care Pooled Fund. 

 
Full detail of the current Revenue position for each Directorate can be found 
in Appendix B.

4.1.4 Budget Pressures

The Budget Pressure Fund for 2019/20 is £0.667m - £0.458m on-going and 
£0.209m one-off. The one off budget available has been increased by 
£0.115m, as a previously approved allocation to cover the cost of Facilities
Management Services for school meals is no longer required.

The following budget pressure requests are subject to Cabinet Member 
approval:

Economy £0.050m On-going, & £0.080m One off

A request of £0.050m on-going funding is requested in relation to unachieved 
savings targets as a result of lost income on disposal of assets within 
Industrial Estates. 

A new project team has been established to review the Commercial & 
Industrial Estates with a view to increasing income levels. Due to the issues 
that have been identified in 2019/20, the team are unable to increase the 
income during this financial year, therefore a one year only request of 
£0.080m is being made to allow time for these issues to be resolved. 

Resources £0.015m on-going

A request for £0.015m on-going funding is requested in relation to a new 
financial commitment for Cyber Insurance, as part of the overall Insurance 
policies. The amount required is net of a saving made as part of the insurance 
re-tender process.

If the above is approved there will be a balance in 2019/20 of £0.393m on-
going and £0.129m one-off.

Page 18



4.2 Savings Update 2019/20
4.2.1 The total savings target for 2019/20 is £0.135m and Services have not 

identified any issues.

4.2.2 See Appendix C for the financial detail of Savings proposals.

4.3      Corporate Debt
The Council has a responsibility to collect income due and to recover 
outstanding debts owed. There are three main types of income which are 
owed to the Council: Council Tax, Business Rates and Sundry Debts. Sundry 
Debts include:

 Fees and charges raised as invoices by all Directorate of the Council, 
for services provided.

 Housing Benefit overpayments which occur as a result of a change in 
entitlement to benefit.

As at the end of November 2019 the total outstanding sundry debt is 
£11.415m, a decrease of £3.375m from September 2019. 

Summary of Corporate Debt To November 2019 Total £m
Balance of debt carried forward from 2018/19 10.950
Invoices raised less credit notes 49.044
Payments/adjustments (48.305)
Write offs (0.274)
Balance as at November 2019 11.415

Breakdown of outstanding Balance
Fees and Charges 6.233
Housing Benefit Overpayments 5.182

Balance as at 30th September 2019 14.790
Increase/(Reduction) (3.375)

Please see appendix D for further details.

4.4      Capital Budget 2019/20

The current 2019/20 Capital Budget is £106.040m.  The table below shows a 
summary of the movements:

£m £m £m
CAPITAL BUDGET AT SEPTEMBER 2019 121.322 73.543 26.430
Rephasing requested to end of November (15.846) 15.846 -
Return of Waste Service Investment budget in Neighbourhoods (0.050) - -
Capital Budget Increases 0.614 - -
CAPITAL BUDGET AT NOVEMBER 2019 106.040 89.389 26.430

2019/20 2021/222020/21

Page 19



4.4.1 Capital Budget Changes

4.4.2 Capital Re-phasing

Children’s £14.692m

 £14.667m New Place Planning due to works at Lowerplace, Harwood 
Park, Castleton, St John’s primary schools, and various secondary 
schools set to commence in 2020/21,

 £0.025m Aiming High for Disabled Children - the budget is to be 
utilised to adapt a property to be used for short breaks, which due to 
delays will not commence until 2020/21.

Economy £0.613m

 £0.438m Town Centre Schemes due to various delays in schemes,
 £0.100m East Lancashire Railway due to delays in recruitment,
 £0.025m Pennine Hollingworth Lake Feasibility due to delays,
 £0.050m Springfield Park Master Plan as the scheme has been 

suspended in 2019/20, to continue in 2020/21.

Neighbourhoods Service £0.541m

 £0.904m Section 106 Environmental Management to facilitate the 
completion of Balderstone Park, Stansfield and Boroughwide Sports 
schemes,

 £0.868m Bowlee Free School as this is with the Department for 
Education for approval, works are not expected to commence until 
2020/21.

 £0.526m Customer Transformation Programme due to delays in the 
project.

 £0.150m Rochdale Cemetery Lodge Repair to facilitate the completion 
of the memorial hall in 2020/21.

 £0.126m for New Cemetery Sites to facilitate the completion of works at 
Denehurst Park and new memorial sites within cemeteries.

 £0.100m Vehicle Replacement Programme due to vehicles not being 
available in 2019/20.

 (£2.133m) budget rephase reversal on the Highways Investment 
Programme as the scheme has been progressing well and is ahead of 
previously anticipated progress.

4.4.3 Capital Budget Funding Switch

Members are asked to approve the following capital budget funding switch.

Neighbourhoods Service
 £0.056m of 2019/20 budget is requested to be switched from Developer 

Contributions Highways S106 to Section 106 Environmental Management as 
the budget was misallocated. 

Page 20



4.4.4   Capital Budget Increases

Children’s Service - £0.419m of budget received from S106 as the 
contribution to schools.

Neighbourhoods Services - £0.195m S106 contribution for Rutherford Park.

4.4.5   Capital Budget Returns

Neighbourhoods - £0.050m of Waste Services Investment budget is being 
returned as government consultation relating to waste collections has been 
completed. It is expected that Government funding will be made available for 
any necessary expenditure, rather than use Council funding.

Appendix E provides details of the Capital budget position for each Directorate 
and a graph showing the capital forecast spend for all Services.

4.4.6 Capital Receipts

The table following shows the forecast movements in the Capital Receipts 
Reserve during 2019/20, and provisionally for 2020/21 to 2021/22:

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

£m £m £m

Capital Receipts balance as at 1st April 2019 10.187 2.024 0.139

Use of Capital Receipts to fund 2019/20 Capital Programme, including prior year schemes 
rephased into 2019/20 (6.920) - -
Use of Capital Receipts to fund provisional 2020/21 and 2021/22 Capital Programmes, and 
2019/20 rephasing into future years - (0.010) 0.000

Earmarked use of receipts to fund other future commitments (3.647) (3.783) 0.000

Capital Receipts income 2.403 1.908 0.500

Forecast uncommitted Capital Receipts balance as at 31st March 2020 2.024 0.139 0.639

Description

The forecast uncommitted Capital Receipts Reserve balance as at the end of 
2021/22 is currently £0.639m.

4.6 Alternatives considered

4.6.1 Not reporting on financial performance puts at risk the achievement of the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan. Effective budget management is 
critical to ensuring financial resources are spent in line with the budget and 
are targeted towards the Council’s priorities. Monitoring enables the early 
identification of variations against the plan and facilitates timely corrective 
action.

Page 21



Costs and Budget Summary

5. See Appendices A, B, C, D & E which provide an overview of budgets for 
Revenue, Savings, Corporate Debt and Capital detailed in section 4.

Risk and Policy Implications

There are no major legal implications arising as a result of this report except 
to note that debts that are recoverable can be enforced by court action in 
accordance with the court procedure rules.

The use of reserves to address the pressures within the Pooled Fund is a 
one off solution which cannot be sustained into future years. This risk is 
currently being mitigated by the development and implementation of a 
savings programme to deliver a recurrent solution to the pooled fund 
pressures.

The use of Dedicated School Grant Reserve to fund SEND expenditure has 
created a deficit position and a recovery plan will be developed to address 
this.

Demand in Children’s Services continues to increase; a 5 year strategy has 
been developed to support the management of this pressure.

6.

Consultation

7. All services engage with the production of the service based financial 
information within this report. The Leadership Team, the Leader, Cabinet 
Member for Finance, and Opposition Portfolio holder for Finance have been 
informed of the forecast 2019/20 financial position of the Council and its 
implications for future years. The report is presented to the Corporate 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 11th February 2020.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. For further information about this 
report or access to any 
background papers contact Stuart 
Smith

No1 Riverside Floor 2 

For Further Information Contact: Stuart Smith, 
Stuart.Smith@rochdale.gov.uk 
Tel : 01706 924196

Page 22

mailto:Stuart.Smith@rochdale.gov.uk


APPENDIX A – REVENUE SUMMARY

GENERAL FUND REVENUE ACCOUNT SUMMARY 2019/20
CURRENT POSITION AS AT END OF NOVEMBER 2019

TABLE 1

Directorate/ Detail
Budget 
Council

Virements/
Contingency Current Budget

Service and 
Corporate 

Uncontrollables

Current 
Controllable
Approved 

Net 
Budget

Forecast 
Outturn

In Year 
Saving/

(Overspend)

Previous 
Monitoring 

Report 
(December 
Cabinet)

Movement 
Since 

December 
Cabinet

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8) (9) (10)
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000

Adult Care 15,415 1,154 16,569 4,046 12,523 12,523 - - -
Children's 21,585 4,970 26,555 19,049 7,506 10,453 (2,947) (3,100) 153
Economy 15,993 (41) 15,952 755 15,197 15,399 (202) (135) (67)
Neighbourhoods 52,413 2,773 55,186 1,281 53,905 54,112 (207) (250) 43
Public Health and Wellbeing 8,206 211 8,417 1,889 6,528 6,528 - - -
Resources 8,222 (293) 7,929 (3,692) 11,621 11,298 323 256 67
TOTAL GENERAL SERVICES SPENDING 121,834 8,774 130,608 23,328 107,280 110,313 (3,033) (3,229) 196
Integrated Pool Budget Contribution 87,159 8,508 95,667 - 95,667 96,490 (823) (6,700) 5,877
TOTAL POOLED BUDGETS 87,159 8,508 95,667 - 95,667 96,490 (823) (6,700) 5,877
Finance Control: Corporately Held Budgets 1,399 (7,056) (5,657) (20,623) 14,966 10,596 4,370 3,987 383
Finance Control: Transformation Fund 4,703 363 5,066 - 5,066 5,066 - - -
Transfer from Equalisation Reserve - (6,700) (6,700) - (6,700) (6,186) (514) - (514)
Dedicated School Grant Reserve - (4,030) (4,030) - (4,030) (4,030) - - -
Finance Control: Budget Pressures 1,126 (459) 667 - 667 667 - - -
TOTAL FINANCE CONTROL SPENDING 7,228 (17,882) (10,654) (20,623) 9,969 6,113 3,856 3,987 (131)

NET EXPENDITURE REQUIREMENTS 216,221 (600) 215,621 2,705 212,916 212,916 0 (5,942) 5,942

P
age 23



APPENDIX B – SERVICES REVENUE

REVENUE FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT STATEMENT
AS AT END OF NOVEMBER 2019

Service: ADULT CARE DIRECTORATE 
Overall Risk Rating:                    LOW

Table 1. Financial Management Forecast

Area of Service

Major Risk Area 
RAG rating

Budget 
Fixing Council

Current 
Approved 

Expenditure 
Budget

Current 
Approved 
Income 
Budget

Current 
Budget

Forecast 
Spend 19/20

Variation - 
Forecast 
spend to 
Current 
Budget

Change 
from 

Previous 
Report

 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000
CONTROLLABLE BUDGETS

Management GREEN 12,348 13,489 (4,206) 9,283 9,251 32 1
Neighbourhoods RED 25,450 68,505 (32,112) 36,393 37,267 (874) 641
Boroughwide Services RED 14,747 7,182 (4,749) 2,433 3,043 (610) (600)
In House Provider Services GREEN 636 3,073 (1,984) 1,089 936 153 (45)
Governance Business Support & Home 
Improvement Agency

GREEN 931 2,506 (1,253) 1,253 1,122 131 (22)

Greater Manchester Health & Social Care 
Transformation Fund

GREEN 0 3,102 (3,102) 0 0 0 0

Commissioning GREEN 2,511 3,528 (1,040) 2,488 2,410 78 13
Statutory Functions AMBER 552 656 (23) 633 776 (143) 12
SUB TOTAL 57,175 102,041 (48,469) 53,572 54,805 (1,233) 0
Contribution from Pooled Budget GREEN (44,882) 0 (41,049) (41,049) (42,282) 1,233 0

REVISED SUB TOTAL 12,293 102,041 (89,518) 12,523 12,523 0 0

 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000
UNCONTROLLABLE

Service, Corporate and Support Service 
Charges GREEN 2,966 5,812 (1,766) 4,046 4,046 0 0

SUB TOTAL 2,966 5,812 (1,766) 4,046 4,046 0 0

TOTAL SERVICE BUDGET 15,259 107,853 (91,284) 16,569 16,569 0 0

Brief Explanation of Major Variances £'000

32

(874)

(610)

153

131

78

(143)

1,233

TOTAL 0

Financial Management Update

Commissioning:-  In-year savings resulting from staff turnover and vacancies

The Adult Care service is experiencing financial pressures from the number and costs of care packages for service users. There is a further pressure from the 
provision of statutory Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards assessments. These pressures are partially mitigated by in-year savings from staff turnover and 
vacancies.
The remaining net pressure of £1.233m for Adult Care budgets in 2019/20 will be wholly met by an additional contribution from the Health & Social Care pooled 
budget.

Contribution from Pooled Budget:- The net pressure from Adult Social Care budgets in 2019/20 will be wholly met by an additional contribution 
from the Health and Social Care pooled budget

Statutory Functions:- Pressure from the costs of provision of Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards assessments

Neighbourhoods:- Pressure from the number and costs of care packages, exceeding the available budget, including the effect of purchasing an 
additional day of care as 2019/20 is a leap year. This is partially mitigated by savings due to staff turnover and vacancies.
Additional costs are also being incurred for Service Users transferred to community settings from long stays in hospitals under the Transforming 
Care programme.

In House Provider Services:-  In-year savings resulting from staff turnover and vacancies

Management :- In-year savings resulting from staff turnover and vacancies

Governance Business Support & Home Improvement Agency :-  In-year savings resulting from staff turnover and vacancies

Boroughwide Services:- Pressure from the number and costs of care packages, exceeding the available budget, including the effect of 
purchasing an additional day of care as 2019/20 is a leap year. This is partially mitigated by savings due to staff turnover and vacancies

Page 24



REVENUE FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT STATEMENT
AS AT END OF NOVEMBER 2019

Service: CHILDREN'S DIRECTORATE
Overall Risk Rating:                    HIGH

Table 1. Financial Management Forecast

Area of Service

Major Risk Area 
RAG rating

Budget 
Fixing 

Council

Current 
Approved 

Expenditure 
Budget

Current Approved 
Income Budget

Current 
Approved       

Net              
Budget

Forecast 
Spend 

2019/20

Variation - 
Forecast 
spend to 
Current 
Budget

Change 
from 

Previous 
Report

 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000
CONTROLLABLE BUDGETS

First Response RED 1,741 2,164 0 2,164 2,164 0 0
Cared for Children RED 22,149 24,363 (977) 23,386 26,337 (2,951) 149
Safeguarding Children Unit AMBER 781 1,188 (212) 976 976 0 0
Youth Offending Team AMBER 220 1,847 (969) 878 878 0 0
Child Protection & Care Proceedings RED 2,077 2,103 0 2,103 2,103 0 0
Advice and Screening RED 330 622 (241) 381 381 0 0
Practice Improvement GREEN 2,078 2,298 (379) 1,919 1,919 0 0
Sure Start GREEN 3,460 21,254 (17,512) 3,742 3,706 36 36
School Support GREEN 1,460 29,305 (27,868) 1,437 1,331 106 106
Special Educational Needs and Disability AMBER 5,583 22,205 (16,062) 6,143 10,435 (4,292) (685)
Youth Service GREEN 45 1,378 (1,117) 261 137 124 124
Management and Administration GREEN (120) 2,794 (1,519) 1,275 1,275 0 0
Funding Allocated to Schools GREEN 0 195,668 (195,656) 12 12 0 0
Early Help GREEN 405 1,433 (1,342) 91 91 0 0
SUB TOTAL 40,209 308,622 (263,854) 44,768 51,745 (6,977) (270)
Contribution from Pooled Budget (36,698) 0 (41,292) (41,292) (41,292) 0 0
Transfer from DSG Reserve 0 3,607 0 4,030 0 4,030 423
REVISED SUB TOTAL 3,511 312,229 (305,146) 7,506 10,453 (2,947) 153

 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000
UNCONTROLLABLE

Service, Corporate and Support Service 
Charges

GREEN 21,585 23,268 (4,219) 19,049 19,049 0 0

SUB TOTAL 21,585 23,268 (4,219) 19,049 19,049 0 0

Brief Explanation of Major Variances £'000

(2,951)

36

106

(4,292)

124

4,030

(2,947)

Transfer from DSG Reserve:- 

Children's Services are currently forecasting a pressure of £6.977m.

£2.951m is attributable to external residential placements, with the 2018/19 growth in cared for children continuing to be cared for in 2019/20. Throughout the 
first three quarters of 2019/20 there has been a small steady reduction in the number of cared for children, from 1st April - 16th December 2019 this equates to 
a net reduction of 33 cared for children.

There is a significant pressure of £4.292m within High Needs, £0.262m is the pressure on Council funded areas and the remaining £4.030m is related to the 
pressure on the Dedicated School Grant (DSG). The pressures are in relation to a continued rise in numbers of children with education health care plans and 
children requiring SEND support. The growth in numbers is not unique to Rochdale, this is a national trend with the majority of Local Authorities now facing 
pressures on their High Needs DSG.

Financial Management Update

Youth Service:- Savings in relation to vacant posts.

Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND):- Dedicated School Grant pressure on the High needs block of £4.030m, this is attributable to a 
continued rise in numbers of children with an Education Health Care Plan (EHCP) and projected growth for the 2019/20 academic year. 

Sure Start:- Salary underspends in relation to a vacant post.

School Support:- Overachievement of income on Personnel and Governors Service relating to vacant posts and surplus income achieved from 
additional meetings.

TOTAL

Cared for Children:- The pressure is due to a continued reliance on high cost external residential placements.

Page 25



REVENUE FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT STATEMENT
AS AT END OF NOVEMBER 2019

Service: ECONOMY DIRECTORATE
Overall Risk Rating: MEDIUM

Table 1. Financial Management Forecast

Area of Service

Major Risk 
Area RAG 

rating

Budget 
Fixing 

Council

Current 
Approved 

Expenditure 
Budget

Current 
Approved 
Income 
Budget

Current 
Approved       

Net              
Budget

Forecast 
Spend 

2019/20

Variation - 
Forecast 
spend to 
Current 
Budget

Change 
from 

Previous 
Report

 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000
CONTROLLABLE BUDGETS

Planning and Building Control RED 537 3,068 (2,350) 718 718 0 0
Passenger Transport Levy GREEN 15,281 14,746 0 14,746 14,746 0 0
Economic Development GREEN 1,074 2,106 (964) 1,142 1,187 (45) (45)
Properties GREEN 9 2,390 (2,379) 11 168 (157) (57)
Asset Rationalisation RED (18) 17 0 17 17 0 35
Property Growth Fund AMBER (1,471) 1,871 (3,308) (1,437) (1,437) 0 0
SUB TOTAL 15,412 24,198 (9,001) 15,197 15,399 (202) (67)

 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000
UNCONTROLLABLE

Service, Corporate and Support Service 
Charges

GREEN 581 1,669 (914) 755 755 0 0

SUB TOTAL 581 1,669 (914) 755 755 0 0

TOTAL SERVICE BUDGET 15,993 25,867.00 (9,915) 15,952 16,154 (202) (67)

Brief Explanation of Major Variances £'000

(45)

(157)

(202)

Financial Management Update
The Economy Directorate is reporting an in-year pressure of £0.202m, this includes income pressures within Economic Development. There 
are pressures in relation to Industrial Estates as a result of underachieved savings and rental income.   Budget pressures funding of £0.050m 
has been requested for the underachieved savings. A new project team has been established to review the Commercial & Industrial Estate 
area with a view to increasing income levels. Due to the issues that have been identified in 2019/20, the team are currently unable to 
increase the income during this financial year, therefore, one year only budget pressures funding of £0.080m has been requested to allow time 
for these issues to be resolved.

TOTAL

Economic Development :- In-year income pressures within Economic Development.

Properties :- Pressures within Industrial Estates as a result of underachieved savings and rental income.  Two budget pressure 
requests have been made at Period 8.

Page 26



REVENUE FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT STATEMENT
AS AT END OF NOVEMBER 2019

Service: NEIGHBOURHOODS DIRECTORATE

Overall Risk Rating:     MEDIUM

Table 1. Financial Management Forecast

Area of Service

Major Risk 
Area RAG 

rating

Budget 
Fixing 

Council

Current 
Approved 

Expenditure 
Budget

Current 
Approved 

Income Budget

Current 
Approved       

Net              
Budget

Forecast 
Spend 

2019/20

Variation - 
Forecast 
spend to 
Current 
Budget

Change from 
Previous 
Report

 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000
CONTROLLABLE BUDGETS

Dippy Project 244 244 0 244 244 0 0
Waste Disposal Levy RED 15,945 15,875 0 15,875 15,875 0 0
Facilities Management RED 2,065 10,556 (7,933) 2,623 2,623 0 50
Environmental Management GREEN 10,954 18,133 (6,865) 11,268 11,268 0 0
ICT Service  AMBER 4,098 6,191 (1,681) 4,510 4,510 0 0
Coroners RED 693 2,527 (1,902) 625 625 0 0
Community & Townships AMBER 3,479 6,198 (2,176) 4,022 3,947 75 0
Public Protection AMBER 622 1,931 (1,252) 679 614 65 65
Policy, Perform & Improvement GREEN 272 287 0 287 287 0 0
Communications & Digital Services Team GREEN 531 583 (15) 568 568 0 0
Customer Access RED 1,614 1,704 (71) 1,633 1,633 0 0
Strategic Housing RED 2,306 3,742 (996) 2,746 3,113 (367) (92)
AGMA Contributions GREEN 627 656 (29) 627 627 0 0
Place Based GREEN 1 456 (30) 426 426 0 0
Highways and Engineering RED 3,245 6,259 (2,718) 3,541 3,481 60 60
Property Services RED 313 2,978 (2,590) 388 428 (40) (40)
Street Lighting RED 3,545 6,298 (2,455) 3,843 3,843 0 0
SUB TOTAL 50,554 84,618 (30,713) 53,905 54,112 (207) 43

 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000
UNCONTROLLABLE

Service, Corporate and Support Service 
Charges

GREEN 2,104 18,911 (17,630) 1,281 1,281 0 0

SUB TOTAL 2,104 18,911 (17,630) 1,281 1,281 0 0

TOTAL SERVICE BUDGET 52,658 103,529 (48,343) 55,186 55,393 (207) 43

Brief Explanation of Major Variances £'000
75
65

(367)

60

(40)
(207)

Financial Management Update

Public Protection:- This underspend is in respect of increased income generation.

Strategic Housing :- Pressure in respect of housing benefit and homelessness costs which are not fully covered by Government 
subsidy. The Service are looking to mitigate this pressure however, Corporate funding has been earmarked to address any 
shortfall.
Highways & Engineering:-  There is a reactive maintenance pressure of £137k.  This is mitigated by increased charges to 
schemes of £103k and enforcement income of £92k.
Property Services:- There is an income pressure of £125k partly mitigated by increased charges to schemes of £85k.

The Neighbourhoods Directorate is reporting a forecast in-year pressure of £0.207m.  This mainly reflects pressures on the Strategic Housing 
budget due to homelessness costs which are not fully covered by the Government subsidy. The Service are looking to address this issue, 
however, Corporate funding has been earmarked to offset the pressure if necessary.

TOTAL

Community & Townships:-   In-year saving due to vacant posts and additional income on Registrars

Page 27



REVENUE FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT STATEMENT
AS AT END OF NOVEMBER 2019

Service: PUBLIC HEALTH AND WELLBEING DIRECTORATE
Overall Risk Rating:                                   LOW

Table 1. Financial Management Forecast

Area of Service

Major Risk 
Area RAG 

rating

Budget 
Fixing 

Council

Current 
Approved 

Expenditure 
Budget

Current 
Approved 
Income 
Budget

Current 
Approved       

Net              
Budget

Forecast 
Spend 

2019/20

Variation - 
Forecast spend 

to Current 
Budget

Change 
from 

Previous 
Report

 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000
CONTROLLABLE BUDGETS

Sexual Health GREEN 1,681 3,601 (1,976) 1,625 1,625 0 0
NHS Health Checks GREEN 262 262 0 262 262 0 0
Public Health Advice GREEN 69 29 0 29 29 0 0
Obesity and Physical Activity GREEN 581 606 0 606 606 0 0
Substance Misuse GREEN 2,851 3,151 (156) 2,995 2,995 0 0
Smoking and Tobacco GREEN 34 34 0 34 34 0 0
Children 0-19 Public Health Programme GREEN 6,539 6,539 0 6,539 6,539 0 0
Mental Health and Wellbeing GREEN 40 41 0 41 41 0 0
Other Public Health Commissioning GREEN 3,175 3,076 0 3,076 3,076 0 0
Health Protection GREEN 290 292 0 292 292 0 0
Public Health Staffing and Non Staffing GREEN 1,230 1,402 (1) 1,401 1,401 0 0
Client Services - Link4Life GREEN 2,595 3,114 (498) 2,616 2,616 0 0
SUB TOTAL 19,347 22,147 (2,631) 19,516 19,516 0 0
Contribution from Pooled Budget (12,983) 0 (12,988) (12,988) (12,988) 0 0
REVISED SUB TOTAL 6,364 22,147 (15,619) 6,528 6,528 0 0

 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000
UNCONTROLLABLE

Service, Corporate and Support Service 
Charges

GREEN 1,841 1,889 0 1,889 1,889 0 0

SUB TOTAL 1,841 1,889 0 1,889 1,889 0 0

TOTAL SERVICE BUDGET 8,205 24,036 (15,619) 8,417 8,417 0 0

Page 28



REVENUE FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT STATEMENT
AS AT END OF NOVEMBER 2019

Service: RESOURCES DIRECTORATE

Overall Risk Rating: LOW

Table 1. Financial Management Forecast

Area of Service

Major Risk 
Area RAG 

rating

Budget 
Fixing 

Council

Current 
Approved 

Expenditure 
Budget

Current 
Approved 
Income 
Budget

Current 
Approved       

Net              
Budget

Forecast 
Spend 

2019/20

Variation - 
Forecast 
spend to 
Current 
Budget

Change 
from 

Previous 
Report

 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000
CONTROLLABLE BUDGETS

Finance Services AMBER 2,040 2,251 (344) 1,907 1,899 8 (12)
Other Managed Budgets GREEN 2,274 3,091 (374) 2,717 2,253 464 74
Revenues & Benefits RED 555 65,644 (64,577) 1,067 1,047 20 6
Legal Services RED 1,623 2,149 (458) 1,691 1,915 (224) 16
Human Resources AMBER 1,435 2,354 (640) 1,714 1,691 23 (11)
Internal Audit GREEN 635 646 (40) 606 578 28 (2)
Governance AMBER 1,836 2,643 (724) 1,919 1,915 4 (4)
SUB TOTAL 10,398 78,778 (67,157) 11,621 11,298 323 67

 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000
UNCONTROLLABLE

Service, Corporate and Support Service 
Charges

GREEN (2,176) 8,589 (12,281) (3,692) (3,692) 0 0

SUB TOTAL (2,176) 8,589 (12,281) (3,692) (3,692) 0 0

TOTAL SERVICE BUDGET 8,222 87,367 (79,438) 7,929 7,606 323 67

Brief Explanation of Major Variances £'000
8

464

20

(224)

23
Internal Audit:-  In-year savings mainly due to staffing. 28

4
323

Financial Management Update

Governance:-   In-year savings mainly due to staffing.

Other Managed Budgets:-  In-year savings as a result of vacant posts at Leadership and Head of Service level, plus other 
temporary arrangements and one-off savings in 2019/20.

Revenues and Benefits:-  In-year savings mainly due to staffing.

Legal Services:- Pressure within the Shared Legal Service with Manchester City Council, which is a result of increased Care 
Applications over and above the usually anticipated level.  This pressure links to the growth in Children in Care, and once work 
has been completed with colleagues at Manchester City Council to fully understand this pressure, a request for Corporate 
funding will be made.

TOTAL

Human Resources:- In-year savings mainly due to staffing.

Finance Services:- In-year savings mainly due to staffing.

The service is reporting an in-year saving of £0.323m which includes a pressure within the Legal Shared Service with Manchester City 
Council, caused by increased Care Applications over and above the anticipated level. This pressure is being mitigated in 2019/20 by savings 
from staffing costs within the Directorate overall.

Page 29



APPENDIX C – SAVINGS

SAVINGS FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT STATEMENT
AS AT END OF NOVEMBER 2019

Table 1. 2019/20 Saving Proposals approved at Budget Council
Savings 

Reference
Service Savings Target Achieved On-Target Mitigating 

Actions
Balance to 
Address

 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000

NH-2019-20-22 Neighbourhoods (100) (100) 0 0 0

NH-2019-20-24 Neighbourhoods (35) (30) 0 (5) 0

(135) (130) 0 (5) 0
0

(135) (130) 0 (5) 0

Review of the budget for the provision of social and welfare advice and legal services

Sub Total Neighbourhoods

Grant Funded Community Centres

Update on achievement of savings, which have not been achieved or have been mitigated
Citizen Advice Bureau contract has been successfully reduced by £30k, the remaining £5k has been mitigated elsewhere within Neighbourhoods.

Total

Nature of Saving

P
age 30



APPENDIX D – CORPORATE DEBT

Table 1. Fees and Charges outstanding
 30-Sep-19 30-Nov-19 Movement
Age of Debt £m £m £m
2019/20 7.302 4.124 (3.178)

 
2018/19 1.388 1.237 (0.151)
2017/18 0.455 0.410 (0.045)
2016/17 0.253 0.252 (0.001)
2015/16 0.056 0.057 0.001
2014/15 0.075 0.075 0.000
2013/14 and prior years 0.082 0.078 (0.004)
Subtotal from previous years 2.309 2.109 (0.200)

 
Total 9.611 6.233 (3.378)
Table 2. Housing Benefit overpayments outstanding
 30-Sep-19 30-Nov-19 Movement
Age of Debt £m £m £m
2019/20 0.691 0.905 0.214

 

2018/19 0.858 0.813 (0.045)
2017/18 1.035 0.989 (0.046)
2016/17 0.635 0.609 (0.026)
2015/16 0.848 0.816 (0.032)
2014/15 0.373 0.359 (0.014)
2013/14 and prior years 0.739 0.691 (0.048)
Subtotal from previous years 4.488 4.277 (0.211)

Total 5.179 5.182 0.003
Grand Total 14.790 11.415 (3.375)

Fees and Charges Overview
The volume of fees and charges being raised has increased significantly in 2019/20 due to 
the number of Adult Care invoices being raised for residential care debt. Invoices are issued 
every 4 weeks in arrears and this has created a significant amount of customer contact 
from the person receiving care or their carer. As at the end of November, £6.019m worth of 
debt has been raised for Adult Care residential debt, of which £5.549m has been recovered 
to date.

Housing Benefit Overpayment Overview
£2.544m of the outstanding debt is currently being recovered by reducing ongoing Housing 
Benefit payments. As more claimants transfer to Universal Credit, this amount will continue 
to fall as recovery is by other means. Housing Benefit has to stop as Universal Credit starts 
and an invoice issued to the customer. The Council can request that the Department for 
Work and Pensions recover from some ongoing Universal Credit cases.

Page 31



APPENDIX E – SERVICES CAPITAL

CAPITAL FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT STATEMENT
AS AT END OF NOVEMBER 2019

Service: ADULT CARE DIRECTORATE 

Table 1. Capital Programme Requirement A B C = A + B D E = C - D F G H = C + F + G
2019/20

Programme
Base & 

Rephasing

Current Year
Movements

Current Year
Total Budget

Forecast 
Spend 

2019/20

Variation 2020/21
Capital 

Programme

2021/22
Capital 

Programme

Total Total Scheme 
Spend to Date

Including 
Current Year 

Forecast

Total 
Scheme 
Budget

 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000
293 0 293 293 0 0 0 293 497 497

2,851 0 2,851 2,851 0 2,440 2,440 7,731
3,144 0 3,144 3,144 0 2,440 2,440 8,024 497 497

Financial Management Update 

No variance to the programme is currently forecast.

TOTAL
Annual allocation

Capital Scheme

Better Care Fund
Disabled Facilities Grant

P
age 32



CAPITAL FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT STATEMENT
AS AT END OF NOVEMBER 2019

Service: CHILDREN'S DIRECTORATE

Table 1. Capital Programme Requirement A B C = A + B D E = C - D F G H = C + F + G
2019/20

Programme
Base & 

Rephasing

Current Year
Movements

Current Year
Total Budget

Forecast 
Spend 

2019/20

Variation 2020/21
Capital 

Programme

2021/22
Capital 

Programme

Total Total Scheme 
Spend to Date

Including 
Current Year 

Forecast

Total 
Scheme 
Budget

 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000
247 (222) 25 0 25 222 0 247 953 1,200

1,629 8 1,637 1,637 0 483 483 2,603
19 0 19 19 0 0 0 19 516 516

18,663 3,297 21,960 7,293 14,667 18,005 5,200 45,165
28 0 28 28 0 0 0 28 1,301 1,301

4,584 (1,303) 3,281 3,281 0 2,833 1,833 7,947
85 0 85 85 0 0 0 85 85 85

205 0 205 205 0 0 0 205 205 205
25,460 1,780 27,240 12,548 14,692 21,543 7,516 56,299 3,060 3,307

Variation
2090/20 

Programme
2020/21 

Programme

2021/22
Onwards

Programme
 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000

25 (25) 25
14,667 (14,667) 14,667

14,692 (14,692) 14,692 0

Brief Explanation of Major Variances £'000

25

14,667

TOTAL 14,692

New Place Planning External Rephase Request

Explanation of Variance

Aiming High For Disabled Child External

Table 2. Programme Changes Requested in Report

Capital Scheme

Rephase Request

Devolved Formula Capital

TOTAL

Funding
Source

Capital Scheme

New Place Planning
Schools Access

Special Provision Capital Fund
Healthy Pupils Capital Fund
Schools Cap Condition Programme

Early Years Capital Grant

Aiming High For Disabled Child

Financial Management Update

There is a total of £14.692m requested to be rephased. £14.667m of the New Place Planning Programme is to be rephased into 2020/21.  On Short Breaks £0.025m is 
requested to be rephased, the budget to be used for the adaptation of a property for Short Breaks for disabled children.  

Aiming High For Disabled Child:- This is one specific project for the adaptation of a property to be utilised for Short Breaks. This project has now 
been delayed and won't commence until 2020/21

New Place Planning:- The building schemes to increase the number of pupil places at Lowerplace, Harwood Park, Castleton, St John's and 
secondary schools will be completed in the next financial year. 

TOTAL

Annual Allocation

Annual Allocation

Annual Allocation

P
age 33



CAPITAL FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT STATEMENT
AS AT END OF NOVEMBER 2019

Service: ECONOMY DIRECTORATE

Table 1. Capital Programme Requirement A B C = A + B D E = C - D F G H = C + F + G
2019/20

Programme
Base & 

Rephasing

Current Year
Movements

Current Year
Total Budget

Forecast 
Spend 

2019/20

Variation 2020/21
Capital 

Programme

2021/22
Capital 

Programme

Total Total Scheme 
Spend to Date

Including 
Current Year 

Forecast

Total 
Scheme 
Budget

 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000
Definitive ROW Improvement 55 0 55 55 0 0 0 55 115 115
P & R Capital Schemes 8 0 8 8 0 0 0 8 220 220
Town Centre Schemes 11,997 (7,236) 4,761 4,323 438 10,675 9,870 25,306 19,389 39,934
River Roch Flood Storage 4,757 (4,157) 600 600 0 5,757 1,600 7,957 793 8,150
Rochdale Gateways 57 0 57 57 0 0 0 57 60 60
Stakehill Industrial Estate 97 0 97 97 0 0 0 97 143 143
Asset Development Fund 2,921 0 2,921 2,921 0 0 0 2,921 4,000 4,000
Property Growth Fund 44,286 0 44,286 44,286 0 10,000 0 54,286 80,000 90,000
East Lancashire Railway 644 0 644 544 100 50 0 694 800 850
Lower Falinge 9 0 9 9 0 0 0 9 45 45

3,000 (2,700) 300 300 0 2,500 0 2,800 300 2,800
200 200 400 400 0 200 0 600 700 900
600 (500) 100 100 0 500 0 600 100 600
50 0 50 25 25 0 0 50 50 50
50 0 50 0 50 0 0 50 50 50
50 0 50 50 0 50 0 100 50 100
0 22 22 22 0 0 0 22 22 22

68,781 (14,371) 54,410 53,797 613 29,732 11,470 95,612 107,745 148,947

Variation
2019/20 

Programme
2020/21 

Programme

2021/22
Onwards

Programme
 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000

Town Centre Schemes 438 (438) 438
East Lancashire Railway 100 (100) 100

25 (25) 25
50 (50) 50

613 (613) 613 0

Mixed
Borrowing

Pennine Holl Lake Feasibility
Springfield Park Master Plan

Rephase Request
Rephase Request
Rephase Request
Rephase Request

RCCO
RCCO

Capital Scheme

Northern Gateway Feasibility & Study

TOTAL

Table 2. Programme Changes Requested in Report

Capital Scheme

Funding
Source

Explanation of Variance

Heywood South/Junction 19
Railway Strategy Park & Ride

Pennine Holl Lake Feasibility
Springfield Park Master Plan
Metrolink Feasibility
Birch Fountain & Horse Trough-Middleton

TOTAL

P
age 34



Brief Explanation of Major Variances £'000

TOTAL

Springfield Park Master Plan: Scheme suspended for 2019/20 while planned to commence in 2020/21.

East Lancashire Railway: There has been a delay to the progress of this scheme due to the retirement of a Senior Officer.  This post has now been 
recruited to and work will continue into 2020/21.

25

50

Pennine Holl Lake Feasibility: Work on this scheme commenced later than anticipated and therefore will continue into 2020/21.

438

613

Financial Management Update

The Directorate has made a number of rephasing requests to cover works now expected to take place in 2020/21. 

Town Centre schemes span multiple years and require budgets to reflect this as programmes develop. A request is made to rephase £0.438m into 2020/21. 
East Lancashire Railway scheme has identified rephasing of £0.100m into 2020/21, as work continues.
Pennine Hollingworth Lake Feasibility study will continue in to 2020/21 and has identified rephasing of £0.025m.
Springfield Park Masterplan has been suspended for 2019/20 but is planned to continue in 2020/21 when other key factors are confirmed.

100

Town Centre Schemes -  Various delays to Town Centre Schemes - for full details see Town Centre Capital Proforma.

P
age 35



CAPITAL FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT STATEMENT
AS AT END OF NOVEMBER 2019

Service: TOWN CENTRE SCHEMES

Table 1. Capital Programme Requirement A B C = A + B D E = C - D F G H = C + F + G
2019/20

Programme
Base & 

Rephasing

Current Year
Movements

Current Year
Total Budget

Forecast 
Spend 

2019/20

Variation 2020/21
Capital 

Programme

2021/22
Capital 

Programme

Total Total Scheme 
Spend to Date

Including 
Current Year 

Forecast

Total 
Scheme 
Budget

 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000

121 125 246 246 0 0 0 246 1,935 1,935
80 (47) 33 33 0 0 0 33 155 155

658 (200) 458 458 0 200 0 658 9,399 9,599
1,168 (176) 992 862 130 3,200 0 4,192 2,334 5,534

303 0 303 303 0 0 0 303 1,855 1,855
3,838 (3,500) 338 338 0 0 3,500 3,838 500 4,000

559 (200) 359 359 0 450 150 959 921 1,521
615 0 615 317 298 0 0 615 806 806

1,715 (800) 915 915 0 1,100 0 2,015 983 2,083
25 0 25 15 10 25 0 50 25 50
25 0 25 25 0 0 0 25 25 25
25 0 25 25 0 0 0 25 25 25

500 (250) 250 250 0 1,250 1,000 2,500 250 2,500
1,005 (1,005) 0 0 0 1,250 0 1,250 0 1,250

50 0 50 50 0 500 2,000 2,550 50 2,550
1,060 (1,060) 0 0 0 2,030 2,970 5,000 0 5,000

250 (123) 127 127 0 670 250 1,047 127 1,047
11,997 (7,236) 4,761 4,323 438 10,675 9,870 25,306 19,389 39,934

Variation
2019/20 

Programme
2020/21 

Programme

2021/22
Onwards

Programme
 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000

130 (130) 130
298 (298) 298
10 (10) 10

438 (438) 438 0

Town Hall Square PH2
Drake Street Phase 2
Town Centre Schemes 2016/17
Rochdale Town Centre 3 Year Strategy

Table 2. Programme Changes Requested in Report

TOTAL

Capital Scheme

Funding
Source

Station Car Parking
Town Centre East Feasibility
Town Hall Adaptation and Restoration

Capital Scheme

Middleton Town Centre Phase 3

Rochdale Market

Hopwood Hall Refurbishment
Middleton Masterplan
Heywood Masterplan
Town Centre Residential Strategy
Town Centre Purchases
Rochdale Riverside Phase 2
Town Centre Capital Programme
Milkstone Road Master Plan

Explanation of Variance

Borrowing Rephase Request

Hopwood Hall Refurbishment
Town Centre Schemes 2016/17 Borrowing Rephase Request

TOTAL

Town Hall Adaptation and Restoration

Rephase RequestRCCO

P
age 36



Brief Explanation of Major Variances £'000
130

298

10

438

Town Centre schemes span multiple years and require budgets to reflect this as programmes develop.
A request is made to rephase £0.438m into 2020/21.

Hopwood Hall Refurbishment: There has been a focus on the emergency works programme, however, issues with access to the site have caused a delay.

Financial Management Update

TOTAL

Town Centre Schemes 2016/17: Delay with Fire Station Museum 1st Floor.  A formal contract has now been issued and work will commence in January 2020.

Town Hall Adaptation and Restoration: Delays due to additional surveys being required, therefore, work will be completed in 2020/21.

P
age 37



CAPITAL FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT STATEMENT
AS AT END OF NOVEMBER 2019

Service: NEIGHBOURHOODS DIRECTORATE

Table 1. Capital Programme Requirement A B C = A + B D E = C - D F G H = C + F + G
2019/20

Programme
Base & 

Rephasing

Current Year
Movements

Current Year
Total Budget

Forecast 
Spend

2019/20

Variation 2020/21
Capital 

Programme

2021/22
Capital 

Programme

Total Total Scheme 
Spend to Date

Including 
Current Year 

Forecast

Total 
Scheme 
Budget

 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000
11 0 11 11 0 0 0 11 80 80

279 0 279 279 0 260 260 799
296 354 650 650 0 0 0 650
524 0 524 524 0 500 500 1,524

1,143 (354) 789 789 0 0 0 789 789 789
551 (185) 366 366 0 400 400 1,166
882 0 882 882 0 800 800 2,482 10,954 12,554
74 0 74 74 0 0 0 74 5,203 5,203
33 (33) 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,387 1,387

602 (417) 185 59 126 450 0 635 2,464 3,040
199 (89) 110 110 0 120 120 350
80 0 80 80 0 0 0 80

188 0 188 38 150 80 80 348 (60) 250
1,293 49 1,513 553 960 61 0 1,574

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
151 47 198 198 0 0 0 198
159 89 248 248 0 75 75 398

3,182 0 3,182 3,082 100 877 877 4,936
358 0 358 358 0 360 360 1,078
571 (521) 50 0 50 521 0 571 728 1,299

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 108 108
2,341 20 2,361 2,361 0 2,480 1,750 6,591
2,067 0 2,067 2,067 0 1,967 1,967 6,001

413 99 512 512 0 0 0 512
100 0 100 100 0 100 100 300

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 23 23
685 0 685 685 0 0 0 685 779 779

1,177 0 1,177 1,177 0 0 0 1,177 1,181 1,181
878 0 878 878 0 0 0 878 6,016 6,016
705 0 705 705 0 0 0 705 1,158 1,158

0 0 0 56 (56) 0 0 0 1,216 1,160
43 0 43 43 0 0 0 43 51 51

1,538 0 1,538 1,538 0 1,200 0 2,738 2,610 3,810
130 0 130 130 0 0 0 130 150 150
199 0 199 199 0 0 0 199 240 240

6 (6) 0 0 0 6 0 6 0 6
25 0 25 25 0 0 0 25 25 25
50 0 50 50 0 58 65 173 50 173

2,000 0 2,000 2,000 0 1,000 1,000 4,000 2,000 4,000
856 0 856 330 526 468 150 1,474 330 1,474
172 (172) 0 0 0 172 0 172 0 172
50 0 50 50 0 50 0 100 50 100

3,844 567 4,411 6,544 (2,133) 3,629 0 8,040 10,504 12,000
928 0 928 60 868 522 0 1,450 60 1,450

29,384 (1,153) 28,402 27,811 591 16,156 8,504 53,062 52,841 63,423

Annual Allocation

Highway Investment Programme

Housing Standards Fund

Dippy Exhibition Equipment
Allotments 2017-18 Manifesto Funding
Accelerated Housing
Customer Transformation Programme
CCTV Upgrade

Developer Contributions Highways s106

Town Centre Signage

Bowlee Free School

Capital Scheme

Property Transfers From Townships

Travellers Authorised Stopping Site
Car Parking Machines
Cashless System School Catering

Waste Bin Replacement Programme
Waste Services Investment

New Cemetery Sites
Replacement Parks/Street Machinery
Rights Of Way
Rochdale Cemetery Lodge Repair
Section 106 - Environmental Management
Transfers From AMG

Vehicle Replacement Programme

Additional Highways Funding

Compulsory Purchase Order Programme

Armed Forces
ICT Infrastructure Refresh Programme

ICT Programmes (Staff)
Windows 10
Townships Capital Programme

Local Transport Plan

Annual Allocation

Annual Allocation

Annual Allocation

Annual Allocation

Annual Allocation
Annual Allocation

Annual Allocation

J19 Feasibility

Woodland Improvement
Asset Management Group

Townships Capital - Highways
Burglary Reduction Scheme
Non AMG
Energy Efficiency Schemes
Coroners Service accommodation

Annual Allocation
Annual Allocation

Annual Allocation

Annual Allocation

Annual Allocation

Townships Capital - Environmental Management
Upgrade Play Equipment

Annual Allocation

Annual Allocation

TOTAL

Kirkholt Investment
Mercury Abatement Scheme

ICT Data Centre

P
age 38



Brief Explanation of Major Variances £'000

TOTAL

Highway Investment Programme - Programme has been progressing well and is ahead of programme. Budget requested to be rephased back to cover this 
over spend.

Bowlee Free School - Scheme now with Department for Education for their approval, once this is approved the main work will start which is forecast to be in 
the new financial year. 

Developer Contributions Highways s106 - Transfer s106 monies to fund Highway scheme.

868

Customer Transformation Programme - A request is made to rephase the budget into 2020/21 as there are delays to the project. 526
(2,133)

591

Financial Management Update

Approval to rephase £2.724m of the Neighbourhoods Capital Programme has been requested to allow schemes to be completed in 2020/21.  The rephase request relates to the 
Balderstone Park, Stansfield Estate and Boroughwide Sport S106 funded schemes, cemetery memorial sites schemes, the vehicle replacement programme, the Customer 
Transformation Programme and the Bowlee Free School highways scheme.  Approval is also requested to rephase back £2.133m to cover carriageway works which are progressing 
ahead of programme.

(56)

150

50

100Vehicle Replacement Programme - The process to replace a number of fleet vehicles is currently underway.  These vehicles include SEN adapted minibuses, 
tippers, road sweepers and RCVs.  During the procurement process it has been established that, in the current economic climate, manufacturers are no longer 
holding vehicles in stock.  This has extended the time taken to purchase vehicles beyond the normal timeframes and a request is therefore made to rephase 
the budget into 2020/21

Waste Services Investment - DEFRA has recently closed its consultation on consistency in household and business recycling collections.  The results of the 
consultation may change waste collection policies in England.  Any changes should attract additional Government funding so there are no plans to incur further 
expenditure on this scheme.

960Section 106 - Environmental Management - A request is made to rephase budget into 2020/21 to facilitate the completion of the Balderstone Park, 
Stansfield and Boroughwide Sports schemes £904k. Transfer £56k of s106 monies from EM to Highways. Originally Highways scheme, budget created in wrong 
area

Rochdale Cemetery Lodge Repair - A request is made to rephase budget into 2020/21 to facilitate the completion of the memorial hall. 

126New Cemetery Sites - A request is made to rephase budget into 2020/21 to facilitate the completion of works at Denehurst Park and new memorial sites 
within cemeteries.

P
age 39



CAPITAL FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT STATEMENT
AS AT END OF NOVEMBER 2019

Service: RESOURCES DIRECTORATE

Table 1. Capital Programme Requirement A B C = A + B D E = C - D F G H = C + F + G
2019/20

Programme
Base & 

Rephasing

Current Year
Movements

Current Year
Total Budget

Forecast 
Spend

2019/20

Variation 2020/21
Capital 

Programme

2021/22
Capital 

Programme

Total Total 
Scheme 
Spend to 

Date
Including 
Current 
Year 

Forecast

Total 
Scheme 
Budget

 £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  £'000
3,740 0 3,740 3,740 0 1,860 0 5,600 3,740 5,600
5,000 0 5,000 5,000 0 0 0 5,000 5,000 5,000

8,740 0 8,740 8,740 0 1,860 0 10,600 8,740 10,600

Capital Scheme

Manchester Airport
Investment Fund
TOTAL

Financial Management Update

No variance to the Programme is currently forecast.

P
age 40



Adult Care Children's Economy Neighbourhoods Resources Total
Rephasing to future years previously approved - 1,017 14,518 1,123 - 16,658
P8 rephasing requested - 14,692 613 541 - 15,846
Actual Spend to 30th November 2019 1,503 6,863 15,657 14,489 - 38,512
Forecast Further Spend 1,641 5,685 38,140 13,322 8,740 67,528
Capital Budget Reductions - - - 651 - 651
Approved Capital Budget 3,144 28,257 68,928 30,126 8,740 139,195

P
age 41



Page 42



FINANCE SERVICES

Revenue Summary

Finance Update Dashboard P8 2019/20

Revenue Key Movements/Major variances

Adult Care: £1.233m overspend offset by an increased contribution from the Health & Social Care Pooled Budget
- financial pressures from the number and costs of care packages for service users. There is a further pressure from the provision of 
statutory Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards assessments. This pressure will be wholly met by an additional contribution from the Health 
& Social Care pooled budget.
Children’s Services - £6.977m overspend with £4.030m being allocated from the Dedicated Schools Grant Reserve relating to Special 
Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) which includes: 
£2.951m is attributable to external residential placements; 4.030m relates to pressures on the Dedicated School Grant (DSG) within the 
High Needs block. This will put the DSG reserve into a deficit position and will result in a 3 year recovery plan to be submitted to the 
Department for Education.
Financial Control - £4.370m In-Year saving - The forecast in-year saving relates to an expected refund from the Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority and interest savings. The interest savings are due to the borrowing requirement being funded through internal
borrowing with nil cost and the forecast reduction in capital expenditure.
Resources - £0.323m In-Year saving - The service is reporting an in-year saving of £0.323m which includes a pressure within the Legal 
Shared Service with Manchester City Council.  This pressure is being mitigated in 2019/20 by savings from staffing costs within the 
Directorate.  However, a significant amount of the 2019/20 staff savings have either been committed to the 2020/21 Savings 
Programme or are one year only, therefore, a request for Corporate Funding may be required in 2020/21 to manage the pressure within 
Legal Services which is likely to continue, due to the growth in Children in Care.
Integrated Pooled Budget Contribution - £0.823m Overspend - see Health & Social Care Pooled Fund for further details.

Recommendations
Cabinet approves:

Budget Pressures requests of:
Economy £0.050m On-going relating to unachieved savings targets as a result of lost income on disposal of assets within Industrial 
Estates. 
Economy £0.080m One off relating to short term income pressures relating to Commercial & Industrial Estates.
Resources £0.015m on-going to cover increased costs relating to Cyber insurance. 

Capital Budget switch:
Neighbourhoods - £0.056m of 2019/20 budget is requested to be switched from Developer Contributions Highways S106 to Section 106 
Environmental Management as the budget was misallocated. 

Capital Summary
Approved capital rephasing: 
£14.692m Children's: £14.667m New Place Planning at various schools, due to start in 2020/21; £0.025m Aiming High for Disabled Children- delays re adaptation of a property

£0.613m Economy: £0.438m Town Centre Schemes due to various delays in schemes, £0.100m East Lancashire Railway due to delays in recruitment, £0.025m Pennine Hollingworth Lake Feasibility 
due to delays, £0.050m Springfield Park Master Plan as the scheme has been suspended in 2019/20, to continue in 2020/21.

£0.541m Neighbourhoods Service: £0.904m Section 106 Environmental Management to facilitate the completion of Balderstone Park, Stansfield and Boroughwide Sports schemes,
£0.868m Bowlee Free School as this is with the Department for Education for approval, works are not expected to commence until 2020/21.,£0.526m Customer Transformation Programme due to 
delays in the project, £0.150m Rochdale Cemetery Lodge Repair to facilitate the completion of the memorial hall in 2020/21, £0.126m for New Cemetery Sites to facilitate the completion of works at 
Denehurst Park and new memorial sites within cemeteries, £0.100m Vehicle Replacement Programme due to vehicles not being available in 2019/20, (£2.133m) budget rephase reversal on the 
Highways Investment Programme as the scheme has been progressing well and is ahead of previously anticipated progress.

Health & Social Care Pooled Fund
The Council and the CCG have made the additional contributions approved 
at December Cabinet. The remaining balance reported is a £0.823m 
pressure. The Council will contribute an additional £0.823m to support 
delivery of the commissioning functions for 2019/20 with a corresponding 
reduction to the Council’s contribution in 2020/21. The Council will only 
make this contribution if the pooled fund is unable to identify alternative 
sources of funding or savings to bridge the remaining £0.823m pressure in 
2019/20.

There is no period 8 update report to the Integrated Commissioning Board 
relating to the Health & Social Care Pooled Fund. 

Corporate Debt

As the end of November 2019 the total 
outstanding sundry debt is £11.415m, a decrease 
of £3.375m from September 2019.

Directorate/ Detail

Budget 

Council

Virements/

Contingency Current Budget

Service and 

Corporate 

Uncontrollables

Current 

Controllable

Approved 

Net 

Budget

Forecast 

Outturn

In Year 

Saving/

(Overspend)

Previous 

Monitoring 

Report 

(December 

Cabinet)

Movement 

Since 

December 

Cabinet

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) (8) (9) (10)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000

Adult Care 15,415 1,154 16,569 4,046 12,523 12,523 - - -

Children's 21,585 4,970 26,555 19,049 7,506 10,453 (2,947) (3,100) 153

Economy 15,993 (41) 15,952 755 15,197 15,399 (202) (135) (67)

Neighbourhoods 52,413 2,773 55,186 1,281 53,905 54,112 (207) (250) 43

Public Health and Wellbeing 8,206 211 8,417 1,889 6,528 6,528 - - -

Resources 8,222 (293) 7,929 (3,692) 11,621 11,298 323 256 67

TOTAL GENERAL SERVICES SPENDING 121,834 8,774 130,608 23,328 107,280 110,313 (3,033) (3,229) 196

Integrated Pool Budget Contribution 87,159 8,508 95,667 - 95,667 96,490 (823) (6,700) 5,877

TOTAL POOLED BUDGETS 87,159 8,508 95,667 - 95,667 96,490 (823) (6,700) 5,877

Finance Control: Corporately Held Budgets 1,399 (7,056) (5,657) (20,623) 14,966 10,596 4,370 3,987 383

Finance Control: Transformation Fund 4,703 363 5,066 - 5,066 5,066 - - -

Transfer from Equalisation Reserve - (6,700) (6,700) - (6,700) (6,186) (514) - (514)

Dedicated School Grant Reserve - (4,030) (4,030) - (4,030) (4,030) - - -

Finance Control: Budget Pressures 1,126 (459) 667 - 667 667 - - -

TOTAL FINANCE CONTROL SPENDING 7,228 (17,882) (10,654) (20,623) 9,969 6,113 3,856 3,987 (131)

NET EXPENDITURE REQUIREMENTS 216,221 (600) 215,621 2,705 212,916 212,916 0 (5,942) 5,942

P
age 43



Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting 28th January 2020
Portfolio Leader of the Council and 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance

Report Author Stuart Smith (Resources 
Directorate)

Public/Private Document Public

Collection Fund 2019/20

Executive Summary

1. To update Cabinet and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the 
forecast Collection Fund outturn position for 2019/20 as at the end of November 
2019.

The Collection Fund Position for 2019/20 is a forecast surplus of £1.779m, 
comprising:

 £1.103m surplus relating to Business Rates;
 £0.676m surplus relating to Council Tax.

The Council’s share of the forecast 2019/20 Collection Fund outturn surplus is 
£1.668m. 

Recommendation

2. It is recommended that Cabinet notes the forecast 2019/20 Collection Fund 
outturn position.

Reason for Recommendation

3. The Collection Fund forecast outturn report for 2019/20 is presented to Cabinet 
for noting as part of the budget monitoring process.

Page 44

Agenda Item 7



Key Points for Consideration

4.1     Introduction

4.1.1 The Collection Fund Account reflects the statutory requirement for the Council to 
maintain a separate fund in relation to the billing and collection of Business 
Rates and Council Tax. 

4.1.2 This report focuses on the forecast Collection Fund outturn position for 2019/20 
covering:
 The summary position, and the Council’s share of the Collection Fund 

position;
 The Business Rates income position compared to budget, an update 

relating to rateable value appeals, 2019/20 collection performance and 
current level of arrears;

 The Council Tax income position compared to budget, detail of the Local 
Council Tax Support Scheme, 2019/20 collection performance and current 
level of arrears.

4.2       Summary

4.2.1 The forecast Collection Fund Position for 2019/20 is a surplus of £1.779m:
 £1.103m surplus relating to Business Rates;
 £0.676m surplus relating to Council Tax.

4.2.2 Table 1 shows the forecast 2019/20 Collection Fund position, and the allocation 
of the forecast surplus between precepting authorities.

Table 1 – Forecast 2019/20 Collection Fund surplus 

4.2.3 The Council’s share of the forecast 2019/20 Collection Fund surplus is £1.668m.  

4.2.4 In 2019/20 the Council continues to be part of a pilot for the 100% retention of 
Business Rates, along with other Greater Manchester authorities. Under the 
pilot scheme, 100% of Business Rates income is retained locally, of which 99% 
is retained by the local authority, and 1% retained by Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority (GMCA) in respect of GM Fire and Rescue Service.

Page 45



4.2.5 The forecast 2019/20 benefit from the 100% Business Rates Retention scheme 
pilot has been calculated to be £5.474m, based on an agreed formula within 
Greater Manchester. 

50% of the benefit will be paid to GMCA, and the remaining 50% will be retained 
by the Council, and transferred to a reserve.

4.2.6 The Council continues to be part of a Business Rates pool, which for 2019/20 
includes the 10 Greater Manchester local authorities, Cheshire East Council 
and Cheshire West & Chester Council. Any sum gained, after applying the 
agreed allocation to levy authorities, will be retained by the pool for investment 
within Greater Manchester and other non-Greater Manchester Authorities 
involved in the pool.

4.3 Business Rates 

4.3.1 Net Income Raised

4.3.1.1 The forecast 2019/20 outturn position relating to Business Rates is a surplus 
of £1.103m. Table 2 provides detail of the forecast outturn position:

Table 2 – Forecast  2019/20 Business Rates income

Description Budget 2019/20 
Forecast

(Surplus)/ 
Deficit

(Surplus)/Deficit 
movement from 
previous update

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Gross income (84,370) (84,300) 70 (558)
Net Small Business Rate relief 6,936 7,450 514 100
Mandatory Charitable relief 4,051 4,200 149 100
Discretionary relief 2,786 1,844 (942) (43)
Empties & Part Occupied relief 3,700 2,845 (855) (105)
Net Income (66,897) (67,961) (1,064) (506)
Less:     
Charge re bad debt provision 1,000 800 (200) - 
Allowance for cost of collection 276 276 - - 
Provision for rateable value 
revaluations 3,802 3,802 - - 
Renewable Energy schemes 520 613 93 - 
Net yield (61,299) (62,470) (1,171) (506)
2018/19 payments to 
preceptors/billing authority 61,299 61,299 - - 

In year surplus - (1,171) (1,171) (506)
(Surplus)/deficit brought forward 
from 2018/19 (4,113) (4,045) 68 - 
Payments to preceptors/billing 
authority re 2018/19 surplus per the 
2019/20 Budget process 4,113 4,113 - - 
Forecast surplus as at 30/11/2019 - (1,103) (1,103) (506)

Page 46



4.3.1.2 The main areas of overall variance to the budget are:      

Explanation of variance
Variation to 

budget, £'000

Forecast reduced Empty Property and Discretionary Relief given, 
partially offset by forecast reduced Business Rate gross income and 
increased Small Business Rates and Mandatory Charitable reliefs. 
The Gross income forecast has improved due to new hereditaments 
becoming liable for Business Rates.

(1,064)

Forecast reduced charge relating to the bad debt provision. (200)

Forecast increased Renewable Energy scheme income to be 
transferred to the Council's General Fund 93

Actual surplus brought forward from 2018/19 is £68k lower than 
had been forecast as part of the 2019/20 Budget process. 68

2019/20 forecast surplus (1,103)

4.3.2     Valuation Office Agency (VOA) appeals 

4.3.2.1   Since 1st April 2013 local authorities have been responsible for providing for 
potential losses of income for successful appeals against revaluations which 
have taken place in 2005, 2010 and 2017. There are a number of appeals that 
require review by the VOA, mostly dating back to the 2010 rateable value (RV) 
list.

4.3.2.2  The number of property revaluation appeals outstanding at the end of   
              November 2019, relating to Rochdale’s 2005 and 2010 valuation lists, was 85
              cases, with an RV of £15.2m (equating to approximately £7.5m in annual
              Business Rates income). New appeals against the 2010 RV list ceased at the 
              end of September 2017.

4.3.2.3  The table below provides detail of the number of appeals outstanding relating 
to the 2005/2010 RV lists, during 2019/20:

 
Outstanding 

appeals 2005/ 2010 
RV list  

Number of 
appeals 

outstanding

Rateable value 
(RV)

£’000

March 2019 114 21,758

July 2019 94 16,518

September 2019 86 15,231

November 2019 85 15,219

Page 47



4.3.2.4 Business Rates Appeals relating to the 2017 RV list are subject to a three-stage 
appeals process. The new appeals system currently has had little activity. An 
estimated amount has been charged to the Collection Fund to offset future 
reductions in RV that are made by the VOA.

4.3.2.5 A recent Court ruling will mean that Business Rates on cash machines outside 
shops will no longer be chargeable, and refunds will be made. A provision has 
been made for this issue.        

    
4.3.2.6 The level of provision for outstanding appeals and other RV reductions relating 

to 2005, 2010 and 2017 RV lists is £10.9m.

4.3.2.7 The forecast 2019/20 charge to the Collection Fund for RV revaluations is 
£3.802m which reflects the need to offset the potential impact of appeals and 
other rateable value changes relating to the 2017 RV list, and any shortfall in 
provision relating to the 2005 and 2010 lists.

4.3.3    Business rates 2019/20 collection performance 

4.3.3.1 The year to date collection rate for Business Rates income billed in 2019/20 is 
70.3%, which is 1.0% lower than the equivalent 2018/19 performance, but is 
expected to reach the collection rate achieved in 2018/19 by the end of March.  
Collection performance is monitored on a monthly basis to ensure that debt is 
recovered as efficiently and effectively as possible, and so that any trends may 
be highlighted and action taken as necessary. 

4.3.3.2 Table 3 shows the aged debt analysis of Business Rates arrears, excluding legal 
costs, as at the end of March 2019 and end of November 2019. Pre 2019/20 
arrears were £1.275m as at the end of November 2019, which is a net increase 
of £0.079m from the position at end of March 2019 due to prior year adjustments 
made by the VOA.

Table 3 – Business Rates arrears (excluding legal costs) 

Year
Arrears as at 
end March 

2019

Arrears as at 
end November 

2019

Decrease/ 
(increase) in 

debt

 £'000 £'000 £'000
Pre 2019/20 debt    
2018/19 453 702 (249)
2017/18 393 252 141
2016/17 245 199 46
2015/16 79 107 (28)
2014/15 16 13 3
Prior to 2014/15 10 2 8
Total arrears 1,196 1,275 (79)

Page 48



4.3.3.3 The forecast 2019/20 charge to the Collection Fund for bad and doubtful debts 
is £0.800m. In year debt collection is currently expected to reach the collection 
rate achieved in 2018/19 of 98.7%, resulting in a low level of debt to provide for. 
Pre 2019/20 debt is also at a low level.

4.4       Council Tax 

4.4.1    Net Income Raised

4.4.1.1 The forecast 2019/20 outturn position relating to Council Tax is a surplus of 
£0.676m. Table 4 provides details of the forecast outturn position for Council 
Tax.

          Table 4 – 2019/20 Council Tax Income

Description Budget 2019/20 
Forecast

(Surplus)/ 
Deficit

(Surplus)/ 
Deficit 

movement 
from 

previous 
report

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
INCOME     

Income from Council Tax (137,640) (136,750) 890 100
Income from premium on Empty 
Properties (278) (300) (22) 20
Council Tax discounts 13,881 13,800 (81) (40)

Local Council Tax Support Scheme (LCTSS) 18,760 18,000 (760) (150)

Prior year adjustments 165 150 (15) (50)
Total income (105,112) (105,100) 12 (120)
EXPENDITURE     

Charge re bad debt provision 2,628 2,125 (503) 230
Total expenditure 2,628 2,125 (503) 230

Net income to be raised for precept/ 
billing authority after LCTSS awarded (102,484) (102,975) (491) 110

2018/19 payments to Preceptors 102,484 102,484 - - 

In year surplus - (491) (491) 110
(Surplus)/deficit brought forward from 
2018/19 (2,589) (2,774) (185) - 
Payments to preceptors re 2018/19 
surplus as per the 2019/20 Budget 
process 2,589 2,589 - - 

Forecast surplus as at 30/11/19 - (676) (676) 110

Page 49



4.4.1.2 The main areas of overall variance from the budget are:

Explanation of variance
Variation to 

budget, £'000
Forecast reduced Council Tax gross income, partially offset by 
increased income from Empty Property, reduced discounts and 
prior year adjustments. Residential housing developments have not 
been completed as quickly as had been predicted as part of the 
2019/20 budget setting process.

772

Forecast reduced level of Local Council Tax Support discount given (760)

Forecast reduced charge relating to the bad debt provision. (503)

Actual surplus brought forward from 2018/19 is £185k higher than 
had been forecast as part of the 2019/20 Budget process. (185)

2019/20 forecast surplus (676)

4.4.2     Local Council Tax Support Scheme (LCTSS)

4.4.2.1 The award of Local Council Tax Support to a Council Tax payer is deducted 
from Council Tax bills at the start of the financial year as a discount. This 
remains the same unless there is a change of circumstances within the 
household. Local Council Tax Support relief to be given for 2019/20 is forecast 
to be £18.000m which is £0.760m (4.05%) less than budget. 

          Table 5 - LCTSS - Comparison of estimate to forecast outturn as at 
November 2019

 

Estimated 
number of 
claimants

Number of 
claimants per 
actual data at 

end 
November 

2019

Increase/ 
(reduction) in 

claimant 
numbers

% reduction 
in claimants

Working age total 14,093 14,211 118 0.84%
Pension credit age total 8,143 7,542 (601) (7.38%)
Total 22,236 21,753 (483) (2.17%)

 
Estimate  2019/20 

forecast
(Surplus)/deficit 

Variation

% reduction 
in discount 

given
 £'000 £'000 £'000 %
Working age total 10,820 10,687 (133) (1.23%)
Pension credit age total 7,940 7,313 (627) (7.90%)
Total 18,760 18,000 (760) (4.05%)

Page 50



4.4.2.2 Whilst the current number of claimants has reduced by 2.17% compared to 
budget, the reduction in discount given is 4.05%, meaning that the average level 
of support per claimant is lower than that anticipated when the 2019/20 scheme 
was agreed.

4.4.3     Council Tax 2019/20 collection performance

4.4.3.1 The year to date collection rate for Council Tax income billed in 2019/20 is 72%, 
which is 0.1% lower than the 2018/19 equivalent. Collection performance is 
monitored on a monthly basis to ensure that debt is recovered as efficiently and 
effectively as possible, and so that any trends may be highlighted and action 
taken as necessary. 

4.4.3.2 Table 6 shows the age debt analysis of pre 2019/20 Council Tax debt, excluding 
legal costs, as at the end of March 2019 and the end of November 2019. Pre 
2019/20 arrears as at the end of November 2019 were £10.312m, which is a net 
decrease of £3.449m from the end of March 2019 position.

Table 6 – Council Tax arrears, excluding legal costs

Year

Arrears as at 
end March 

2019

Arrears as at 
end 

November 
2019

Decrease in 
debt

 £'000 £'000 £'000
Pre 2019/20 debt    
2018/19 5,179 3,639 1,540
2017/18 2,951 2,361 590
2016/17 2,151 1,679 472
2015/16 1,422 1,076 346
2014/15 968 720 248
Prior to 2014/15 1,090 837 253
Total arrears 13,761 10,312 3,449

4.4.3.3 The forecast 2019/20 charge to revenue for bad and doubtful debts is £2.125m, 
which is £0.503m below the budget. Continuing good debt collection 
performance, and reduced levels of debt write off, has led to the level of 
provision required being reduced.

4.4.4    Council Tax Premium Waivers

4.4.4.1 Residential properties that have been empty for more than two years are, with 
specific exemptions, charged a Council Tax premium of a further 100% of the 
usual charge.  To support the local housing market, the Head of Revenues & 
Benefits, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance, has delegated 
authority to waive part or all of the premium charge in exceptional 
circumstances. In 2019/20 so far, £12,872 of Council Tax Premium income has 
been waived. 

4.5       Alternatives considered

Page 51



Not reporting on financial performance puts at risk the achievement of the 
Authority’s Medium Term Financial Strategy. Effective financial management is 
critical to ensuring that financial resources are received in line with the budget, 
which enables them to be targeted towards the Council’s priorities.

Costs and Budget Summary

5 Financial Implications

5.1    The main body of the report provides a detailed analysis of the forecast 2019/20 
Collection Fund outturn position.

Risk and Policy Implications

6.1    Unresolved appeals against the revaluation assessments for 2005, 2010 and 
2017 cause uncertainty and financial risk for the Business Rates income 
retained by the Council. The situation is monitored on a monthly basis to ensure 
that any changes in the trend for successful appeals are recognised due to the 
future impact on Business Rates income and the impact for the provision for any 
backdated elements. 

6.2 The VOA alters rating assessments if new information comes to light indicating 
that the valuation is inaccurate. These could relate to a demolition, new property 
builds or other physical changes to a property. The number of alterations, 
financial impact and timing of the revaluations are not within the control of the 
Council.

6.3 The future level of collection of both Business Rates and Council Tax debt is a 
potential financial risk. Collection performance is being monitored on a monthly 
basis to ensure that debt is recovered as efficiently and effectively as possible, 
and so that any trends may be highlighted and action taken as necessary.

6.4 There is an on-going risk that issues decided nationally by the VOA could 
potentially impact on Rochdale BC’s Business Rates income.

6.5 There are no significant legal implications arising as a result of this Report but 
it should be noted that debts, which are recoverable, can be enforced by Court 
action in accordance with the Court Procedure Rules.

Consultation

7.   The Leadership Team, the Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance, and 
Shadow Portfolio Holder for Finance have been informed of the forecast 
2019/20 Collection Fund forecast position and its implications for future years. 
The report will be presented to the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
on 11th February 2020.

Page 52



Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. For further information about this 
report or access to any 
background papers contact Stuart 
Smith

No1 Riverside Floor 2

For Further Information Contact: Stuart Smith (Resources Directorate)

, Tel: 01706 924196, 
stuart.smith@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 53



FINANCE SERVICES

Table 1 - Forecast 2019/20 Collection Fund Outturn Summary

Table 2 - Rateable Value detail - November 2019    Chart 1 - Business Rates Relief Chart 2 -  Business Rates income collection Chart 3 - Business Rates arrears 

Chart 4 - Council Tax properties          Chart 5 - Council Tax Relief Chart 6 - Council Tax income collection

Chart 7 - Council Tax arrears

P8, 2019/20 Collection Fund Update Summary

RV Value RV Values

No of 

properties

No of 

properties

£ % %

> £1,999,999 7,210,000 4.2% 2 0.0%

£1,000,000 - £1,999,999 22,595,000 13.2% 15 0.2%

£500,000 - £999,999 12,460,000 7.3% 18 0.2%

£250,000 - £499,999 22,549,000 13.2% 65 0.8%

£100,000 - £249,999 28,814,050 16.8% 188 2.3%

£50,000 - £99,999 19,112,375 11.2% 274 3.3%

£25,000 - £49,999 17,916,725 10.5% 512 6.2%

£12,000 - £24,999 15,708,325 9.2% 935 11.4%

£6,000 - £11,999 14,002,650 8.2% 1,682 20.5%

< £6,000 10,936,281 6.4% 4,524 55.1%

Total 171,304,406 100% 8,215 100%

The forecast Collection Fund outturn for 2019/20 is a surplus of £1.779m, comprising:
£1.103m surplus relating to Business Rates;
£0.676m surplus relating to Council Tax.

The areas of variance to the budget are:
Business Rates :

(£971k) Forecast reduced Empty Property and Discretionary Relief given, partially offset by forecast          
reduced Business Rate gross income and increased Small Business Rates and Mandatory Charitable reliefs.
(£200k) Forecast reduced charge relating to bad debt provision
£68k Actual 2018/19 surplus lower than estimated as part of  2019/20 Estimates process

Council Tax:
(£185k) Actual 2018/19 surplus higher than estimated as part of  2019/20 Budget process
(£503k)  Reduced charge relating to Bad Debt Provision
£12k Forecast income lower than budget, mainly due to reduced gross Council Tax income     largely 

offset by lower levels of Local Council Tax Support given.

The Council’s share of the forecast 2019/20 Collection Fund surplus is £1.668m. 

Total Arrears  outstanding as at November 2019 is approximately £1,275k.

A large proportion of the unsummonsed balance relates to new debt as a result of 
Valuation Office Agency  decisions which have affected prior years. On confirmation of 
these decisions, Revenue & Benefits initiate the debt collection process.

Although £1,112k of debt has been collected during 2019/20, this has been offset by 
refunds and other adjustments.

Total debt outstanding as at the end of March 2018 is approximately £13,761k. 
Arrears at November 2019 is approximately £10,313k.

Forecast Gross Business Rates income £84.300m.

Total Business Rates Relief to be given £16.339m.

Potential risk areas

Business Rates and Council Tax debt collection not meeting target for collection.
Collection performance is monitored on a monthly basis to ensure that debt is recovered as efficiently 
and effectively as possible, and so that action taken as necessary.

Unresolved appeals against the revaluation assessments for 2005, 2010 and 2017 cause uncertainty 
and financial risk for the Business Rates income retained by the Council. There are currently 85 appeals 
with a rateable value of £15.2m outstanding relating to the 2005 and 2010 RV lists. There is little 
information available relating to the 2017 list. 

The VOA alters rating assessments if new information comes to light indicating that the valuation is 
inaccurate. The number of alterations, financial impact and timing of revaluations are not within the 
control of the Council.

Business Rate appeals can be raised against the Rateable Valuation of a 
hereditament.  If the appeal is successful this may lead to adjustments being made 
in prior years.  

Other changes made  by the Valuation Office Agency to the Rateable Value  will 
also impact on the level of income raised  and debt collectable. 

Forecast Gross Council Tax income is approximately £137m. 
Forecast Council Tax relief to be given is approximately £32m.

Approximately 35,000 properties receive Single Person's Discount.
There are currently approximately 22,000 claiming Local Council Tax Support.

Property Band Band A Band B Band C Band D Band E Band F Band G Band H Totals

Number 51,146        16,327        12,459        7,880        4,423        1,673        870          56             94,834        

% of total 54% 17% 13% 8% 5% 2% 1% 0% 100%

Property Band

P
age 54



1

Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting 28th January 2020
Portfolio Neighbourhoods 

Community and Culture

Report Author John Rooney
Public Document

Research report - ‘Unknown and Unseen: the Social, Economic and Cultural 
needs of the Kashmiri Community in Rochdale’.

1. Executive Summary

1.1 Following feedback from a ‘community equalities listening event’ hosted by 
the council, members of the Kashmiri heritage community highlighted 
concerns around their unmet needs in Rochdale. The   Between 2015 - 2017 
the University of Manchester were asked to undertake a research project to 
identify the social, cultural and economic needs of the Kashmiri community in 
Rochdale borough and to explore a method for delivering services to 
communities who do not fit into existing monitoring systems.

1.2 Funding for this research came from the Economic & Social Research Council 
(ESRC) which was obtained by the University of Manchester under a 
“Research into Practice” programme, with additional funding from the former 
Police and Crime Commissioners Office.

1.3 Members of the local Kashmiri heritage community raised concerns that 
Kashmiris were becoming more vulnerable to rising Islamophobia and 
extremism in the Northwest. They also claimed that Kashmiris suffer greater 
degrees of social marginalisation and exclusion compared to other South 
Asian communities and that their needs are not being addressed due to a lack 
of understanding and monitoring of the Kashmiri population. 

1.4 The attached research report provides information on Kashmiri heritage 
communities including: approximate population size in Rochdale borough, 
migration and settlement, growth of community infrastructure, socio-
economic factors and their needs in relation to health, education, the criminal 
justice system. It also included a series of recommendations for the Council, 
partners and national bodies to consider.

Page 55

Agenda Item 8



2

2. Recommendation

2.1 That cabinet:-

Note the recommendations stated throughout the attached research report 
that have been presented to the council for consideration.

2.2 Note that officers within the council and external partners have shared the 
findings of the report and developed an action plan (appendix 1). Officers, 
partners and national bodies are considering how the recommendations in the 
research report could be implemented within their own services and 
organisations.

3. Reason for Recommendation

3.1 Statistical methods used to estimate the Kashmiri community in the borough 
suggests that two thirds of the identified Pakistani community in Rochdale 
borough are actually of Kashmiri heritage, and therefore the largest South 
Asian community in the borough.  

3.2 The research states that that the Kashmiri population is around 14,847. This 
estimate includes both adults and children. This is significant because the 
2011 census puts the number of Kashmiri adults in the borough at only 1,026.

3.3 The research also suggests that awareness about the Kashmiri community 
amongst many services and organisations is poor and attributes this to 
Kashmiris not being included in ethnic monitoring systems, including at a 
national level via the Census. The report therefore suggests the Kashmiri 
community remain ‘unknown and unseen’.  

4. Key Points for Consideration

4.1 Section 11 (page 29) of the research report offers a detailed discussion of the 
findings and highlights the social, economic and cultural  needs of the 
Kashmiri community in Rochdale borough including employment, health, 
education, crime, culture and community infrastructure.  Based on qualitative 
and quantitative data the researchers findings are that:-

4.1.1 Services and organisations have limited awareness about the basic 
characteristics of the Kashmiri community in Rochdale borough.

4.1.2 Pahari, the mother language of Kashmiris is not recognised on par with 
other community languages used by public bodies to provide language 
support.

4.1.3 Survey data shows that unemployment amongst the Kashmiri 
community is significantly higher than other South Asian minorities.

4.1.4   Limiting disability and long standing illness are fairly high in the Kashmiri 
community, especially for people over 50 years of age.

4.1.5   Awareness about the Healthy Living provisions in Rochdale borough is 
significantly low amongst the Kashmiri community.

Page 56



3

4.1.6   The Kashmiri community appears to be lagging behind other minorities 
in terms of educational attainment. Over 60% of 16-24yr old 
respondents in the household survey had lower level qualifications.

4.1.7  Participants highlighted a fear of being the victim of crime including a 
fear of being physically attacked because of their ethnic origin or 
religion.

4.1.8  Almost half of the participants said they thought Britain was more 
prejudiced today than 5 years ago.  Around 30% of the sample reported 
that they had experienced harassment in their local area because of 
their ethnic origin.

4.1.9   The majority of participants who indicated that they were practicing their 
religion said that they felt able to do this freely in Britain.

4.1.10 Mosques remain the most important space for community gatherings. 
With improvement in the relevant skills and knowledge these can play 
a more effective role in addressing the issues of segregation, cohesion 
and integration.

4.1.11 Some community organisations provide spaces for community 
interaction and communication.

Recommendations

The recommendations from the report are listed within appendix 1 and have 
been shared with relevant parts of the Council, partner agencies and national 
bodies for consideration and comment. Many of the issues highlighted are not 
within the Council’s direct control or influence. 

4.2 Alternatives Considered

Not applicable as this report was presented to Rochdale Borough Council 
for consideration. 

5. Costs and Budget Summary

5.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report however 
associated actions may result in additional costs to services.

6. Risk and Policy Implications

6.1 The recommendations in the report have the potential to enhance service 
provision for people with a certain protected characteristic and will add to the 
council’s commitment in meeting our responsibilities under the Equality Act.

6.2

6.3

A number of the issues relating to the Council and Heywood, Middleton and 
Rochdale Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) are being considered through 
the Council’s Equalities Steering Group.

In addition to implementing the recommendations within the research Report 
which are specific to the Kashmiri community, a review of how the council 

Page 57



4

meets the needs of other existing, new and emerging communities within the 
borough could take place.  This would ensure equitable access to services for 
all communities and demonstrate how we are meeting the requirements of the 
Equality Act.

6.4 There are no legal implications arising directly from this report.

6.5 There are no personnel implications arising from this report.

7. Consultation

7.1 Not applicable as this report was presented to Rochdale Borough Council for 
consideration.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

Research report - ‘Unknown and 
Unseen: the Social, Economic and 

Cultural needs of the Kashmiri 
Community in Rochdale’.

For Further Information Contact: Name: John Rooney
Email address: 
john.rooney@rochdale.gov.uk 

Page 58



Appendix 1

 Unknown and Unseen needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

Recommendations from the report

1

No. Recommendation
1 Recommendations from ‘Unknown and Unseen’ report should be shared with GMCA, LGA, National 

Statistics Office and all partner agencies asking for the inclusion of the Kashmiri Category in their ethnic 
monitoring systems.
Report to be shared with:- 

 GMCA, 
 LGA, 
 National Statistics Office 
 DfE
 Partner agencies

2 Rochdale Borough Council (RBC) and their
partner agencies in the public, voluntary and third
sector as well as the Department for Education
(DfE) should include the Kashmiri category in all their ethnic data monitoring systems. 

3 Relevant information, awareness and opportunities to be provided for the Kashmiri community to engage 
with local decision making processes, community and neighbourhood development programs and 
understanding on citizenship rights and responsibilities

4 The Pahari language to be adopted in the list of community languages in Public Health and the Criminal 
Justice System to provide language support.

5 The Pahari language to be represented in libraries 

6 Material on Kashmiri history, migration and heritage to be collected and included in local museums.

P
age 59



Appendix 1

 Unknown and Unseen needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

Recommendations from the report

2

7 Youth services to liaise with and devise specific activities for Kashmiri youth.

8 Public Health to run specifically targeted
campaigns for the Kashmiri community involving
Link4Life and HMR CCG. 

9 The Education department to improve their data collection system in relation to Kashmiris by using one 
category, ‘Kashmiri,’ for Kashmiris. 

10 The Education department to devise specific policies and strategies to address the gap in achievement by 
Kashmiris pupils.

11 Further research to be carried out to ensure that projects such as the drugs outreach are accessible to the 
Kashmiri community.

12 Promotion of Sufism and Pahari music should be encouraged and supported by all relevant services and 
departments, public and private sector organisations through annual heritage events and melas (festivals).

13 Targeted campaigns for leisure and sports related services to attract Kashmiri youth to engage in leisure 
and recreational activities. 

P
age 60



1The needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

Unknown  
and Unseen
The needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

Professor Virinder S Kalra, University of Warwick (Principal Investigator)
Dr Martin Hyde, Swansea University (Statistician)
Mr Shams Rehman (Research Assistant) 

2019
Page 61



2 3Unknown and Unseen The needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

Forewords ..........................................................................4
Executive Summary ..........................................................6
 Introduction ................................................................6
 Key Findings ...............................................................6
 Rochdale Kashmiri Population .................................6
 Lack of Awareness .....................................................6
 Language Barriers .....................................................6
 Economic marginalisation ........................................7
 Health Status ...............................................................7
 Educational Attainment ............................................7
 Crime, Discrimination and Safety ............................8
 Religion ........................................................................8
 Community Infrastructure ........................................8
 Conclusion ..................................................................8
 Recommendations .....................................................8

1. Main Report: Introduction .....................................10

2. Background of the research ..................................11

3. Aims of the research ...............................................12

4. Methodology ...........................................................13
 4.1 Methods ..............................................................13
 4.1.0 Qualitative methods .......................................13
 4.1.1 Quantitative methods ....................................13

5. Formula to estimate the Kashmiri population ...14

6. Kashmiris in Rochdale Survey (KiRS) ...................15

7. Key Findings .............................................................16
 7.1 Existing sources of data on the Kashmiri 

Community ...............................................................16
	 7.1.0.	Self-Identification	or	Write	In .......................16
 7.1.1. Extended categories ......................................16
 7.1.2 Limitations of the existing data sources  

and extended categories. ......................................16
 7.2. Awareness amongst council service  

providers about the Kashmiri Community ...........17

8. Who are Rochdale Kashmiris and How many? ..19
 8.1. Origins of Rochdale Kashmiris ........................19
 8.2. Languages .........................................................20
 8.3. Labour Migration: The Kashmiri  

Community in Rochdale .........................................20
 8.4. Historical context of the marginalisation  

and invisibility of Kashmiris in Britain ...................21

9. The socio-economic context in Rochdale .......... 23

10. Kashmiris and Ethnic Monitoring ........................ 24
 10.1 Kashmiri category and Service Provision .....24
 10.2 Language and service provision ...................25
 10.3. The Numbers: How Many Kashmiris  

are there in Rochdale? .............................................26

11. Needs and Issues .................................................... 29
 11.1 Economic Conditions ......................................30
 11.1.0. The changing nature of employment 

amongst Kashmiris ..................................................31
 11.1.1. Business ethos ..............................................32
 11.1.2. Gender and Economy .................................32
 11.2. Social Issues .....................................................33
 11.2.0.Health and Healthy Living ...........................33
 11.2.1. Lack of awareness about and access  

to services .................................................................35
 11.2.2. Healthy Living ..............................................36
 11.3. Education .........................................................36

12. Crime, Discrimination and Safety ........................ 38
 12.1 Fear of crime .....................................................38
 12.2 Harassment and discrimination ....................38
 12.3. Drugs ................................................................39

13. Religion .................................................................... 40
 13.1. Extremism ........................................................41

14. Cultural life ............................................................... 44

15. Community Infrastructure and Engagement 
Capacity ................................................................... 45

 15.1 First generation ‘back home’ networks ........45
 15.2 Politics and welfare .........................................45
 15.3 Mosques ...........................................................46
 15.4 Women’s participation in  

community networks ...............................................46

16. Conclusion .................................................................47

17. Recommendations .................................................. 48

C O N T E N T S

P
age 62



4 5Unknown and Unseen The needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

It is with great pleasure that I present to you this very 
important report on the needs and issues of Rochdale 
Kashmiris titled aptly ‘Unknown and Unseen’ as this 
is	the	first	ever	research	report	of	its	kind	on	a	British	
community whose existence can be traced back in 
1830s and estimated reaching to a million mark soon 
but little is known about this group of British citizens 
among the policy makers. 

I	hope	all	relevant	officers,	elected	members	and	
interested members of public will find this report 
both informative and interesting and that it will give 
you a greater understanding of the British Kashmiri 
community. 

More importantly, I hope that you will gain an 
appreciation	of	the	difficulties	and	challenges	faced	
by our community due to their exclusion from the 

As a Kashmiri who arrived in the UK in early 70’s, 
growing up in Rochdale had its challenges. At home, I 
was a Kashmiri, at school a Pakistani, and in my head, 
I was starting to feel British. Unknown and Unseen is a 
ground-breaking study that finally sheds light on the 
plight of Rochdale’s Kashmiri community, including a 
lack of recognition locally and its subsequent impact 
on the community as a whole.

It would be tempting to classify this report as 
overzealous identity politics, but that would be a big 
mistake. By denying a community its heritage, you 
deny	its	history	and	stifle	its	potential.	If	you	do	not	
recognise differences, you cannot value strengths. If 
you cannot differentiate language and culture, how 
can you communicate ideas and values? 

The Kashmir Youth Project’s (a community centre 
established in 1979) sole purpose is to help the 
Kashmiri community settle and engage with the wider 
society. As its CEO I know we have tackled many 
of the issues raised in this report, and on our 40th 
anniversary, the Kashmiri community is now more 

Rochdale’s Kashmiris community plays a vital role in 
supporting the borough and the local authority. From 
elected members to local business and community 
leaders, Kashmiris provide many citizens who work 
hard for the good of Rochdale and its people. One 
of my deputy leaders, Cllr Daalat Ali, and the current 
mayor, Cllr Mohamed Zaman, are two such people.

Yet, as this report highlights, these remarkable 
achievements are set against a backdrop of an 
historical lack of understanding, appreciation and 
support for the needs of the Kashmiri community in 
Rochdale.

Unknown and Unseen is a thought-provoking study 
which offers an excellent insight into the needs 
and issues affecting Rochdale Kashmiris, both past 

Several people contributed and participated in this 
research from inception to completion in different 
capacities and wish to extend our thanks to all of them. 

First of all we are grateful to the University of 
Manchester, Rochdale Borough Council, the 
Economic and Social Research Council and the Crime 
Commissioner	Office	Manchester	for	providing	
resources to carry out the research. 

The	research	support	team	and	council	officers	to	
name few Sajjad Mian, Sally Atueyi, Jeanette Staley, 
then acting chief executive Linda Fisher and current 
chief executive Steve Rumbelow.

Ward councillors who gave their support: Cllr Aftab 
Hussain, Iftikhar Ahmed, Shakil Ahmed, Amina Mir, 
Neil Emmott, John Blundell, Liam o’ Rourke, Ali 
Ahmed, Deputy leader Daalat Ali for identifying 
communities and Cllr Janet Emsley for expert 
guidance and critical feedback. 

Special thanks to Rashida Bi for her support in carrying 
out staff survey and interview transcriptions. Also to 
Gagun Chhina for technical support. Jaleel Miyan for 
providing resources for software procurement. 

The household survey that forms a key component 

ethnic	monitoring	systems	which	makes	it	difficult	for	
policy	makers	to	include	any	specific	needs	and	issues	
of this particular minority community such as in health, 
communication, education and employment areas. 

I also hope that the formula developed for this 
research will be proved valuable for estimating 
Kashmiris population in other towns and cities till the 
community is included in the national census and 
other systems of gathering statistics and monitoring 
community trends etc. 

Tony Lloyd MP for Rochdale 
Shadow Secretary for Northern Ireland 

and present. Reading it certainly gave me a greater 
understanding of the challenges sections of the 
community, not least elderly women, face on a daily 
basis.

But, crucially, Unknown and Unseen also offers 
achievable recommendations designed to address 
these challenges head on. Ways we can offer the 
Kashmir community the support they have shown the 
borough over the years.

I certainly hope this research will sound the starting 
gun for a conversation where this can be achieved.
 
Councillor Allen Brett
Leader of the Council
Labour Councillor for Milkstone and Deeplish

prominent right across the borough than ever before. 

However, that is not enough. Clarity of categorisation 
for local services is a minimal requirement and 
essential for community cohesion. This data should 
be share with other authorities where large Kashmiri 
communities live so that they too can learn from our 
experience. I am convinced that recognition leading 
to deeper understanding will improve local level 
service delivery, therefore changes to national census 
categorisation will have a national impact. Crucially, 
providers can start to design services that engage 
rather than marginalise Kashmiris to build a stronger 
and more cohesive environment for all.

Zulf Ali 
Chief	Executive	Officer	
Kashmir Youth Project

of this research was not possible without the hard 
work done by the volunteers trained for this purpose. 
Therefore, a big thank you to all of you who the 
surveys. We also appreciate the time and information 
provided by all 500 respondents in our household 
survey, 20 participants of in-depth face to face 
interviews and 30 Focus group participants. 

Special	thanks	to	Dr	Serena	Hussain,	Sofia	Ahmed,	
Farah Bi, The then Mayor Rochdale Surrender Biant, 
Fazal Karim, Waseem Rasheed and Gulfam Rasheed, 
Parvez Iqbal, M Shabir, Abid Hussain, Haji Akram, 
Javed	Iqbal,	Zulf	and	Hafiz	Abdul	Qayumm	for	
traveling from far and wide to share their experiences, 
observations, knowledge and support in our specially 
organised research and community events. 

We would like to thank KYP for providing space, 
Kashmiri Development Foundation for response to 
written questions, Rochdale Kashmiri Association 
and Almi Pahari Adabi Sangat (International Pahari 
literary society) for their support in accessing relevant 
members and places of the community. 

Last but not least thanks to all those members of 
Kashmiri community who gave a lot of their time 
voluntarily to help us carrying out the mini census in 
the selected wards. It was not possible without you. 

F O R E W O R D S 

A C K N O W L E D G M E N T S

P
age 63



6 7Unknown and Unseen The needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

Introduction 
This research was commissioned by Rochdale 
Borough Council (RBC) to University of Manchester 
in 2015 and has been supported by the Greater 
Manchester Police Crime and Crime Commissioners 
(GMPCC) and the Kashmiri community in Rochdale 
The research primarily aimed to identify the social, 
cultural and economic needs of the Kashmiri 
community in Rochdale and to provide a method for 
delivering	services	to	communities	who	do	not	fit	into	
existing monitoring systems. 

Data for this research was collected through a 
mixture of quantitative and qualitative methods 
including a Kashmiris in Rochdale Survey (KiRS) of 
500 respondents (including other communities in the 
selected wards), 20 face to face in-depth interviews, 
4 Focus groups involving 30 participants as well as 
a ‘ward censuses, a small staff survey and informal 
conversations with about 50 community members in 
different community settings. Data of Kashmiris who 
self-wrote ‘Kashmiri’ in 2011 census was also used for 
comparative purposes. 

Key Findings 
cc Only the Rochdale Borughwide Housing (RBH) 

uses Kashmiri category in the list of their ethnicity 
monitoring question. The Education department 
also collects data on Kashmiris in the borough. 
However, the data collected by the Education 
department has little analytical value as they use 
three categories for Kashmiris including: “Kashmiri 
Pakistani,” “Mirpuri Pakistani” and “Kashmiri Other.” 

cc This confusion over categories and lack of data 
results in a lack of systematic information being 
available on Kashmiris for planning purposes in the 
Council and its partners. 

Rochdale Kashmiri Population 
cc From our ward census the actual population of 

Kashmiris calculated in the selected wards appears 
more	than	five	times	higher	than	the	number	of	
Kashmiris recorded in the 2011 census. 

Lack of Awareness 
cc From services survey and face to face interviews 
it	appears	that	most	officers	from	different	public	
services have fairly limited awareness about the 
basic characteristics of the Kashmiri community in 
Rochdale.

cc Most participating staff assumed that Kashmiris 
are same as Pakistanis who speak Urdu or Punjabi 
and have no distinct needs and issues. This is 
especially problematic when considering the 
potentially unmet needs of older Kashmiri women 
who are at increased risk of becoming isolated and 
neglected as they do not receive support in their 
native language.

Language Barriers
cc Pahari, the mother language of Rochdale Kashmiris 

is not recognised on par with other community 
languages used by public bodies to provide 
language support.  

cc From the household survey, it appears that 25% 
Kashmiri respondents cannot speak English or 
have poor spoken English. This compares to 5% 
of Pakistanis and 21% of Bangladeshis. In terms of 
reading and writing nearly 35% of Kashmiris have 
poor language competence in comparison to 11% 
of Pakistanis and 21% of Bangladeshis. 

cc Community interviews revealed a stigma attached 
to the Pahari language which they reported is 
looked down by Punjabi and Urdu speaking 
Pakistanis as a worthless language. Subsequently, 
the speakers of Pahari tend to hide their language 
and identity.

Economic marginalisation  
cc Survey data show that unemployment amongst 
Kashmiris	is	significantly	higher	than	other	South	
Asian minorities. An overwhelming majority of 
employed Kashmiri men work in the Night-Time 
Economy,	specifically	in	taxi	and/or	private	car	
hire companies. Nearly half (48%) of employed 
Kashmiri respondents work as taxi drivers. 

Health Status
cc While from qualitative data it appears that the 

health of community is perceived fairly poor, the 
quantitative data shows that the general health of 
community was actually good. However, as shown 
below (Figure 3) the limiting disability and long 
standing illness (Figure 4) are fairly high in Kashmiri 
community, especially amongst the ages over 50. 

cc Awareness about the Healthy Living provisions in 
Rochdale	is	significantly	low.	For	example,	fewer	
than 40% of Kashmiris in Rochdale had heard of 
or used Link4life, compared to nearly 59% of their 
Pakistani counterparts.  
 

cc Depression is also higher amongst Kashmiris than 
Pakistanis and Bangladeshis, especially in ‘most or 
all of the time’ which is 12% amongst Kashmiris with 
compare to 6% in Bangladeshis and 5% in Pakistanis. 

Educational Attainment 
cc The Kashmiri community also appears to be 

lagging behind other minorities in Rochdale in 
terms of educational attainment. Over 60% of 16-
24yr old respondents in the household survey had 
lower	level	qualifications.	

cc Although the extended categories used by the 
education department are confusing and need 
to be improved, the aggregated data calculated 
by aggregating all three categories used for 
Kashmiris shows that the level of achievement for 
Kashmiris is lower than that for Pakistanis.

E X E C U T I V E  S U M M A R Y

Table 1. Actual numbers of Pakistanis and Kashmiris in the selected wards

Ward Pakistanis in 
2011 census

Kashmiris 
counted in the 
Ward Census

Percentage of Pakistani 
community that is 

Kashmiri

Revised number 
of Pakistanis

Percentage of the 
Pakistani community that 

is Pakistani

Central 3412 2226 65% 1186 35%

Smallbridge 
and Firgrove

1815 1240 68% 575 32%

Spotland and 
Falinge

2236 1694 76% 542 24%

Total 7463 5160 69% 2303 31%

Figure 1. Proportion of people with poor English language 
competence by ethnic group

Source: KiRS

Figure 2. The proportion of people who have done no paid 
work in the past 7 days by ethnic group and gender

Source: KiRS

Figure 3. Limiting disability amongst Kashmiri respondents 
by age group

Source: UK Census

Figure 4. Proportion of Kashmiris who report having a 
limiting longstanding illness. 

Source: KiRS

Table 2. GCSE grades by Pakistani and Kashmiri pupils1

Ethnicity Numbers 3+A*-A 5+ A*-C 5+ A*-G 1+A*-G

Kashmiri Other 3 0.0 33.3 66.7 100

Kashmiri Pakistani 28 14.3 57.1 89.3 96.4

Mirpuri Pakistani 46 15.2 65.2 95.7 97.8

Other Pakistani 124 27.4 74.2 92.7 95.2

Pakistani 153 22.2 68.6 96.7 99.3

1  2011, Z:\Census Reports\Pupil Census\SC062 - Kashmiri Pupils on Roll. rpt

P
age 64



8 9Unknown and Unseen The needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

Crime, Discrimination and Safety
cc Around 4 in 10 Kashmiri participants said that they 

were fairly worried or very worried about being the 
victim of crime. 

cc Moreover 39% said that they were worried about 
being physically attacked because of their ethnic 
origin. 

cc Almost half of those asked said that Britain was 
more prejudiced today than 5 years ago.

cc Around 30% of the sample reported that they 
had experienced harassment in their local area 
because of their ethnic origin. 

cc There is a widespread perception that there is a 
problem with drug dealing among some young 
people in the community. Some interviewees 
reported that in tough economic climate, some 
young	people	may	find	this	lifestyle	appealing.	

Religion
cc 74% of all the respondents who answered question 

about religion in our household survey were 
practising, of whom an overwhelming majority 
(88%) said that they felt able to practice their 
religion freely in Britain. 

cc While the majority (76%) also feel British, only 31% 
think that others see them as British. 

cc  45% said that they were worried about being 
physically attacked because of their religion. 

cc In the interviews people felt that a growing 
minority was becoming attracted to extremist 
views. A number of issues were raised as possible 
reasons for this. Key amongst these were the 
growth of an intolerance to ‘the point of view of 
others.’ 

cc Islamic Students’ Societies in universities, as well 
as social media were also mentioned by some 
respondents	as	having	a	negative	influence	on	
younger people, especially in relation to extremist 
views. 

cc Frustration about global politics, in relation to 
conflicts	around	the	world,	including	those	in	
Kashmir and Palestine were also seen as a source 
of resentment from the older respondents and 
anger from younger interviewees. 

Community Infrastructure
cc Mosques remain the most important space for 

community gatherings. With improvement in the 
relevant skills and knowledge these can play a 
more effective role in addressing the issues of 
segregation, cohesion and integration. 

cc Some community organisations such as the 
Kashmir Youth Project and media voices such as 
Crescent Radio also provide spaces for community 
interaction and communication. 

Conclusion
It appears from the research that the Kashmiri 
community in Britain lagged behind other South Asian 
communities mainly because of the subdued status  

2  Recommendations are summarised from the main report 

of their areas of origin rooted in the unresolved 
status of Kashmir. Over 99% Kashmiris in Britain 
originate from ‘Azad’ Kashmir, which is under Pakistani 
administration. The disparity in the relationship back 
home was recreated in the relationship between 
the Pakistani and Kashmiri community in Britain, 
resulting in the loss of Kashmiri identity and the Pahari 
language, the mother tongue of British Kashmiris from 
‘Azad’ Kashmir. This added to their marginalisation 
and exclusion as a minority population from the British 
Equality and Inclusion framework. 

The statistical method devised for this research shows 
that two thirds of Pakistanis in Rochdale are actually 
Kashmiris, making them the largest South Asian 
community in the borough. 

The awareness about Kashmiris amongst services 
is poor, mainly because Kashmiris are not properly 
included in the ethnic monitoring systems, which 
means that Kashmiris remain an unknown and unseen 
community. The local schools, despite having a 
Kashmiri category in the extended categories they 
use, add to the confusion and seriously undermine 
the analytical values of the data about Kashmiri 
pupils. Subsequently, it is not possible for the relevant 
services and authorities to identify and address the 
needs and issues of the Kashmiri community. 

The views of several community members were 
recorded	in	this	research	and	indicate	the	significant	
tendencies towards introversion in the Kashmiri 
community. This appears to be rooted in the lack of 
self-confidence	and	self-respect,	which	stems	from	
the lack of recognition of the Kashmiri identity and 
language on par with other BME communities. To 
some extent this explains the over representation of 
Kashmiris in certain areas of economic activities i.e. 
Night-Time Economy. 

Mosques, along with Kashmiri political and 
community organisations, provide a good starting 
point for relevant council and public services to 
interact and engage with the Kashmiri community in 
order	to	address	the	issues	identified	in	this	report	
and to take action on the recommendations. 

Recommendations2

1. The Rochdale Borough Council (RBC) and their 
partner agencies in public, voluntary and third 
sector as well as the Department for Education 
(DfE) should include the Kashmiri category 
in all their ethnic data monitoring systems to 
ensure accurate knowledge about the needs and 
representation of the community.

2. RBC and its partner agencies should reach out to 
ensure that relevant information, awareness and 
opportunities are provided for members of the 
Kashmiri community to meaningfully engage with 
local decision-making processes, community and  
 

neighbourhood development programmes, and 
citizenship rights and responsibilities.

3. The Pahari language should be adopted in the 
list of community languages at par with other 
languages in Public Health and Criminal Justice 
System to provide language support, especially for 
older Kashmiris with poor English language skills.

4. The Pahari language should be represented in 
libraries along with other languages to encourage 
the greater use of these services by the Kashmiri 
community. Material on Kashmiri history, migration 
and heritage should be collected and included in 
the local museums.

5. Public	Health	departments	should	run	specifically	
targeted campaigns for the Kashmiri community 
to increase the engagement of the Kashmiri 
community, particularly the older generation and 
women with services such as Link4Life and the 
clinical commissioning group (CCG).

6. RBC and its partners should encourage and 
support the events and activities in the Borough 
around	the	role	of	Sufism	and	Pahari	music	as	a	key	
method to celebrate Kashmiri community cultural 
heritage through community, public and private 
sector organisations such as annual heritage 
events and melas (festivals). 

7. Targeted campaigns from leisure and sports 
related services should be developed to 
attract Kashmiri youth to engage in leisure and 
recreational activities to tackle youth alienation. 
Borough youth services should liaise with 
community	organisations	to	devise	specific	
activities for Kashmiri youth to increase the sense 
of positive identity and belonging.

P
age 65



10 11Unknown and Unseen The needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

This research was commissioned by Rochdale 
Borough Council (RBC) to University of Manchester 
in 2015 and has been supported by the Greater 
Manchester Police Crime and Crime Commissioners 
(GMPCC) and the Kashmiri community in Rochdale. 
Informed by the available academic and policy 
evidence, the main aim of the research was to identify 
the social, cultural and economic needs of the 
Kashmiri community in Rochdale and to provide a 
method for delivering services to communities who 
do	not	fit	into	existing	monitoring	systems.	
Data for this research was collected through a 
mixture of quantitative and qualitative methods 
including a Kashmiris in Rochdale Survey (KiRS) of 
500 respondents (including other communities in the 
selected wards), 20 face to face in-depth interviews, 
4 Focus groups involving 30 participants as well as a 
‘ward censuses, a small staff survey of 20 members 
and informal conversations with about 50 community 
members in different community settings. Data of 
Kashmiris who self-wrote ‘Kashmiri’ in 2011 census 
was also used for comparative purposes. 

Presented	below	are	the	key	findings	from	the	
quantitative and qualitative data gathered between 
2015 and 2017 to identify the needs and issues of the 
Kashmiri community in Rochdale. 

As this is a pioneering project, it was not possible to 
comprehensively	cover	and	reflect	on	the	views	of	
the entire Kashmiri community on all aspects of life 
in	Rochdale.	However,	we	believe	that	the	findings	of	
this research discussed here offer a valuable insight 
into the social, economic and cultural needs of the 
community and their views and perceptions. 

The main focus of the report is on the population 
size, socio-economic context and needs and issues 
in relation to health, education, the criminal justice 
system and the growth of community infrastructure. 
However, a general background of Kashmiri migration 
to Britain and settlement in Rochdale is also offered 
to make the reader aware of the context in which the 
Kashmiri community has been established and has 
evolved in Rochdale as well as nationally. 

While the discussion offered here of the needs and 
issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale is expected to make 
a	significant	contribution	to	improve	the	local	policy	
making and service provision processes, it will also 
add to the wider debate on the need for the inclusion 
of the Kashmiri community in the ethnic monitoring 
system at the national level including the national 
census.
 

The	need	for	this	research	was	initially	identified	in	
2012 following the concerns expressed by members 
of the Kashmiri community at the annual Equality 
Listening Event of RBC that the issues faced by the 
Kashmiri community in Rochdale were not being 
addressed due to the absence of a Kashmiri category 
in the ethnic monitoring system. It was claimed that 
this absence had led to a lack of awareness and 
understanding about the community at policy making 
and service provision levels. 

Ongoing academic research with Kashmiris in the North 
West of England for the last twenty years, noted that 
the majority of British Pakistanis were actually Kashmiris 
from ‘Azad’ (free) Kashmir3 who were experiencing 
persistent socio-economic deprivation, identity crisis 
and the lack of adequate resource provision.4 

Following growing concerns about rising 
Islamophobia and extremism the North West, local 
councillors of Kashmiri heritage raised concerns 
that Kashmiris were becoming more vulnerable to 
such activities. They also claimed that Kashmiris 
suffer greater degrees of social marginalisation 
and exclusion compared to other South Asian 
communities, but their needs and issues remain 

3  Pakistani administered part of the divided state of Jammu Kashmir. 
4  Ballard,R. (2005); Kalra, V.S. (2000) also see Khan, Z. (2010) Ali, N. (2011); Hussain, S. (2014)

unknown hence unaddressed due to the Kashmiri 
category not being included in the ethnic monitoring 
system both at local and national levels. 

In this context, the RBC worked with partners to 
commission research that resulted in this project 
aiming to identify the main social, economic and 
cultural needs of the Kashmiri community in Rochdale. 

Although the research was carried out in Rochdale, 
it	is	expected	that	findings	will	have	significant	
relevance to the wider Kashmiri community residing in 
various towns across the country. 

1 .  I N T R O D U C T I O N 2 .  B A C K G R O U N D  O F  T H E  R E S E A R C H

P
age 66



12 13Unknown and Unseen The needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

The main aims of the project included: 

cc To	find	out	about	the	level	of	awareness	amongst	
the local service providers about the Kashmiri 
community and identify any information gaps; 
cc To explore the awareness and views in the 

community about the relevant services available 
in the borough and identify any service gaps and 
barriers in accessing, and engaging with, such 
services; 
cc To identify the major needs and issues of the 

Kashmiri community in Rochdale; 

cc To devise a statistical formula for a reliable 
estimation of the Kashmiri population in the 
Borough of Rochdale to know the size, monitor 
and	address,	any	specific	needs	and	issues	of	the	
community; 
cc To analyse existing statistical data and to carry 

out primary survey research to quantify the socio-
economic and cultural conditions of the Kashmiri 
community;
cc To make recommendations for addressing the 

issues arising from this research.

A multi-methods approach was employed to collect 
qualitative and quantitative data to best address the 
following questions: 

cc What are the sources and levels of awareness 
amongst different council services including 
public and voluntary sector about the Kashmiri 
community? 
cc What are the views and perceptions in the 

community about their needs, issues and the 
available services? 
cc What are the available sources of data on Kashmiris 

and how can we develop a formula for reliable 
estimates of the Kashmiri population in Rochdale? 
cc To what extent do the quantitative data support the 
findings	from	the	qualitative	data?	
cc What are the possible measures available for the 

Rochdale Borough Council and its partner agencies 
to	address	any	issues	identified	in	this	research?	

Some of the problems and issues highlighted from 
this research carry a range of complexities and 
sensitivities and there are no easy, ready-made 
solutions to the challenges they pose. The information 
presented in this report is an aid for relevant services, 
to develop appropriate policy and provision, 
to address the main issues facing the Kashmiri 
community. The research will also contribute to the 
wider debate on identity, inclusion, equality, cohesion 
and integration in Rochdale, Greater Manchester and 
nationally. 

4.1 Methods 
A mix of quantitative and qualitative methods was 
used to collect data for this research. 

4.1.0  Qualitative methods
To gain a background understanding of Kashmiri 
migration and the individual perception of the needs 
and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale, 20 face-to-face, 
in-depth interviews were conducted. Convenience 
sampling and snowball sampling methods were used 
to	select	interviewees	to	ensure	that	they	reflect	the	
mix of age, gender and occupation. 

Interviews were also conducted with elected 
members	and	officers	including	those	of	Kashmiri	
heritage. 

Four focus groups were conducted for detailed 
and in-depth discussions to gain a wider picture of 
peoples’ concerns, perceptions and expectations 
in relation to community needs and issues. We also 
discussed issues around local services and the nature, 
scale and barriers to engagement with, and access 
to, services. In total 25 people participated in these 
focus groups, e.g. approximately 6 -7 participants per 
group. 

Conversations were also carried out with around 50 
members of general public at different public places 
including mosques, community centres and the town 
centre.

4.1.1  Quantitative methods 
20 completed questionnaires were received out of 30 
from council and voluntary services staff approached 
at the Equality Listening Event 2015 as well as via 
email to gauge the general level of awareness about 
the Kashmiri community. 

Since a category for Kashmiris is not included in the 
current ethnicity question in the national census, the 
first	and	foremost	challenge	for	this	research	was	to	
develop a credible formula to gain reliable estimates 
about the size of the Kashmiri community in Rochdale. 
This exercise was seen as being of particular 
significance	because	the	size	of	the	community	seems	
to be one of the key determining factors in planning 
and resource allocation. It is expected that the formula 
we have developed for this research will also be useful 
for relevant services to make reliable estimates about 
the size of the Kashmiri population in scores of other 
wards in Greater Manchester and nationally. 

3 .  A I M S  O F  T H E  R E S E A R C H 4 .  M E T H O D O L O G Y

P
age 67



14 15Unknown and Unseen The needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

Although there is no Kashmiri category in the UK 
Census, some data is available on those Kashmiris 
who chose the option of ‘Other’ under the question 
of	Asian/British	Asian	and	then	‘Write-in’	Kashmiri.5 
We	secured	this	data	from	the	Office	for	National	
Statistics (ONS) for this project, and it shows that in 
the 2011 UK Census 24,683 people ‘wrote in’ Kashmiri 
as	their	ethnic	identity.	The	figures	for	Rochdale	
were 1,658 people. However, previous research6 
and community intelligence indicates that the actual 
number	of	Kashmiris	was	significantly	higher.	Hence,	
we considered other possible means available for 
counting the total population of Kashmiris. 

One option was to do a full ward census which 
involved visiting and counting members of each 
Kashmiri household. However, this was not practicable 
due	to	the	time	and	financial	constraints	of	this	
project. An alternative method was to identify the 
number of Kashmiris on the electoral rolls for our 
selected wards. This is what we did. 

Although, the ethnicity of the voters is not included on 
electoral rolls, with some exploring and consultation 
with active members of the community in the selected 
wards we were able to identify each and every 
Kashmiri household and counted registered voters for 
each household to get the total number of Kashmiris 
on the electoral rolls in the selected wards. 

5	 	Also	called	Self	Identification
6	 	Office	for	National	Statistics.	(2009).	Kashmiri	Research	Project	Final	Report:	2011	Census	Programme.	ONS,	London

After getting the number of Kashmiris aged 18 or 
over from electoral rolls, we needed to collect the 
number of Kashmiris who were under eighteen. 
For this we calculated the percentage of difference 
between total population of the wards and those 
who were registered on voting registers and applied 
that percentage to the Kashmiris counted from the 
electoral registers and got the total population of 
Kashmiris in our selected wards. 

In	the	absence	of	a	pre-defined	Kashmiri	category	in	
the Census we feel that this is the best method for a 
reliable estimate of the size of the Kashmiri community 
anywhere in Britain. 

The lack of available sources of data on Kashmiris 
highlighted the need for a household survey to 
collect quantitative data about the socio-economic 
characteristics of the Kashmiri population. This 
would also allow us to compare the situation of 
Kashmiris with other communities in these wards. We 
were interested to see if there was any quantitative 
evidence of the perceived marginalisation and 
exclusion of the community. 

Therefore, the Kashmiris in Rochdale Survey (KiRS) 
was completed with around 500 respondents. Using 
a quasi-random quota sampling technique, we were 
able to include respondents from the Kashmiri, 
Bangladeshi and Pakistani communities to gain a 
comparative picture of the socio-economic conditions 
of	different	communities	and	to	see	specifically	if	any	
significant	differences	existed	between	Kashmiris	and	
other communities. Twelve volunteers were trained 
to conduct the KiRS. The survey was conducted 
using hand-held tablets. Trained interviewers were 
randomly allocated streets to survey in each of the 
wards. Once a household agreed to participate 
in the survey all members of the household aged 

18 and over were asked to complete the survey. 
Where possible this was done as a self-completion 
questionnaire. However, if respondents required 
assistance,	e.g.	due	to	language	difficulties,	the	
interviewers could administer the questionnaire. 
All interviewers were bilingual in English and Pahari 
and spoke some Punjabi, Urdu or Bangla. Despite an 
initially	good	response	rate	the	fieldwork	took	longer	
to complete than was initially planned. In part this 
seems to be due to a reluctance to participate in the 
survey around the time of the EU referendum.

Unless	explicitly	stated	otherwise	all	figures	
reported from the KiRS will only be for the Kashmiri 
respondents. 

In 2011 census 1658 Kashmiris from Rochdale 
used the option of ‘Other’ and wrote in Kashmiri 
in the ethnicity question where Kashmiri category 
is not provided. At places this data is also used for 
comparative purposes and explicitly stated. 

5 .  F O R M U L A  T O  E S T I M A T E  T H E  K A S H M I R I  P O P U L A T I O N 6 .  K A S H M I R I S  I N  R O C H D A L E  S U R V E Y  ( K i R S )

P
age 68



16 17Unknown and Unseen The needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

The	presentation	of	research	findings	is	organised	
into two parts. 

The	first	part	begins	with	a	presentation	of	existing	
data on Kashmiris, followed by the analysis of the 
awareness amongst RBC staff about the community. 
This is followed by a quick introduction to Kashmir 
and Kashmiris and the historical context of 
Kashmiri migration and subsequent exclusion and 
marginalisation in Rochdale. 

The second part discusses the impact of the absence 
of a Kashmiri category and the Pahari language 
from ethnic monitoring and service provision 
respectively. This part ends with the illustration of a 
statistical formula devised and utilised to estimate the 
population of Kashmiris in Rochdale. 

7.1 Existing sources of data on the Kashmiri 
Community 
The National Census is the main source of data that 
government departments employ to design policies, 
plan and provide public services, and to allocate 
resources. The data on ethnic groups helps services 
identify the extent and nature of disadvantage in the 
UK and informs the evaluation of equal opportunity 
policies.	However,	in	the	absence	of	a	pre-defined	
Kashmiri category in the National Census, only two 
sources of data are available on Kashmiris in Rochdale:

cc Census Data collected through the ‘write in’ or ‘Self 
Identification’	option
cc Data collected by local services through the use of 

extended categories 

7.1.0. Self-Identification or Write In
A ‘write-in’ answer, according to the National Statistics 
guide “is where someone has ticked ‘Other’ in the 
ethnic group question, and then has ’written in’ a 
description of his or her ethnic group. The ethnic 
group question in the Census form has a number of 
‘Other’ subcategories, one under ‘White’, one under 
‘Mixed’, one under ‘Asian or Asian British’, one under 
‘Black or Black British’, and one under ‘Chinese or 
another ethnic group’.”

The ‘Write-in’ answers are then allocated to the main 
category	appropriate	for	that	specific	group.	In	the	
case of Kashmiris, the main category used is Pakistani. 
However, it is advised in the ONS guide that if there 
are large communities in your area which are not 
included in the Census you could include the sub-
category under the main category. 

In the case of Kashmiris, the sub-category is Kashmiri. 
In the previous Census carried out in 2011, a total 
 
7  2011, Z:\Census Reports\Pupil Census\SC062 - Kashmiri Pupils on Roll. rpt

of	1,658	Rochdale	citizens	identified	themselves	as	
Kashmiri using the option of ‘Other’. This was our 
starting point for a statistical analysis of the socio-
economic characteristics of Kashmiris in Rochdale that 
is included and presented in the relevant sections.

We also used this data to develop a statistical method 
to estimate the Kashmiri population as closely as 
possible to the actual population of Kashmiris in any 
given electoral ward in Rochdale as well as nationally.

7.1.1. Extended categories 
The other main source of data on Kashmiris in 
Rochdale and in Britain at large is the Department 
for Education (DfE) which uses extended categories 
to collect data on ethnic communities that are not 
included in the national census. In line with the 
guidance by the DfE, schools in Rochdale use the 
following categories to collect data on Kashmiris:

cc Kashmiri Pakistani
cc Mirpuri Pakistani 
cc Kashmiri Other
cc Pakistani Other

7.1.2 Limitations of the existing data sources 
and extended categories. 
As mentioned above, 1658 people in Rochdale self-
identified	as	Kashmiris	in	the	2011	Census.	This	is	the	
figure	that	is	used	by	most	council	services,	e.g.,	the	Joint	
Strategic Needs Assessment 2013 and the Single Equality 
and Community Policy’s Development framework for 
schools to estimate the population of Kashmiris.

The extended categories used by the DfE have some 
analytical use, but only if the user is aware that all the 
categories used above, (‘Kashmiri Pakistani’, ‘Mirpuri 
Pakistani’ and ‘Kashmiri Other’) are actually for the 
Kashmiri community. The aggregation of all data from 
the above categories provides an estimation of the 
total number of Kashmiri pupils. 

This point is elaborated below with the help of the 
data collected by the Rochdale Schools on the 
number of Kashmiri pupils on roll. 

Table 3.1. Kashmiri pupils in 24 schools in Rochdale using 
extended categories in 20167

Category Number Percentage

Other Kashmiri 19 0.17

Kashmiri Pakistani 410 3.75

Mirpuri Pakistani 789 7.22

Total pupils of Kashmiri heritage 1298 11.88

However, the question remains, why use three 
categories when you can use just one category – 
Kashmiri? The most confusing aspect of this usage of 
categories to collect data on Kashmiris is that Mirpur 
is just one of the ten districts of the part of Kashmir 
where British Kashmiris originate from. The only 
possible rationale one can think of using Mirpuri as 
an ethnic category is that the majority of Kashmiris 
in Britain originate from Mirpur. But then most of the 
other	South	Asians	in	Britain	originate	from	specific	

regions of their countries. For example, most Indians 
come from Jalandhar in Punjab or Surat in Gujarat, 
the majority of Bangladeshis come from Sylhet and 
the majority of Pakistanis from Faisalabad or Pothwar 
regions of Punjab or from Khyber Pakhtoon Kwa 
(formerly	North	West	Frontier	Province).	Significant	
frustration was expressed about this by several 
participants. One, Mr Ali went as far as claiming that 
there was some sort of conspiracy behind this: 

“I think this is deliberately done by some Pakistani 
‘up there’ to create confusion amongst Kashmiris 
as well as amongst the authorities. Otherwise 
with even a basic knowledge about Kashmir and 
Kashmiris in Britain, how can you use Mirpuri as an 
ethnic category? Will you use Sylheti Bangladeshi or 
Faisalabadi Pakistani or Surati Indian because these 
are the regions of these countries where majority of 
them came from. Kashmiri is Kashmiri like Indian is 
Indian and Pakistani is Pakistani and Bangladeshi is 
Bangladeshi but they (are) playing politics.” 

As several participants asserted during this research, 
this use of extended categories is confusing as 
all three categories may look applicable to most 
Kashmiris. Therefore, this confusion outweighs any 
analytical use as all three categories are for one 
community. To avoid this confusion, until the Kashmiri 
category is included in the census, a better form 
of data collection on Kashmiris for DfE and local 
authorities, would be to use Kashmiri as the only 
extended category as advised by the Census Guide 
to identify the ethnic groups which are not included in 
the census.8

7.2. Awareness amongst council service 
providers about the Kashmiri Community 
Results from the survey and face-to-face interviews 
with representatives of different public services in 
Rochdale show that the level of awareness about 
the Kashmiri community is quite low. In total 30 
questionnaires were issued to the staff of different 
council and voluntary sectors, in person and via 
emails, of which 20 were returned completed. The 
survey shows that one of the participants was not 
aware of the existence of Kashmiris in Rochdale. 
About half said that they had some awareness and 
the remaining half said that they were well aware that 
there was a Kashmiri community in Rochdale. 

8	 	Ethnic	Group	Statistics:	A	guide	for	collection	and	classification	of	ethnic	data.	pp:	51-52	available on
file:///C:/Users/User/Downloads/ethnic-group-statistics_tcm77-186499.pdf

Of those who were aware of the community most 
thought there were fewer than 2000 Kashmiris in 
Rochdale. Only two were aware that Pahari was 
spoken by Kashmiris in Rochdale as their mother 
language. Most thought that they spoke Urdu or 
Punjabi. The majority of service providers said that 
they collect data on ethnicity using the National 
Census categories and do not use a Kashmiri category 
on its own or as an extended category. 

Some of these issues were explored further during 
face-to-face	interviews	with	senior	officers	of	some	of	
the public services, including the Police, Health and 
Substance Misuse, and elected council members.

The lack of awareness about the Kashmiri community 
was mainly explained in terms of the monitoring 
system which suggests that there are only two main 
South Asian communities in Rochdale – Pakistanis 
and	Bangladeshis.	In	terms	of	the	first	languages	
of the South Asian communities it is generally 
perceived that Pakistanis speak Urdu and Punjabi 
and Bangladeshis speak Bangla. Most participants 
agreed that the inclusion of a Kashmiri category in 
the ethnic monitoring system would enable services 
to identify trends in relation to engagement and 
accessing the services by the Kashmiri community and 
to spot if there are certain needs and issues that need 
addressing. 

However, it was pointed out that it can be most 
effective if the Kashmiri category was included in the 
National Census as all services at local level use the 
categories used by the National Census. 

… when it comes to submitting data those are the 
categories, only those fields are available within 
the data monitoring system. We do have local 
monitoring but we follow the pattern the national 
data system uses because we have to compare 
data alongside the national database. (Ms. J., Drug 
and Alcohol Action Team, DAAT). 

Some service providers are aware that Kashmiris in 
Rochdale speak a distinct language. For example, 
in the borough’s Literacy Policy devised in 2006, 
Kashmiris are distinctly mentioned as one of the main 
BME communities of the borough who speak Mirpuri 
as their language. 

However, like the ‘Mirpuri Pakistani’ ethnic category 
used by the DfE, there is a problem with the use of 
the Mirpuri language category as Mirpur is just one of 
the areas of Kashmir where this language is spoken. 
As	a	significant	number	of	Kashmiris	in	Rochdale	
and nationally come from other districts who speak 
the same language and the name of that language 
is Pahari of which Mirpuri is one of the dialects. 
Therefore, the recommended name is Pahari. 
The lack of recognition in the ethnic monitoring  
 

7.  K E Y  F I N D I N G S

P
age 69



18 19Unknown and Unseen The needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

system appears to be the major cause of the lack 
of awareness about Kashmiri community amongst 
services.	All	officers	interviewed	stated	that	they	take	
a very proactive approach regarding access to their 
services and community engagement and treat all 
communities equally: 

In terms of the service we provide we are inclusive, 
everybody is welcome and all ethnicities are 
respected so I don’t think we’d be offering 
treatment services differently. (Ms. J. DAAT)

However, currently there is no way of knowing how 
many Kashmiris are using their services or whether 
there	are	any	specific	needs	and	issues	that	they	need	
to be aware of. Subsequently, the awareness amongst 
services	is	anecdotal	or	over-generalised	as	reflected	
in this comment by one participant from DAAT. 

They (Kashmiris) tend not to be communities that 
are misusing drugs and alcohol generally, we’re not 
aware of any Kashmiris accessing our services. (Ms. J)

In	some	interviews	with	officers	and	elected	members	
the wider issues concerning ethnic monitoring also 
came up, for example, should there be categories at 
all in the ethnic monitoring system? 

One strongly presented argument was that ethnicity 
should	be	self-identified	and	the	question	asked	
should be ‘what do you see as your ethnic identity?’ 
Respondents should describe their identity rather 
than be told by someone else or bounded by the list 
of categories. 

It was also discussed that ethnic categories in 
the census about South Asian communities were 
decided on the basis of nation-state status such as 
India, Pakistan, China and Bangladesh, because the 
countries were too diverse to be encompassed in 
any number of categories. An alternative viewpoint 
on this issue was that this approach negates the very 
purpose of the data collection on ethnicity at national 
and local levels, which is to capture the diverse nature 
of our population to identify the trends and patterns, 
as well as issues relating to how communities were 
doing in different aspects of their lives. Therefore, 
categorisation	must	reflect	the	ethnic	composition	of	
Britain and Rochdale rather than that of the countries 
of their origin.  

The inclusion of Kashmiris in the ethnic monitoring 
system was seen more in terms of monitoring the 
issues and service gaps in relation to equality, 
community engagement, inclusion, discrimination, 
community cohesion and integration. Some actually 
went as far as claiming that excluding Kashmiris was:

‘political and discriminatory because they pay 
taxes like any other community and policies for 
service provision must be informed of the needs 
and issues of Kashmiris like all other communities’ 
(Mr N, elected member) 

Currently the system that informs policies is the ethnic 
monitoring system and the exclusion of Kashmiris 
from ethnic monitoring obscures their needs and 
issues, which therefore go unaddressed. This was 
how the issue of Kashmiri inclusion for monitoring 
purposes was summed up by Mr N, who has worked 
with South Asian communities in various capacities 
and in different towns before his current role in 
Rochdale:

‘I think there’s probably less understanding of 
the needs of the Kashmiri community and how 
we address that, I think we have to recognise 
we have to speak to the community. I don’t like 
the term separate, but looking at the Kashmiri 
community as separate means seeing it as having 
its own needs that are different from other 
communities. I don’t know what those needs are 
because no one’s asked the community, so until 
somebody does I don’t know. One of the things 
that always amazes me that I’ve come across here 
is what I would call typical institutional racism 
on the part of some people in the white British 
community, and white councillors and officers. I 
certainly came across it when I was a community 
development officer in another predominantly 
white town, going to an office talking about 
different communities then they’re saying to me, 
‘why can’t they all work together?’ To me that is so 
patronisingly institutionally racist because it’s like 
saying within the white British community you’ve 
got Protestants, Catholics, you’ve got Manchester 
United supporters, Man City supporters, you’ve 
got sports groups, brass bands, are we going to 
lump them all together and say why can’t they all 
work together? ‘Course we’re not. So there is that, 
I think people who say that they don’t think they’re 
being racist by saying things like that, there’s a 
need for more recognition and understanding of 
the Kashmiri community.’ 

Our ‘mini ward census’ shows that the Kashmiri 
population in Rochdale can possibly be five times 
higher than counted in the 2011 Census. While in the 
census a total of 1026 people from the selected wards 
‘wrote in’ Kashmiri, our counting shows that the total 
number of Kashmiris in these wards is 5160. This is two-
thirds of the Pakistani population counted in the 2011 
census (which included Kashmiris). If this two-third 
estimation method is applied to the total Pakistani 
population of Rochdale according to the 2011 census 
which is 22,265, then the total number of Kashmiris in 
Rochdale is more than 14,000. 

Before going into the details of census and ward 
census, this section address some basic questions 
of origins, the when, how and why of the Kashmiri 
community. 

This section is included here in particular because 
several	officers	and	some	young	people	of	Kashmiri	
heritage expressed the need for including this 
basic information about the Kashmiri community in 
Rochdale and about their language and culture. 

I think we’d look forward to your research, so 
we could say well actually did you know this 
percentage of population are Kashmiris, Kashmir 
is a country here, people from Kashmir speak 
this language, for the first generation this is the 
language they speak. (Mr A, Police)

This lack of knowledge about 
Kashmiris	is	not	confined	to	the	
officers	but	also	to	the	younger	
generations of Kashmiris born and 
bred in Britain, who also expressed 
the need for more information 
about their community’s 
background and the history of its 
areas of origin. 

‘Till recently when I was involved 
in a community project from my 
work I knew little about Kashmir 
or Kashmiris and the migration 
of our parents or language and 
cultural issues. I think there should 
be a resource centre with general 
information in different formats.’ 
(Ms P, community member) 

9	 	Schofield,	V.	(2000)	
10  Saraf, Y.M. (1977)
11  For population details, see the Pakistani administered Kashmir webpage http://www.ajk.gov.pk/qStatus.php and the Indian administered Kashmir government 

ENVIS centre available on http://jkenvis.nic.in/administrative_demography.html 
12  Alastair Lamb (2008)
The text of agreement available here: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sino-Pakistan_Agreement 
13 Das, T. ( 1950),

8.1 Origins of Rochdale Kashmiris
Kashmiris are described in this study as those British 
citizens, or permanent residents in Rochdale who or 
their forefathers migrated from any part of Kashmir. 

Kashmir is the commonly used description by British 
Kashmiris for the state of Jammu and Kashmir that was 
founded on 16 March 1846 as an autonomous princely 
state through a Treaty between a local ruler and the 
British East India Company.9 Situated in the North of 
India and Pakistan, currently, the main constituent 
parts of the state include, the Kashmir Valley, Azad 
Kashmir, Jammu, Ladakh and Gilgit Baltistan covering 
an area of 84258 sq. miles (218227 sq. km) 10 and a 
population of nearly 20 million of which an estimated 
two million lives in the diaspora, including nearly 0.7 
million in the UK.11 

Since 1947, the state has remained divided and 
controlled by India and Pakistan. About 60% of 
Kashmir is under Indian control and is referred to 
as (using the United Nations terminology) Indian 
Administered Kashmir (IAK). The remaining 40% is 
controlled by Pakistan and is referred to as Pakistani 
Administered Kashmir (PAK). Some territories of 
Kashmir were taken by China from India in the 1962 
war and around the same period Pakistan presented 
some territories to China.12 The citizens of Kashmir 
across the division line are waiting for the referendum 
promised by India and Pakistan at the United Nations 
in 1948 to determine their political status.13 Internally, 

8 .  W H O  A R E  T H E  R O C H D A L E  K A S H M I R I S  A N D  H O W  M A N Y ?

Figure 4.1. Religions and regions of Kashmir

P
age 70



20 21Unknown and Unseen The needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

Kashmir is a state with multiple identities associated 
with and constructed around regions, religions and 
cultures. The population is made up of the followers 
of all the major religions of South Asia. While Muslims 
form	the	overall	majority,	there	are	significant	
numbers of Hindus, Buddhists, Sikhs and Christians in 
the state. 14

8.2 Languages
Kashmir is a multilingual state with over a dozen 
languages spoken in different regions including 
Pahari (Azad Kashmir) Koshur, Dogri, Gojri, Ladakhi 
(Indian Administered Kashmir) Broshiski, Sheena and 
Balti (Pakistani Administered Kashmir’s Gilgit Baltistan 
region).

Figure 4.2. Languages of Kashmir15

8.3 Labour Migration: The Kashmiri Community 
in Rochdale 
Kashmiri labour migration to Britain started in the 
closing years of the 19th century and took place mainly 
from what became ‘Azad’ (free) Kashmir or Pakistani 
Administered Kashmir. Almost all Kashmiris in 
Rochdale originate from this part of Kashmir, except a 
few families who are from the Kashmir Valley. 

Azad Kashmir is composed of the western strip of 
the Kashmir State with an area of nearly 5000 sq. 
miles and a population of about 5 million people with 
around a 2 million strong diaspora, scattered around 
the globe including an estimated three quarters of a 
million in Britain of which we estimate 14,000 live in 
Rochdale. The Azad Kashmiri population is over 99% 
Muslims	and	speaks	Pahari	as	the	main	first	language	
with Gojri and Koshur also spoken in some regions. 
However, almost all Rochdale Kashmiris speak Pahari  

14  Behera, N.C. (2000)
15  http://www.kashmirlife.net/42-92-lakh-population-speaks-kashmiri-in-entire-jk-claims-x-mita-study-83232/
16  Keay, J. (2010). 
17  Produced from the wool of Pashmina goats or Changthangi inhabiting the plateaus of Ladakh region of the Jammu Kashmir State. 
18  Maskeil, M. (1992).
19  Visram, R. (2005)
20  Saraf, Y. (1977).
21  Ballard, R. (2005) 
22  Ibid. 
23  Desai, R. (1963)

as their home language whilst some families also 
speak Gojri. 

The British links with Kashmir existed long before 
the	labour	migration	from	Azad	Kashmir.	The	first	
‘material’ link between Britain and Kashmir was 
through Kashmiri Shawls, initiated within years of the 
East Indian Company establishing itself in India.16 
The Pashmina17 shawls became a status symbol for 
royal and upper class British women soon after the 
Company started business with India in the 17th 
century.18

The earliest Kashmiris in Britain were also from the 
Valley of Kashmir. Their presence in Britain can be 
traced as far back as the early decades of the 19th 
century.	The	first	recorded	Kashmiri	in	Britain	was	

Nazir Begum who married a British 
colonial	army	officer,	Major	Thomas	
Alexander Cobb (1788-1836) and 
came to Britain.19 Although no dates 
are given of her arrival, it seems it 
must have been many years before the 
demise of the Major. Another Kashmiri 
woman who also married a British 
colonial	army	officer	Col.	Robert	
Thorpe was called Jani and she came 
to Britain in the 1830s.20

The labour migration from Kashmir 
to Britain started in the closing years 
of the 19th century, when men from 
Mirpur who worked as stokers in the 
coal rooms of the British Merchant 

Navy ships left their scorching hot workplaces to try 
their luck in the freezing cold British coastal towns.21

The next channel of Kashmiri labour migration to 
Britain was through the British army, which comprised 
the thousands of Kashmiris who fought in the First and 
Second World Wars alongside a million soldiers from 
British India. From local oral history it appears that 
after the wars some Kashmiris stayed in Britain.22

 The invasion by India and Pakistan in Kashmir in 
October 1947 caused widespread displacement of 
Kashmiris from Mirpur that came under Pakistani 
control and from Jammu city that became Indian 
controlled. Many of these internally and externally 
displaced Kashmiris later migrated to Britain through 
their contacts with the British Kashmiri migrants.23

By the mid-1950s, the migration from Mirpur 
developed into a ‘chain process’ which meant that 
people from Mirpur and its surrounding areas came  

to Britain through their existing contacts in Britain, 
forming chains of related migrants. By the late 
1950s and early 1960s several thousand more 
Kashmiris from Mirpur came to Britain to beat the 
restrictions that were to be introduced in the 1962 
Immigration Act.24 Including those who came to 
work in the textile industry in Rochdale, Oldham 
and other towns of Lancashire.25 The 1968 and 1970 
Immigration Acts which reduced migration from 
Commonwealth countries to children under sixteen 
accompanied with their mothers gave rise to the 
migration of Kashmiri families. 26

From the 1980s onwards, migration from Mirpur 
was mainly of spouses and older relatives. Recently, 
a	significant	number	of	Kashmiris	from	Poonch	
and Muzaffarabad districts have come to Britain as 
skilled labour and students.27 Today, three and in 
some cases four generations of Kashmiris live with 
different experiences and expectations in their new 
homes in numerous towns across Britain, including 
Rochdale. 28

8.4 Historical context of the marginalisation 
and invisibility of Kashmiris in Britain
While the primary purpose of this study was to look 
into the impacts of perceived Kashmiri exclusion 
from the equality and diversity framework in 
contemporary Britain, it seems important to have 
a quick overview of the historical and political 
context to which the roots of the exclusion and 
marginalisation of British Kashmiris can be traced. 

Although, Azad (free) Kashmir has all the governance 
institutions of an independent country including 
a Prime Minister, President, legislative assembly, 
national	flag,	national	anthem	and	supreme	court	
since 194729, the power lies with Pakistan through a 
multi-layered mechanism of control including Kashmir 
Council, Intelligence agencies, national curriculum 
and religious institutions.30 

Many participants in our study pointed out to 
this unequal relationship between Pakistan and 
Azad Kashmir, combined with the disputed nature 
of Kashmir as one of the causes of Kashmiris’ 
marginalisation and lack of recognition in Britain. 
This means that Azad Kashmir remains a neglected 
and marginalised area in terms of development. In 
terms of resources Azad Kashmir is rich in water with 
huge potential for hydroelectricity (up to 20,000 MW) 
and sizeable foreign exchange because of the high 
migrant population.31 However, the Azad Kashmir 

24  Shaw, A. (2000)
25  Kalra, V.S. (2000).
26  Ballard, R. op. cit.
27  Kalra, V.S. op. cit. 
28  Rehman, S. (2011) 
29  http://ajkcs.gov.pk/ 
30  UN Report on Kashmir available on https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=23198&LangID=E 
31  https://www.dawn.com/news/1115921
32  Human Rights Watch report (2006), available here https://books.google.co.uk/books?id=99WTTyxnkDYC&pg=PA28&lpg=PA28&dq=with+friends+like+these 

+kashmir&source=bl&ots=ElrSclXVKl&sig=5D6SQw17LSTfpSCHhUWDBZQz4bc&hl=en&sa=X&ved=0ahUKEwikt6Llu8jXAhVDKcAKHdZrAh8Q6AEIVTAM#v= 
onepage&q=with%20friends%20like%20these%20kashmir&f=false.

33  Casey report (2016) available here https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/575973/ 
The_Casey_Review_Report.pdf 

government has little control over or say in the use of 
these resources. 32

This unequal relationship between the Pakistani and 
Azad Kashmir governments appears to have been 
gradually replicated here in Britain. Since Kashmiris 
from ‘Azad’ Kashmir travelled on Pakistani passports 
they	were	classified	as	Pakistanis	in	the	British	Equality	
and Ethnic monitoring structures initially in the Racial 
Equality Council and later in the National Censuses. 
Subsequently, they were represented by Pakistanis 
who were more likely to be from middle-class urban 
backgrounds. This had the effect of turning Kashmiris 
into a silent or silenced majority within the Pakistani 
ethnic minority in Britain. The areas in Bradford and 
Birmingham	identified	in	the	Casey	Report	as	most	
segregated are overwhelmingly Kashmiri areas 
but are described as Pakistani due to the lack of 
recognition of their Kashmiri identity.33

This research shows that Kashmiris could not 
challenge this marginality and invisibility until recently 

Figure 4.3. Azad Kashmir, the ancestral home of 
over 99% British KashmirisP

age 71



22 23Unknown and Unseen The needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

due to a range of factors. One of the repeatedly 
mentioned reasons was the predominant intention 
amongst early arrivals that they would go back once 
they	had	earned	sufficient	money	to	start	life	back	in	
Kashmir. However, from the 1970s, when they realised 
that going back was not an option, their marginalised 
position became the major factor in their inability 
to assert their Kashmiri identity in British public 
spaces and institutions. Lack of representation in, 
and access to, the policy making levels led to further 
marginalisation. 

Politically,	the	first	and	second	generations	spent	
a great deal of their energies and resources in the 
politics of the ‘Kashmir Question’ aimed at liberating 
Kashmir. Even today those generations of Kashmiris 
who migrated from Kashmir are more engaged with 
the politics of Kashmir than with British politics and 
community development programmes. 

Some signs of change can however be noted in 
the position of British Kashmiris over the past few 
decades.	A	significant	increase	in	the	participation	of	
Kashmiris in British politics, at both local and national 
levels, an increasing number of Kashmiri businesses 
and more Kashmiris in local and national government 
offices	are	some	key	signs	of	this	change.	

It appears that some British Kashmiris, mainly second 
and third generation, who managed to gain some 
access to British public institutions and local politics 
and had better awareness of the Equality and Inclusion 
issues started realising the impacts of exclusion from 
the ethnic monitoring systems on the community. As 
one of the participants in this research stated, although 
there is still a widespread perception that asking for 
equality and inclusion is asking for a favour, more 
people now understand that this is not the case: 

‘We are not asking for any favours or special 
treatment. We are asking for equal treatment 
on par with other British communities as we pay 
all the taxes like other communities and it is our 
right to be treated equally and fairly.’ (P: Akhtar, a 
Kashmiri professional who grew up in Rochdale 
since arriving as a teenager in the 1970s) 

It is this background context in which Kashmiris in 
Britain and in Rochdale experience exclusion and 
marginalisation. Evidence has also emerged from this 
research	that	they	also	face	a	significant	degree	of	
stigma and prejudice within South Asian communities. 
They are viewed and treated by some Pakistanis and 
Indians as backwards, commoners and illiterate. Their 
language is described as ‘no language’ and their 
history and heritage are seen as non-existent. The 
popular identity of ‘Mirpuri,’ which participants stated 
was sometimes abbreviated to ‘MP’ or ‘Mip’ was used 
to denigrate British Kashmiris with emphasis that they 
are Mirpuris and not Kashmiris. 

In an event organised for this research, Dr Serena 
Hussain, a British born Kashmiri academic expressed 
how she discovered this discrimination while studying 
for her PhD at Oxford University:

‘Two things are definite without any doubt. There 
is widespread stigmatisation of this diaspora 
community and stereotyping and othering of this 
community. This happened within other South 
Asians particularly those from Pakistani Punjab. It 
is a common theme coming up in social media that 
people are telling the people of AJK how to speak 
properly because they could not speak Punjabi 
well, or alleging that they are calling themselves 
Kashmiris but were not Kashmiris because they 
did not hail from the Valley. So, there are all these 
things coming up, sort of disputing their identity. 
Subsequent studies show that people from Azad 
Kashmir could not actually say who they were or 
what language they spoke. Now to me as a young 
person who is battling with issues around heritage, 
if you can’t even say who you are and you can’t 
even say what language you speak, or to defend 
the right to speak that language because people 
are telling you that this is not your language then 
there is something really wrong. This confusion 
then has impact on the service provision for this 
community.’ 

She used this quote from an online ‘debate’ to 
highlight the prejudice about Pahari Mirpuri language. 

‘I hope Allah Speedens (sic) language change so 
that Mirpuri is erased. No one understands you. 
What a joke of a dialect that is trying to pass off as 
a language.’

These kinds of extreme views are said be to be rare 
in Rochdale, but do exist and indicate the level of 
prejudice against Kashmiris.

Just as it is important to understand the migration 
history of Kashmiris living in Rochdale it is equally 
significant	to	understand	their	local	socio-economic	
background in Rochdale. 

Rochdale rose to prominence in the 19th century as 
a mill town and centre for textile manufacture during 
the Industrial Revolution. It was a booming town 
of	the	Industrial	Revolution,	and	amongst	the	first	
industrialised towns. The socioeconomic change 
brought by the success of Rochdale’s textile industry 
in the 19th century led to its rise to borough status 
and it remained a dominant settlement in its region. 
However, during the 20th century Rochdale’s spinning 
capacity declined towards an eventual halt.34

In 2011, Rochdale had a population of 107,926, which 
has increased from 95,796 in 2001. In 2011, 34.8% of 
Rochdale’s population were non-white British. 

Over the last 20 years, the borough has faced 
significant	economic	challenges.	Whilst	some	parts	
of	Greater	Manchester	have	experienced	significant	
economic growth, others including Rochdale have 
experienced	a	significant	loss	in	job	numbers	–	
8000 in the past 10 years, predominantly from the 
traditional manufacturing sector. Between 2009 and 
2013 Rochdale experienced an 8.8% decline in total 
full-time equivalent jobs.35

Rochdale has had a low business start-up rate and 
low business stock compared to most other parts 
of Greater Manchester, although the borough 
has 1500 more businesses than 10 years ago. 
Notwithstanding other key drivers, e.g. skill levels, 
this	represents	a	significant	drag	on	the	economy	in	
terms of productivity, output and economic growth. 
The borough’s economy has been over-dependent 
on low-skilled, low-wage manufacturing and more 
than 95% of businesses are small and medium sized 
enterprises. 

Ongoing restructuring of the manufacturing sector 
will mean a move towards higher value-added 
manufacturing businesses, which will need people 
with higher skills to be successful, along with modern 
premises and new development opportunities. The 
borough’s reliance on traditional manufacturing 
industries has left a legacy of old commercial 
properties, many of which are in close proximity to 
residential areas and unsuited to the needs of the 
modern economy.

34	 	McNeil,	R.	&	Nevell,	M.	(2000).
35  Pike, A. et al (2016). 
36  ibid 
37  ibid

Residents’ skills have increased at all levels and 
the	number	of	residents	with	no	qualifications	
has fallen by 6,700 in the last 10 years. However, 
this modest improvement is below the Greater 
Manchester and national rate of improvement in skill 
levels and employers continue to cite employability 
and technical skills as a brake on productivity 
improvement and growth. Of particular concern are 
technical	skills	at	all	levels	with	a	good	proficiency	
in English and command over Maths. Rochdale is in 
the bottom 10 cities for the proportion of those aged 
16 to 64 years with a degree in 2011.36 Wages for 
both borough residents and workers in the borough 
who reside elsewhere, have increased but at a lower 
rate than the regional and national rates. Rochdale 
was	identified	as	the	town	that	had	experienced	the	
highest levels of relative decline in the nation between 
2001 and 2011.37 

However, in the last 10 years the borough has 
seen new transport infrastructure and improved 
connectivity to Manchester City Centre, the continued 
development	of	the	regionally	significant	Kingsway	
Business Park, improved educational attainment 
levels, and a focus on supporting employment 
generating business growth. Yet despite this, there 
are	pockets	of	significant	deprivation	in	the	borough	
where	unemployment	levels	are	significantly	above	
both the national and Greater Manchester average 
levels.

9.  T H E  S O C I O - E C O N O M I C  C O N T E X T  I N  R O C H D A L E

P
age 72



24 25Unknown and Unseen The needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

This section looks further into the issues of the ethnic 
classification	of	Kashmiris	and	their	first	language	
‘Pahari,’ in relation to monitoring and service provision. 
It also includes the views of participants on the lack 
of recognition and inclusion of Kashmiri identity and 
Pahari language and how these are contributory factors 
in the lack of effective service provision, service access 
and community engagement. 

10.1 Kashmiri category and Service Provision
Defining	and	measuring	ethnicity	and	national	identity	
has never been easy, especially as these terms are 
constantly evolving. However, it is vitally important 
that we do measure ethnicity and national identity and 
that we do so in a way that is, sensitive, relevant and 
useful. We also need this to be consistent over some 
period of time, so that a clear picture of minorities 
in contemporary Britain can be constructed. In the 
current monitoring environment, according to the 
Office	for	National	Statistics	(ONS),	“some	of	the	
groups in society that are the most vulnerable to 
becoming victims of social exclusion are forgotten 
simply because not enough is known about their 
particular circumstances.”38

The	first	Race	Relation	Act	was	introduced	in	1965	
which made discrimination on the grounds of colour, 
race, ethnicity and nationality unlawful. Subsequently, 
ethnic data was required to monitor equality of 
opportunities and discrimination. Different categories 
were tried in different systems of data collection at 
different levels. However, ethnic categories were not 
included in the National Census until 1991. 

Currently, the ethnic categories used in the Census for 
Asians are actually based on the countries of origin 
or the ‘nation-states’ including Indian, Pakistanis, 
Bangladeshis and Chinese. There is no category for 
Kashmiris. Subsequently, Kashmiris from the Pakistani 
Administered Kashmir (PAK) have to choose either the 
Pakistani category or use the option of ‘Other’ and 
‘write in’ Kashmiri. Similarly, Kashmiris from the Indian 
Administered Kashmir (IAK), choose Indian or tick 
‘Other’ and write in Kashmiri.

As can be seen from the examples included in the 
previous section, the distinct sense of being Kashmiri 
existed in the generations that came from Kashmir, 
but they failed to have it included in the ethnic 
monitoring and transfer it to the next generations 
because of several reasons including:

cc Lack of understanding of the concepts and politics 
of racial and ethnic equality 

38 ONS, (2003) Ethnic group statistics: A guide for the collection and classification of ethnicity data available on
file:///C:/Users/User/Downloads/ethnic-group-statistics_tcm77-186499.pdf

cc Lack of access to policy and planning departments 
of the state at local and national levels.
cc Lack of awareness of the ethnic monitoring systems 

and its link with equality of opportunity and service 
provision.

Mr. Shabir, who led the way in the formation of the 
Kashmiri Youth Association and later Kashmir Youth 
Project in Rochdale in the early 1980s, had this to say 
in response to a question about why Kashmiris did 
not petition service providers to include a Kashmiri 
category in their monitoring systems: 

‘We were aware of the racial discrimination and 
also understood the internal prejudices and bias, 
but to be honest we did not think of campaigning 
for the inclusion of the Kashmiri category because 
we were not aware that ethnic data at that level 
could be collected.’

The Kashmiri category was locally used in some other 
local authorities including Luton, Pendle and Bradford 
in the 1990s. Later a Kashmiri Identity Campaign was 
formed at the national level which took the case of 
Kashmiri	inclusion	to	the	National	Census	offices	and	
both houses of parliament. An Early Day Motion by 
Bradford MP Marsha Singh in 1999 was followed by a 
motion tabled by Baroness Emma Nicholson in House 
of Lords in 2007 and later an adjournment debate by 
the Rochdale MP Simon Denczuk in 2014. 

A Kashmiri category is still not included in the National 
Census because in the pre-census consultation Arab 
and Traveller categories were deemed to be more 
important to include than Kashmiris. However, another 
round of piloting was planned for 2017.

From	the	very	first	focus	group	of	this	research	project	
it has been repeatedly noted that the key barrier for 
Kashmiris to be treated on par with other communities 
is the inclusion of a Kashmiri category in the ethnic 
monitoring system in Rochdale by the Council and all 
its partner agencies. 

The main argument for inclusion was that without having 
a Kashmiri category on ethnic monitoring forms across 
all departments and services, the Council cannot have 
the proper data required to have meaningful information 
about the needs and issues of this community. 

It was summed up by one Mr Mushtaq as follows: 

‘We know from our everyday experiences here that 
Kashmiris are suffering more from poverty, heart 

related problems, diabetes, depression and so on 
but because they are included under the Pakistani 
category, the relevant actions taken by the 
government to address these issues cannot have 
full impact as the channels and agencies through 
which health awareness or any consultation is 
carried out hardly reaches the people, who have 
poor language skills and need to be targeted with 
specific language and cultural skills and expertise.’ 

Similar points were raised about crime. Some 
participants claimed that if there was clear monitoring 
then the majority of the ‘Pakistanis’ arrested, charged 
and convicted of a range of crimes, especially drug 
related ones, would turn out to be Kashmiris. Mr 
Mushtaq said it was ‘because they don’t know much 
about us and we find it hard to explain.’ 

Mr Parvez claimed that lack of recognition of a 
Kashmiri identity was not merely a barrier between 
the community and relevant services but also 
linked it with other issues that hindered community 
development and integration in present day Britain:

‘Because of the lack of recognition of Kashmiri 
identity, Kashmiris try to cling to their clan 
identities for self-respect, especially first and 
second generation Kashmiries, but the tendency 
can also be seen in the generation born here. 
However, the scope and space for clan identity 
is confined within the community and we remain 
confused about our identity outside of the 
community circles. That is why it is very important 
for authorities here to recognise Kashmiri identity 
to boost the self-confidence of Kashmiris and 
enhance self-respect. That is essential to overcome 
negative self-perception and introversion that is 
rife in the Kashmiri community.’ 

10.2 Language and service provision 
Language is important for service delivery, especially 
for those people of minority communities, including 
women, who, for a range of reasons, can often 
communicate only in their native language. While the 
younger generation of Kashmiris speak English as 
their	first	language	or	as	a	second	language	but	with	
great	fluency,	a	significant	number	of	older	men	and	
women have very little spoken or written English skills 
and equally limited Urdu skills. They need language 
support to use various public services including 
health, education and CJS services. 

Data	from	the	KiRS	(figure	6.1)	show	that	25%	of	
Kashmiri respondents have none or have very 
poor spoken English skills when compared to 5% 
of Pakistanis and 21% of Bangladeshis. In terms of 
reading and writing, nearly 35% of Kashmiris have 
poor language competence in comparison to 11% 
of Pakistanis and 21% of Bangladeshis. The main 
reasons highlighted in the research include the lack of 
English learning opportunities and capabilities of the 
older Kashmiri men and women, and a lack of Pahari 

speaking English teachers. 

Several participants repeatedly asked for the full 
recognition of the Pahari language which is also called 
Mirpuri	in	Britain.	As	the	findings	of	the	Services	
Survey highlight, the level of awareness amongst the 
services about the language of Rochdale Kashmiris 
is very low. Most services, even those who are aware 
of	the	presence	of	a	significant	Kashmiri	community	
in Rochdale, know little about the language of their 
local population of Kashmiri background. Many 
participants were not aware that some interpreting 
and translation services do provide language support 
in	Pahari/	Mirpuri.	Thus,	when	they	needed	language	
support, they asked for Punjabi or Urdu languages 
instead. 

Figure 6.1. Proportion of people with poor English language 
competence by ethnic group

Source: KiRS

The	stigma	attached	to	the	Pahari/Mirpuri	language	
within South Asian communities in Rochdale 
strengthens the barriers for the Kashmiri community 
to access language services. Service providers 
assume Kashmiris speak Urdu or Punjabi which makes 
it	difficult	to	provide	services	in	Pahari/Mirpuri	when	
needed. The following example provided by Mr 
Aslam, one of the focus group participants, who is a 
professional interpreter highlights this point: 

‘I was sitting in a hospital waiting room when I 
heard the receptionist trying to communicate 
with an older lady who spoke pure Pahari. The 
receptionist then shouted if anyone could help 
her in communicating with the lady. One man 
in his 30s stood up and provided high quality 
interpreting in Pahari. As soon as he returned to 
his seat the receptionist came to him and asked 
which language did you speak because I have 
to book an interpreter for her appointment next 
week. The helpful man said ‘Urdu’. I looked up 
surprisingly and asked the man ‘you spoke Pahari 
for the lady didn’t you? 
‘Yes’, he said adding ‘but what will she (the 
receptionist) know about Pahari? 
Well I am sure she will when you tell her. 
He then went and told the receptionist that the 
lady spoke Pahari Mirpuri.’ 

1 0 .  K A S H M I R I S  A N D  E T H N I C  M O N I T O R I N G

P
age 73



26 27Unknown and Unseen The needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

Mr Suleman, a social worker also highlighted the 
confusion about and stigmatisation of the language 
of Rochdale Kashmiris. His story also highlights 
the importance of professionals from the Kashmiri 
community as well: 

‘I went to a family visit with the information that 
they were a Pakistani family who spoke Urdu. But 
when I went there they were actually Kashmiris 
and spoke Pahari. If I had not been of similar 
background, I would not have realised it. Some 
service users, carers and professionals are now 
more aware but most are still unaware and people 
don’t have the confidence to speak up and say 
that they speak Pahari. Due to this stigma around 
Pahari they claim that they speak Urdu when asked, 
rather than saying Pahari even when they can’t 
speak any language other than Pahari.’ 

Dr Serena Hussain, in her presentation at a community 
event regarding this research, narrated her own 
journey to learn about her mother language (Pahari). 
She described that this confusion and stigma had its 
roots	in	the	classification	of	Pahari	by	academics	and	
services as Punjabi, mainly due to Punjabi speaking 
Pakistanis telling British Kashmiris from Azad Kashmir 
that they cannot speak Punjabi and their language is 
not a language and is merely a ‘ jungle language’. 

This bias causes problems for services in providing 
the correct language support. This was explained 
well from a service provision point of view by Mr 
Zaman who worked as manager for a translation and 
interpreting service: 

‘Initially there was only Urdu for all Pakistanis 
including for Bangladeshis before 1971. Then 
Punjabi was added and recently some language 
services have included Pahari and Pothwari as 
well. But there is not enough awareness amongst 
the Kashmiri community that they can ask for 
interpreting services in Pahari. They are so used 
to the Urdu and Punjabi categories that it appears 
from the feedback we get from our interpreters that 
most Kashmiris in Greater Manchester still say that 
they speak Urdu or Punjabi when actually they can’t 
speak or fully understand any of these languages 
properly and speak Pahari. So sometimes when we 
send Urdu and/or Punjabi speaking interpreters 
they cannot communicate, and we have to re-
arrange the appointment be it with health or with 
social services. This of course causes a waste of our 
professionals’ time and resources.’ 

Other participants shared their stories showing that 
services also sometimes assume that all Kashmiris 
can speak Urdu or Punjabi and provide interpreters 
in these languages rather than Pahari. The point was 
made that those Kashmiris who can communicate in  
Urdu are those who have learnt Urdu in schools in  
 
39  Ballard, Roger (1983)
40  Also see the report ‘Pakistani Muslim Communities in Britain, by the Department of Communities and Local Government 2009. 

Kashmir and they are also more likely to be able to 
speak English as well. The people from the Kashmiri 
community who need help with language are mostly 
those	who	cannot	speak	or	read	Urdu	and/or	Punjabi,	
especially	the	first	and	second-generation	women	
and those who came recently as spouses and had had 
little	exposure	to	Urdu	and/or	Punjabi	languages.	

Mr Ashfaq’s experience is just one of many told by 
different participants about their mothers and fathers, 
especially in relation to medical appointments: 

‘My father needed language help at one of 
his health appointments. However, we ended 
up rearranging that twice because once the 
interpreter sent was an Urdu speaker who my 
father could not communicate with at all. The 
second time it was a Punjabi speaker who also 
struggled. My father understood bits and bats of 
what they said but they could not understand what 
my father was saying.’ 

10.3. The Numbers: How Many Kashmiris are 
there in Rochdale? 
Our research estimates that the number of Kashmiris 
in our selected wards are up to nine times more than 
counted in the National Census 2011. To understand 
this	finding,	it	is	important	to	understand	the	formula	
we have devised for this research to enumerate the 
number of Kashmiris. We feel that having accurate 
estimates of the number of Kashmiris living in 
Rochdale will help to improve service planning and 
provision	to	reflect	the	demographic	composition	of	
the borough. 

Currently, the Census is the only source of data to 
get an idea of the number of Kashmiris living in 
Rochdale	and	in	Britain.	However,	since	a	pre-defined	
Kashmiri category is not included in the Census 
question on ethnicity, Kashmiris can be counted only 
if they choose the option of ‘Other’ in the census 
form and then ‘write-in’ Kashmiri. This is called self-
identification.	

In the 2011 Census 1658 people from Rochdale 
identified	themselves	as	Kashmiris	choosing	the	
option of ‘Other’ under the broader category of 
Asian/British	Asian.	Of	these,	1026	lived	in	our	
selected wards. So, if we look at the ratio of Kashmiris 
and Pakistanis using the Census data in these wards it 
would appear as shown in Table 6.1. 

Roger Ballard claimed in the 1980s that up to two-
thirds of Pakistanis living in Britain were actually 
Kashmiris.39 Several scholars of migration and 
ethnicity later reinforced this claim in various studies 
that a large majority amongst Pakistanis are actually 
from ‘Azad’ (free) Kashmir.40 In general, community 
claims align with those made by academics. 
 

Therefore,	the	first	challenge	for	this	study	was	to	
devise a method to make a reliable estimate of the 
Kashmiri population in Rochdale. As noted above in 
the	methods	section,	due	to	the	time	and	financial	
constraints of this project, it was not possible to cover 
the entire borough. To circumvent this, we decided to 
select those wards where the population of Kashmiris 
was perceived as relatively high. We selected three 
such wards: Smallbridge, Central and Spotland. 
Census data and electoral registers were the two main 
sources of data used to enumerate the number of 
Kashmiris in these wards. 

Census data showed that there are 1026 Kashmiris in 
the three wards, which is 62% of the total number of 
Kashmiris counted in Rochdale in the 2011 Census. 

As explained in more detail in the methods section, 
the	first	step	in	developing	the	formula	to	estimate	
the total population of Kashmiris, we counted the total 
number of Kashmiris on the electoral register which 
came to 3969. This is nearly four times greater than the 
self-identified	figure	in	the	Census.	

Since voter registers record only those people who 
are	18	or	over,	the	above	figure	did	not	include	any	
Kashmiris under the age of 18 in the selected wards. 
To	find	out	the	total	number	we	needed	to	know	the	
number of Kashmiris under the age of 18. There were 
two options available to undertake this. In theory 
we could visit each household and count people 
under 18. However, it was not possible do to this 
within the time available for this project. Instead we 
calculated the percentage of the total population of 
the ward registered on electoral rolls which is 30%. 
We applied that percentage to Kashmiris which gave 
us	an	additional	figure	of	1191.	Adding	that	figure	to	

the total number counted from the electoral registers 
(3969) gave us the total number of Kashmiris in the 
selected	wards	which	is	5159,	five	times	greater	than	
the numbers counted in the 2011 census (1026). These 
figures	are	presented	in	table	6.2.	

In light of the above data it can be safely argued 
that only a fraction of Kashmiris in Rochdale used 
the option of ‘Other’ and ‘wrote-in’ Kashmiri in the 
National Census. For example, in our selected wards 
a total of 1026 people used the option of ‘Other’ and 
wrote-in Kashmiri in the 2011 census. However, our 
counting of Kashmiris from electoral rolls and Census 
data in these three wards shows that there are at least 
5159 people of Kashmiri heritage in these wards. 
We	have	come	up	with	this	figure	through	the	above	
mentioned method, particularly developed for this 
project. This can be used for reliable estimates of 
the Kashmiri community in any electoral ward across 
Britain. 

The next crucial question for this report was to 
estimate the ratio of Kashmiris to Pakistanis in 
the selected wards. This is necessary to provide a 
relatively accurate picture to local authorities and 
partner public bodies so that they can readjust their 
policies and service provision to make them more 
reflective	of	the	population	they	serve.	

This was done by using the simple subtraction 
method. The number of Kashmiris counted by our 
method was subtracted from the total number of 
Pakistanis counted in the last census in each selected 
ward. The result, as shown in table 6.3, is that more 
than	two	thirds	of	those	previously	identified	as	
Pakistanis in the Census data for our selected wards 
are actually Kashmiris. 

Table 6.1 number and percentage of Pakistanis and Kashmiris in the 2011 Census

Ward Total Population Pakistanis (N) Pakistanis (%) Kashmiris (N) Kashmiris(%)

Central 11304 3412 30 541 4,8

Smallbridge and Firgrove 11469 1815 16 314 2.7

Spotland and Falinge 10805 2236 21 171 1.6

Total 33578 7463 22.2 1026 3.05

Source: UK Census, 2011

Table 6.2 The calculation of the total number of Kashmiris in given wards

Ward Name Total population 
2011 census

Kashmiri Write In 
2011 census

Total Voters on 
Electoral Rolls

Counted number 
of Kashmiris

Under 18 
Kashmiris

Total number 
of Kashmiris

Central 11304 541 7436 1712 514 2226

Smallbridge 
and Firgrove 11469 314 8095 954 286 1240

Spotland and 
Falinge 10805 171 8140 1303 391 1694

TOTAL 33578 1026 23671 3969 1191 5160

P
age 74



28 29Unknown and Unseen The needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

Based on this formula one way of calculating the total 
number of Kashmiris in Rochdale is to multiply the 
number	of	self-identified	Kashmiris	in	the	national	
census	by	five	which	will	be	1658	x	5	=	8,290.	
However, this calculation is based on the assumption 
that	the	same	percentage	of	Kashmiris	self-identified	
themselves as Kashmiri in all wards. Whereas, the 
trend is clearly different in all three of our selected 
wards.	For	example,	24%	Kashmiris	self-identified	in	
Central ward, 25% in Smallbridge and only 10% in 
Spotland ward. Therefore, to get the closest estimate 
using this formula, an essential component is counting 
the total number of Kashmiris using the electoral rolls, 
and then adding 30% for under 18s. 

The alternative method to estimate the Kashmiri 
population is to use the ‘Two Third’ method based 
on the estimation provided by Ballard.41 This means 
that two third of the Pakistanis counted in the Census 
are actually Kashmiris. For example, in Rochdale 
borough the total population of Pakistanis in 2011 
Census was counted at 22,265. If we use this simple 
method, we estimate that there are 14,847 Kashmiris 
in Rochdale, which is nine times more than those who 
self-identified	in	the	last	census.	

41  Ballard, Roger (1983)

This section offers a detailed discussion of the 
findings	about	the	social,	economic	and	cultural	
needs of Kashmiris in Rochdale including 
employment, health, education, crime, culture and 
community infrastructure based on qualitative and 
quantitative data gathered for this research. 

Quantitative data are based on relevant Census data 
and data from around 500 participants in the KiRS 
of which 51% were male and 48% female. While the 
majority	of	the	respondents	identified	Asian/British	
as their main ethnic group (90%) there were also 10% 
White participants. Within the Asian group 59% were 
Kashmiris, 27% Pakistani and 10% were of Bangladeshi 
heritage. In terms of the ages of the respondents in 
the KiRS there was a wide range of ages from 16 to 50 
years. The age groups from different communities are 
presented in table 7.1. 

Our qualitative data are based on 20 semi-
structured interviews with different people of the 
community representing different ages, genders and 
occupational backgrounds and 3 focus groups in 
which 30 people participated. It also includes some 
information	from	informal	‘participant	conversations/
discussions,’ including one with a contingent of 
Kashmiri political activists on a return journey from 
Rochdale to London. Views and quotes presented in 
this section are drawn from the participants and most 
of the names are changed or abbreviated to protect 
the anonymity of the participants. 

A list of the important issues and needs of the 
Kashmiri community was given by the participants in 
face-to-face	interviews	and	quantified	through	the	
KiRS.	The	data	presented	in	figure	7.1	show	that	a	lack	
of job opportunities was the most important issue 
reported by the Kashmiri respondents. 

42  Note. Figures do not add up to 100% as respondents could chose up to 3 issues. 

This was followed by poverty, lack of educational 
opportunities, religious radicalisation, criminal gangs, 
anti-social behaviour, lack of opportunities for women, 
lack	of	representation	in	local	councils,	discrimination/
prejudice, child sex grooming, lack of local services 
and poor transport connections. 

Figure 7.1. The most important issues facing the Kashmiri 
Community.42

Source: KiRS

The priorities stated by the respondents of different 
communities are presented in table 7.2. The common 
element is the lack of job opportunities, poverty and 
lack of educational opportunities. This indicates that 
any measure aimed at improving community cohesion 
could focus on general improvements in socio-
economic conditions for all. 

Table 6.3. Actual numbers of Pakistanis and Kashmiris in the selected wards

Ward Pakistanis in 
2011 census

Kashmiris counted in 
the Ward Census

Percentage of 
Pakistani community 

that is Kashmiri

Revised number 
of Pakistanis

Percentage of the 
Pakistani community 

that is Pakistani

Central 3412 2226 65% 1186 35%

Smallbridge 
and Firgrove 1815 1240 68% 575 32%

Spotland and 
Falinge 2236 1694 76% 542 24%

Total 7463 5160 69% 2303 31%

Source: Electoral register, selected wards in Rochdale

Table 6.4. Percentage of Kashmiris used Write-In option in the 2011 Census

Ward Self-Identified	
Kashmiris in Census

Estimated real number  
of Kashmiris

Percentage of Kashmiris who  
self-identified	in	the	Census

Central 541 2226 24%

Smallbridge and Firgrove 314 1240 25%

Spotland and Falinge 171 1694 10%

TOTAL 1026 5160 18%

11.  N E E D S  A N D  I S S U E S

Table 7.1. Kashmiris in Rochdale Survey (KiRS) participants by ethnicity and age groups

Ethnicity 16-24 25-34 35-49 50+

Kashmiri 30% 19% 32% 20%

Pakistani 30% 29% 35% 6%

Bangladeshi 36% 32% 25% 7%

White 33% 30% 30% 7%

Source: KiRS

P
age 75



30 31Unknown and Unseen The needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

Table 7.2: Major issues cited facing different communities

Kashmiri Pakistani Bangladeshi White

Lack of job opportunities Lack of job opportunities Lack of job opportunities Lack of job opportunities

Poverty Lack of educational 
opportunities

Lack of educational 
opportunities

Lack of educational 
opportunities

Religious radicalisation Criminal gangs Poverty Religious radicalisation

Lack of educational 
opportunities Poverty Lack of opportunities for 

women Poverty

Criminal gangs Anti-social behaviour Anti-social behaviour Lack of opportunities for 
women

Child sex grooming (CSE) Religious radicalisation Lack of representation in the 
local council

Lack of representation in the 
local council

Discrimination/prejudice Lack of representation in the 
local council Religious radicalisation Child sex grooming (CSE)

Anti-social behaviour Discrimination/prejudice Discrimination/prejudice Poor transport connections

Lack of opportunities for 
women

Lack of opportunities for 
women Lack of local services Discrimination/prejudice

Lack of representation in the 
local council Lack of local services Poor transport connections Lack of local services

Lack of local services Child sex grooming (CSE) Criminal gangs Criminal gangs

Poor transport connections Poor transport connections Child sex grooming (CSE) Anti-social behaviour

Figure 7.3: The proportion of people who have done no 
paid work in the past 7 days by ethnic group and gender

Source: KiRS.

A number of possible explanations for these low 
rates of employment emerged from our qualitative 
research with community members. As discussed in 
the background section above, the early arrivals from 
Kashmir between the 1950s and 1970s consisted of 
agrarian mountainous people, mainly men or young 
boys. The dominant thinking of this generation was 
to go back to Kashmir after a few years. Therefore, 
the main priority was to work in mills as long hours 
were available and only a few thought about looking 
for any work, education or business beyond the mills 
and factories. They did not even buy houses because 
that was seen as a waste of money as they were not 
planning on staying in Britain. 

Although there were many active mills in those days, 
employment was not easy for all new arrivals. Mr Nazir, 
now a pensioner in his 80s came to Rochdale in the 
1960s when things were not easy work wise: 

‘I came from Kashmir in 1960 initially to 
Birmingham but soon my cousin brought me to 
Rochdale saying he can help me find work here. 
There were some Kashmiris in Rochdale who came 
on ships but the numbers of Kashmiris were not 
very many. For six months, I had to ‘sign on’ and 
tried in many mills but could not find any work. 
Unemployment money was just enough to survive 
here but we came to work and earn more to 
support our families back home. Then I found work 
through a person called Majeed who I knew from 
back home. I worked there, and later changed to 
another mill where I worked for two years, followed 
by work at the John Bright mill, before finally 
moving to Heywood mill.’ 

The majority amongst the early generation of 
Kashmiris had a background in farming, or as 
artisans, with some ex-army men. Not only were they 
themselves not looking for anything beyond the 
factories, they also discouraged others from doing so. 
Mr Bashir was an exception in the 1960s, as he came 
as a student who had completed his matriculation 

(Secondary	School	Certificate	equivalent	to	GCSE).	He	
recalls that there was an active culture of discouraging 
people to do anything but work in the mills: 

‘I came in 1964 as a student to live with my uncle 
here. I passed my matric (Higher Secondary) 
exams from Dadyal town in Mirpur. I was 
determined to study and learn driving and do 
some high jobs. But others from Mirpur persuaded 
my uncle that we came here to work and there 
is no point in spending money on education or 
driving. We were trained from our childhood not to 
disobey our elders so I told my uncle I will work in 
the mill and earn like everyone else in the evenings 
but study during the day time. That is what I did.’ 

11.1.0. The changing nature of employment 
amongst Kashmiris
As both the economy and the Kashmiri community 
in Rochdale became more diverse the nature of 
employment amongst Kashmiris changed. As noted 
earlier the economy in Rochdale has transformed 
from one dominated by manufacture, notably the 
textile industries, to a more diverse, service based 
economy. This has created new industries and new 
occupations in the town. However, it is important to 
see whether members of all ethnic communities have 
benefitted	equally	from	these	changes	or	whether	
some groups have remained trapped in low-skill, low-
pay occupations. Figure 7.4 shows data from the 2011 
UK Census for the same 3 wards covered by the KiRS, 
showing the distribution of ethnic groups across the 
main occupational categories. 

Figure 7.4. Occupational groupings by main ethnic 
categories Central Rochdale, Smallbridge and 
Firgrove and Spotland and Falinge

Source: UK Census, 2011

As	we	can	see	from	these	data,	Asian/Asian	British	

11.1 Economic Conditions
As	noted	above	one	of	the	key	issues	identified	by	
the participants was the lack of job opportunities in 
the area. Access to good jobs provides more than 
just the economic resources one needs to be able to 
participate in society. Work also provides a sense of 
self-worth and social contact, and good workplaces 
have been shown to have a positive effect on health and 
well-being.43 However, as we have also seen, Rochdale 
has	experienced	a	period	of	economic	difficulty	and	
unemployment rates have remained high in the town. 
Hence, it is important to see whether there are ethnic 
inequalities in unemployment rates in the town and, if 
so, whether Kashmiris are particularly disadvantaged. 
Turning	first	to	the	data	from	the	UK	National	Census	
on unemployment in Rochdale as a whole (presented 
in	figure	7.2),	we	can	see	quite	a	range	of	ethnic	
variations with Whites reporting the lowest levels of 
unemployment and ‘Other’ ethnic groups reporting the 
highest	rates.	In	these	figures	around	15%	of	Asians/
Asian British reported being unemployed. 

However, as we have demonstrated in this report, this 
broad	classification	does	not	allow	us	to	understand	
the position of Kashmiris in Rochdale as they would 
often be subsumed under the Pakistani category. 
Hence in order to gain a proper understanding of the 
economic activity rates of Kashmiris living in Rochdale 
we	must	use	the	data	from	the	KiRS	(figure	7.3).	
These	figures	show	a	much	starker	picture	of	ethnic	
inequalities in employment and demonstrate the 
differences within the Asian community in Rochdale. 

43  Noblet, A. (2003)

Figure 7.2: Unemployment rate by ethnic group in Rochdale: 
2011

Source: UK Census

The data show that Kashmiris are more likely to have 
reported being in unpaid employment in the 7 days 
prior to the survey compared to other ethnic groups. 
These differences are particularly stark for women. 
Over 70% of Kashmiri women report that they had 
done no paid work in the previous week. It should 
be remembered that the data from the KiRS are 
drawn from only 3 wards in Rochdale, so they are not 
directly comparable to the Census data. Nonetheless, 
these data clearly demonstrate the wide ethnic 
variations in employment rates within the borough 
and emphasise the need for labour market statistics to 
include a Kashmiri category to ensure that this issue is 
highlighted. 

P
age 76



32 33Unknown and Unseen The needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

respondents were predominantly concentrated in the 
plant and machine operatives, sales and elementary 
occupations. However, the data also show that they 
had the highest proportion of those working in 
professional occupations. But, as is often the case 
with	data	on	employment,	these	figures	are	extremely	
limited for understanding the occupational position of 
Kashmiris in Rochdale. 

Many in the generation who started coming to 
Rochdale in the 1970s with their mothers and siblings 
came	with	some	schooling	and	qualifications	from	
Kashmir and had potential to be trained for better 
jobs and business skills. However, due to a lack of 
guidance and encouragement from parents, most 
ended up doing the same jobs as their fathers. They 
started working in mills on night shifts mostly, and 
some learnt to drive and moved on to driving taxis, 
working in takeaways or other manual jobs. Some 
tried to start businesses but this was mostly restricted 
to opening up a corner shop in the newly emerging 
Kashmiri and Pakistani neighbourhoods. Only a few 
were able to continue their studies or learnt skills to 
help	them	find	work	outside	of	the	mills,	taxis	and	
takeaways. However, some amongst this generation 
went out and took the risk of setting up businesses 
and became success stories. 

‘I worked in the mills for a couple of years but 
wanted to, and knew that I could do better. So, 
despite discouragement from my elders who were 
too scared to take any risks, I started a partnership 
with a distant cousin and then developed our 
business which, praise God, is doing fine…Not 
only that, I was then able to help some of my 
relatives to set up businesses as well.’ (Ahmed)

While many second-generation Kashmiris moved out 
of the factories and mills and got jobs in professional 
and public sectors the overall ratio remained low 
due to high dropout rates in higher education. It 
seems that, after the closing down of the textile mills, 
the majority of Kashmiris started working in taxis 
and takeaways and other manual and sometimes 
skilled labour occupations. Some started their own 
businesses especially food retail. Today the majority 
work as taxi drivers, in takeaways and in other low 
skilled	jobs.	The	results	of	the	KiRS	confirm	this.	The	
data show that 48% of employed Kashmiri men are 
working as taxi drivers, a further 6% are working as 
public drivers and another 2% as bus drivers. The 
other notable occupations were warehouse operatives 
(11%) and takeaway workers (9%). The most popular 
job amongst employed Kashmiri women is school 
teaching, with 8% of women employed as school 
teachers. 

11.1.1. Business ethos
According to some participants there is a clear 
difference between the Kashmiri and Pakistani 
communities in terms of their involvement in, and 
approach to, business. Mr Akhtar, one of the few 

Kashmiris in Rochdale with a highly paid professional 
job and also with a property portfolio, highlighted 
these points in some detail:  

‘In Rochdale, I see that there is a clear 
distinctiveness between Kashmiris and Pakistanis. 
The Pakistani community has generally thrived. 
The Kashmiri community has sunk. It has gone 
many steps backwards. They might have moved 
house but they have not progressed anywhere. 
The basics of development (in our situation) are 
usually education and profession. Education in 
the Kashmiri community is cosmetic. There aren’t 
enough professionals. We ended up in trades that 
are, of course, part of society, but many young 
people with great potential end up in professions 
like plumbing etc. Many have also gone to call 
centres with (educational) degrees.’ 

The reasons for this according to Akhtar are a lack of 
vision and misplaced priorities: 

‘We have desire for money. We think money is the 
king when it is not. We do long hours of driving 
taxis to support people everywhere. We have no 
desire for an intellectual future or a professional 
future. They work very hard for money but don’t 
know what to do with it. They don’t have a positive 
impact on people around them. Kashmiri men 
sacrifice their families for money by working 12 
hours a day. They are very hard workers but don’t 
know why they are working so hard. There’s no 
long term thinking and planning. This chaotic 
lifestyle of those who are in work did not have a 
positive impact on their children, most of whom, 
especially boys, have developed a negative 
attitude towards work and have little motivation for 
professional education and for learning skills.’ 

However, Rangzeb who is a plumber says that it is the 
lack of guidance, exposure and opportunities that 
keeps	Kashmiris	confined	to	certain	types	of	work:	

‘I came to Rochdale in the 1980s with an 
intermediate qualification (equivalent to A level) 
and wanted to study but there was no guidance 
and everybody around said that there was no 
point in studying here. So I started working in a 
plastic factory and then one of my uncles who was 
a plumber took me on and taught me plumbing. 
Even now I think that there isn’t enough guidance 
and opportunity for young people here. That is 
why there are so many young people wandering 
around in the streets.’ 

11.1.2 Gender and Economy 
From the patterns emerging from interviews and focus 
group	discussions,	it	appears	that	first	and	second	
generation Kashmiri women were not expected to 
be employed as most of them were trained to be 
housewives and had few skills required for formal 
employment. However, by the 1980s when their 

children were grown up and the mills were closing 
down, some women in these generations also 
started doing work from home, mainly sewing for 
manufacturing factories owned mostly by Pakistanis. 

Until recently, private economic activity amongst 
the Kashmiri community was clearly gendered as 
private hire and cab driving remained exclusively 
male areas of employment. Catering and retail were 
also traditionally a male terrain, but recently women 
have also started working in these businesses, mainly 
serving or working the till. 

The third and fourth generations of Kashmiri women 
appear	to	work	in	a	range	of	fields	including	white	
collar jobs in retails shops, call centres, and recently in 
garment shops and beauty parlours. It was a general 
agreement amongst male and female participants that 
employment amongst Kashmiri women has recently 
increased, but remains lower than that for Pakistani 
women.	The	data	in	figure	4	above	corroborate	
this feeling, showing that Kashmiri women have the 
highest level of unemployment amongst all ethnic 
groups. 

For public sector employment, the issue of 
recruitment	for	specialist	posts	specific	to	
communities was also raised. Participants observed 
that	the	engagement/outreach	jobs	for	Pakistanis	
(including Kashmiris) are usually advertised asking for 
Punjabi	or	Urdu	skills	(and	qualifications)	in	addition	
to English, and there is a widespread perception 
within the community that because of that, Pakistanis 
are usually appointed to these posts as most 
Kashmiris	have	little	or	no	proficiency	in	Urdu	and	
Punjabi. Therefore, posts where bilingual skills are 
required and are aimed at working with the Kashmiri 
community need to advertise a need for command 
over	Pahari.	The	Council’s	MBE	workforce	figures	for	
2014 show that 50 Kashmiris applied for such jobs. 
However, this fell by half in 2015. 

Overall, our research shows that unemployment 
amongst Kashmiris is relatively high and almost 
half of the employed population works in the night-
time economy (NTE). However, when such a huge 
proportion of the working population of a minority 
community	has	confined	itself	to	the	NTE,	it	can	have	
an adverse effect on the motivation and aspirations 
of the younger generation. The other negative effects 
highlighted in the interviews and discussions include: 
lack of quality time with family, and a higher risk of 
becoming	a	victim	of	racist	abuse	and/or	attacks.

This becomes a greater cause for concern when 
viewed	in	combination	with	the	other	findings	of	
this	research	which	show	that	a	significant	number	
of young people of Kashmiri heritage in Rochdale 
are involved in drugs and substance misuse and 
are vulnerable to extremist ideas (see the Crime 
section below), both of which lead them away from 
engaging with mainstream life and using legitimate 

channels to express their concerns. This adds to the 
marginalisation and exclusion of the community. 

To address economic issues such as unemployment, 
over representation in the NTE, lack of business 
vision and below average working conditions in 
private sector employment, some of the participants 
suggested setting up a Community Business Forum. 
This will work with relevant local and national 
authorities to share ideas and provide relevant 
information, guidance, training and support for 
businessmen, especially young people, in relation 
to education, employment, entrepreneurship and 
business. It was also suggested that detailed research 
into the economic activity and prosperity of this 
marginalised community will identify and unlock 
the generational cycle of low level and low value 
economic activity. 

11.2. Social Issues
Until the 1970s, Kashmiri migration and settlement in 
Rochdale was mainly a male phenomenon. Women 
started coming to Rochdale in 1970s. It was during 
this period that a ‘Kashmiri household’ started to 
be (re)created in Rochdale. The older participants 
explained in some detail that their lifestyle and 
priorities changed after the arrival of their families. 
However, their work patterns remained the same with 
the majority working night shifts, leaving women to 
manage the household. 

Participants in this research from the Kashmiri 
community highlighted a list of issues surrounding 
health services, education, the criminal justice system, 
social services and cultural services. Some key issues 
are discussed in this section in light of the qualitative 
data from the participants, and quantitative results 
from Census data and the KiRS. 

11.2.0. Health and Healthy Living 
Most participants described the overall health of 
the community as poor, especially that of the older 
generation. The health issues that were repeatedly 
highlighted in interviews and focus group discussions 
included Coronary Heart Disease, high or low blood 
pressure, stroke, type 2 diabetes, long standing 
illness, disability, obesity, arthritis and various mental 
health issues. 

Turning	to	the	quantitative	data	presented	in	figure	
7.5, we can see a fairly positive picture of health 
within the Kashmiri community in Rochdale. From the 
Census	data	available	about	those	who	self-identified	
as Kashmiris, it seems that the overall health of the 
community is good. As a majority of the respondents 
described their health as very good, good or fair, and 
amongst them, the women described their health as 
better than the men. Only a small proportion (10%) 
described their health as bad and very bad, again, 
men were slightly more likely to have bad health 
than women. The picture from the KiRS is somewhat 

P
age 77



34 35Unknown and Unseen The needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

different with a greater proportion reporting very 
good health. This could in part be due to either 
a selection effect, such that those in poor health 
were less likely to participate in the KiRS, or due to 
a ‘social desirability’ effect amongst respondents 
who did not want to admit to poor health in front of 
the interviewer. Nonetheless, the overall impression 
of generally good self-perceived health amongst 
Kashmiris in Rochdale is the same. 

Figure 7.5: Self-rated health amongst Kashmiris in Rochdale 
by gender: Data from both the UK Census and KiRS 

However, a look at the UK Census data on the rate 
of limiting disability amongst Kashmiris reveals that 
a	significant	population	of	Kashmiris	in	Rochdale	
have	some	form	of	disability.	The	data	in	figure	7.6	
show that for both men and women this becomes 
more common after the age of 35. Rates of limiting 
disability also appear to be higher amongst women 
up to the age of 65. After that men are more likely to 
be disabled than women.

Figure 7.6: Limiting disability amongst Kashmiri 
respondents by age group

Source: UK Census

Reassuringly,	the	figures	are	very	similar	to	those	that	
we found in the KiRS for the Kashmiri population as 
a	whole	(see	figure	7.7).	However,	as	we	had	very	few	
respondents aged in their 60s and 70s we have had to 
collapse the older ages into those aged 50 and over. 
Hence the data are not directly comparable, but they 
do show a very similar picture. 

A number of historical and contemporary reasons 
were cited by different participants for this poor state 
of health. Older participants linked the health issues 
with their lifestyle back home and hard work here in 
the mills and factories. Now they are suffering from 
different health issues due to lack of physical activity:

‘When we came in 1960s we were young and 
healthy and came from a lifestyle where physical 
work was a norm. We were not rich and did 
not have much to eat but whatever we ate was 
digested well due to hard labour. We continued 
working hard here too. But towards the end of our 
working life many of us developed several health 
issues including lung problems. After retirement, 
we became house-bound and lost much of 
our physical activity and now face many issues 
including arthritis and blood pressure etc.’

For others earning money to go back to the 
motherland was the priority over health: 

‘In those days, people were young and healthy and 
even when we had some health issue we still went 
to work because we needed money and had to 
send money back. Almost all of us thought that we 
would go back. We did not care much about food 
and had whatever was available but our health was 
good. Many people did not go to doctors for ages 
and when they needed to go, they could not find 
their records.’ (Rashid) 

Figure 7.7: Proportion of Kashmiris who report having a 
limiting longstanding illness. 

Source: KiRS

Depression is another area which was raised 
repeatedly both in the one-to-one interviews and 
focus	group	discussions.	As	figure	7.8	shows,	
Kashmiris reported higher levels of depression than 
Pakistanis or Bangladeshis in the 3 wards in Rochdale 
that were selected for the survey. 

Depression was seen mainly in the older generation, 
and more so in women. Several reasons were talked 
about. Amongst the older generation, it is linked 
with two main issues. Firstly, after their retirement 
they do not have much to do and the only place for 
most of them to go to is the local mosque. Mr Nazar, 

who spends most of his time in the front room of his 
terrace house, says:

‘Now I stay here 6 days and most of the time keep 
thinking about my life which has gone by. But now 
it feels like my memory is fading. My children are 
good, they look after me but I can’t talk to them 
much. On Sunday, my son comes and takes me to 
his house for a specially cooked meal and drives 
me around as well, but still sometimes I feel all 
alone.’

Secondly,	at	home	they	find	it	hard	to	manage	
the changing intergenerational relationships. 
Although they still tend to live in extended families, 
but because the new generations have different 
lifestyles, it generates stress and depression as 
they cannot communicate with each other well. The 
unemployment amongst the younger generation, 
marital problems, as well as issues concerning 
substance misuse and drug pushing are also stated as 
contributory factors for depression amongst the older 
generation. 

According to some, there are additional factors that 
cause depression amongst women. These include 
managing household budgets on a low income, 
supervising young children and family relationships 
on	their	own	whilst	men	are	out	working,	language/
generational barriers, a lack of understanding of local 
support/services,	domestic	abuse	and	violence.	

Figure 7.8: Rates of depression by ethnic group

Source: KiRS

Some issues were described to be rooted in the ‘Myth 
of Return’ and transnational marriages. Mr Rashid 
who is now retired thinks that his generation always 
thought of back home: 

‘First, we thought of going back but when that 
became impossible, we thought we would go back 
after retirement. However, due to health issues 
and with all our children settled here and unwilling 
to move back, we can’t go back either. We made 
efforts to marry our children there so that they 

will have some family values from back home, but 
these marriages have become the main cause of 
stress and depression for us now because they 
are not compatible. Now we think we made a big 
mistake but it is too late.’ 

The younger generation is equally unhappy with 
parents thinking too much of back home and having 
little interest in life here. The middle generation, 
who have grown up children of their own, are also 
depressed because their children do not get jobs 
and	they	do	not	know	where	they	are	going	and/or	
spending their time. As Rozina explains:

‘I have two grown-up sons. Both graduated but 
can’t find jobs. They applied for so many jobs 
but have had no success. Now they are also at a 
marriageable age, but how can I marry them off 
without them having jobs and homes of their own? 
That really depresses me sometimes. Everything 
looks bleak and I don’t feel interested in doing 
anything. I used to go to the gym but then they 
started charging for that which I can’t afford.’ 

These accounts are borne out in the survey data. 
Although the majority of respondents across all 3 
ethnic groups report that they are rarely or never 
depressed, a higher proportion of those from the 
Kashmiri community report being depressed at 
least some of the time and over 1-in-10 report being 
depressed most or all of the time. 

11.2.1. Lack of awareness about and access to 
services 
While some support and services may be available to 
deal with these issues, their use amongst the Kashmiri 
community appears fairly low, mainly because of the 
lack of awareness, coordination and communication 
between those who know and those who need to 
know within the community. 

Mr Zarar, who was born in Rochdale, thinks that the 
major problem is that most people in the Kashmiri 
community are not aware that there are services 
available regarding substance misuse, employment 
and for adopting a healthy life style: 

‘We are a community still relying on the traditional 
networks of communication and support, and we 
have outdated and misplaced expectations while 
the world has moved on. We are living in our own 
little world and there is little communication and 
interaction with those who know and those who 
need to know. For institutions, we don’t exist.’ 

Yasmin, a white lady who married a fellow Kashmiri 
mill	worker	who	can	speak	fluent	Pahari	and	lived	in	
Kashmir for many years concluded: 

‘The Kashmiri community, especially first and 
second generation has no motivation to go out 
and find out what is available. They think that it 

P
age 78



36 37Unknown and Unseen The needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

should be provided to them at home and even 
then, sometimes they are not prepared to use it.’

When asked why they do this she replied, ‘I don’t 
know, maybe they are lazy I don’t know’. 

Mr Parvez, who came to Britain as a teenager in the 
latter half of the 1970s, agreed that there is a serious 
lack of self-help in the community. However, he 
explained	it	in	relation	to	self-confidence	and	self-
respect, as well as a lack of recognition: 

‘They don’t have self-confidence or desire to do 
things for themselves. That is driven out of a lack of 
self-respect. Self-respect is linked with a realisation of 
identity, knowing who I am and where I come from.’ 

11.2.2. Healthy Living 
Most participants stated that awareness amongst 
Kashmiris about services and support regarding 
healthy living such as exercise and diet is very limited: 

‘Services needs to increase awareness about 
existing facilitie, and should provide services 
related to a healthy lifestyle, especially free access 
to a gym and they should encourage guided 
walks in open spaces and maybe the countryside, 
particularly for retired or unemployed men and 
women.’ (Zahoor) 

In response to a question as to why this is the case 
given that public health services spend a lot of money 
on public awareness and healthy lifestyle facilities, 
many participants said that usually Pakistanis are 
employed to raise awareness who have a very low 
opinion of the Kashmiris and the communication 
channels used don’t connect with the Kashmiri 
community: 

‘They think that Kashmiris are too backward to 
be engaged in health living and healthy lifestyle 
activities because they think we don’t want to get 
out of our houses.’ (Rozina) 

11.3. Education
As can be seen from the examples presented in 
the	employment	section,	only	a	few	among	the	first	
generation	of	Kashmiris	in	Rochdale	held	significant	
educational	qualifications.	Most	came	with	little	
schooling from Kashmir, and were only able to sign 
their names. Many depended on Pakistanis for their 

paperwork, a community with more educated people 
than Kashmiris. 

The second generation resolved this issue for the 
first	generation,	however	there	were	many	amongst	
the second generation who wanted to go for further 
education but only a few were lucky enough to get 
any support from their parents. Those who managed 
to	gain	some	qualifications	and	are	now	in	better	jobs	
or run successful businesses report how hard their 
journey was and how their parents had no idea about 
the value of education and were unable to offer any 
support and guidance.

The limited data that is available on Kashmiris 
supports the qualitative claims. For example, the 
data collected by the local schools which, although 
seriously confusing and problematic, does offer 
some analytical value if used with the knowledge 
that the aggregation of three categories gives us 
the total number of Kashmiri pupils. On that basis, a 
comparison between Kashmiri and Pakistanis pupils 
show that Kashmiri pupils lag behind in achieving 
the top grades. As shown in table 7.3 Kashmiri pupils 
score	significantly	less	than	Pakistani	students.	

A similar picture of low levels of educational 
achievement across all ages appears from the census 
data	that	is	available	on	self-identified	Kashmiris	in	the	
2011	Census	(see	figure	7.9).	This	is	particularly	acute	in	
the 50+ groups where the overwhelming majority have 
no or low levels of achievement. Even in those aged 
35-49 we see relatively low levels of achievement. Only 
10% of women and 25% of men have any form of post-
compulsory education in this age group. Encouragingly 
there is a more positive picture in the younger 
cohorts. Around one third of women aged 35-49 and 
38% of men in this age group have post-compulsory 
education. There is evidence that younger women 
are also overtaking their male counterparts as 43% of 
women aged 16-24 have higher levels of education 
compared to just 24% of men. 

Although achievement levels are higher amongst 
younger Kashmiri women, some female participants 
in the qualitative study reported that this is despite 
the low expectations of many teachers, most of whom 
have a Pakistani heritage and hold that there is little 
point in working hard with Kashmiri female pupils 
because most of them will be ‘married off’ as soon 
they are 18 years old. 

Figure 7.9. Educational attainment levels amongst Kashmiri 
men by age group in 2011 census

Source: UK Census 2011

Mr Shabir came to Britain in 1970 at the age of 14 with 
some schooling back in Kashmir. After his compulsory 
attendance at the English Language Centre and 
school, he wanted to continue his education. However, 
his parents who had no formal education themselves, 
did not think it was a good idea: 

‘Both my mother and father had never been 
through any schooling but they, especially my 
father, were convinced that education here in this 
country is no good. So he tried to convince me that 
if I wanted to stay here then I should start working 
soon and if I wanted to study then I should go back 
and study there because education was better in 
Kashmir than here in Britain. This was commoly 
held among most of the Kashmiris in Rochdale. 
However, one of my teachers who I spoke to about 
this, came over and convinced my father that I was 
doing fine at school and education here is actually 
better than in Pakistan or Kashmir. After that my 
parents did not discourage me but they did not 
encourage e either. However, I managed to gain a 
professional degree and establish a good career. 
From that position then, I was able to encourage, 
guide and support my family and my extended 
family to do better in education and business.’ 

Mr Zaman is another success story from second 
generation Kashmiris in Rochdale who came in 1975 at 
the age of 19: 

‘I was a student of BA economics in Kashmir. My 
father and older brother were already here. I 
wanted to study or get a job on the basis of my 
qualifications, but there was no one to guide me. I 
started working night shifts in a mill and teaching 
Urdu to children in the mosque for about an hour 
before going to work. Later, I was able to train as 
a youth worker and then moved on to a service 
management post.’ 

Aftab Hussain came to Rochdale from Mirpur in 1990 
after completing his FA (intermediate) and wanted to 
continue with studies here. However, his father was 
unemployed and told him that he can provide him 
with accommodation and food but no pocket money. 
Aftab worked in a family business and also continued 
with his education:

‘When I came over, I was 14 and went for 
compulsory schooling. There in school I had quite 
a few pupils from Mirpur but the higher I went on 
the educational ladder, the lower the number of 
Kashmiri heritage students fell. The dropout rate 
was very high amongst Kashmiris.’ 

Many participants highlighted that this situation has 
continued and even today, educational achievement 
amongst Kashmiris in Rochdale is perceived as the 
lowest within the Asian community. 

Table 7.3: GCSE grades by Pakistani and Kashmiri pupils

Ethnicity Numbers 3+A*-A 5+ A*-C 5+ A*-G 1+A*-G

Kashmiri Other 3 0.0 33.3 66.7 100

Kashmiri Pakistani 28 14.3 57.1 89.3 96.4

Mirpuri Pakistani 46 15.2 65.2 95.7 97.8

Other Pakistani 124 27.4 74.2 92.7 95.2

Pakistani 153 22.2 68.6 96.7 99.3

P
age 79



38 39Unknown and Unseen The needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

Issues of crime, discrimination and safety are of 
paramount importance to all communities living in 
Rochdale. However, there has been concern that 
members of ethnic minority communities were more 
likely to be worried about being a victim of crime. 
These	concerns	are	supported	by	figures	from	the	UK	
as a whole, showing that those from ethnic minority 
groups are more likely to fear becoming a victim of 
crime.44 Figures from the Crime Survey if England 
and	Wales	show	that	in	2015/16,	a	smaller	proportion	
of White people reported a fear of crime compared 
with Asian people, Black people, and those from the 
Other	ethnic	group.	However,	these	figures	cannot	
tell us much about the fear of crime or the experience 
of harassment in the Kashmiri community as data are 
not routinely collected on this group. For this we must 
turn to the KiRS data. 

12.1 Fear of crime
As	the	data	in	figure	8.1	show,	around	4-in-10	Kashmiri	
participants said that they were fairly worried or very 
worried about being a victim of crime. Moreover, 39% 
said that they were worried about being physically 
attacked because of their ethnic origin and 45% 
said that they were worried about being physically 
attacked because of their religion. 

Figure 8.1: Fear of crime amongst Kashmiris living in 
Rochdale

Source: KiRS

However,	these	figures	mask	some	important	gender	
differences in the fear of crime amongst the Kashmiri 
community.	Our	findings	from	the	KiRS	show	that	men	
are much more likely to report being worried about 
becoming a victim of crime. Around 18% of Kashmiri 
men reported that they were very worried about 
becoming a victim of crime compared to just 5% of 
Kashmiri women. 

44	 	ONS.	(2018).	Fear	of	Crime.	https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/crime-justice-and-the-law/crime-and-reoffending/fear-of-crime/latest
45  Figures can add up to more than 100% as respondents could choose multiple options

Figure 8.2: Fear of becoming a victim of crime by gender in 
the Kashmiri community

Source: KiRS

12.2 Harassment and discrimination
Respondents were asked to say whether levels of 
prejudice in Britain had gotten worse, better or 
remained the same over the past 5 years. As the data 
in	figure	8.3	show,	the	majority	of	respondents	felt	
that levels of prejudice have gotten worse. Almost half 
of those asked said that Britain was more prejudiced 
today than 5 years ago. Conversely only 17% said that 
things had gotten better. 

Figure 8.3: Assessment by Kashmiris of current levels of 
prejudice in the UK compared to 5 years ago

Source: KiRS

Around 30% of the sample reported that they had 
experienced harassment in their local area because 
of their ethnic origin. Of those that had experienced 
harassment the vast majority (92.5%) said that this 
harassment took the form of verbal harassment. 5% 
of those who said they had been harassed said that it 
had taken the form of a physical attack, and 5% said 
that it had been in the form of damage to property.45

Just under 4-in-10 Kashmiris felt that they had been 
discriminated against during hiring processes for jobs. 

When asked if they were treated with respect in key 
places or institutions, Kashmiri respondents reported 
a mix of experiences. In general, they felt that they 
were	treated	with	respect	in	school/college	and	when	
using the health services. Forty-seven percent of 
respondents said that they were always treated with 
respect	in	school/college	and	44%	said	the	same	of	
their experiences with the health services. The picture 
for their experiences at work was somewhat less 
positive. Only 32% said that they were treated with 
respect at work at all times. However, an additional 
45% reported that they were treated with respect 
most of the time at work. Worryingly, respondents 
reported very negative experiences with using public 
transport: 37% of Kashmiris felt that they were never 
treated with respect when using public transport. 

Figure 8.4: Whether Kashmiris felt that they were treated 
with respect in key places

12.3. Drugs 
Although no particular question was asked about 
drugs in the KiRS, from the qualitative interviews the 
concern was fairly high about criminal gangs and anti-
social behaviour.

Both in one-to-one interviews and in focus groups, it 
was repeatedly highlighted that drug use and drug 
dealing is one of the major issues for the Kashmiri 
community in Rochdale, particularly amongst young 
people. For example, Mr Suleman, a social worker by 
profession relayed his experience of living in Rochdale 
since 1980s: 

‘It is a common observation that more and more 
young people are becoming involved in crimes 
and anti-social behaviour. Their positive role 
models are not the people who are working but 
those who are dealing with substance issues 
and drugs. So, it’s about educating them and 
changing their thought process so that they opt for 
education and better life choices.’ 

However, according to some elder participants, it is 
neither something new nor exclusively to do with the 
younger generation. 

‘Even before the mills were closed and before a 
generation of Kashmiris were born and brought 
up here, drug dealing in our community was not 
unknown. There were some people who became 
distinctly rich and people talked about them that 
they did some ‘pherey’ (trips) which meant that 
they brought drugs. The saying was that such and 
such ‘kotti’ (big houses) is made of powder. Drugs 
were smuggled through PIA staff or cleaners. 
These days people have invented new methods 
and new routes.’ (Liaqat Ali) 

The main attraction for many is that there is quick and 
easy money to be made: 

‘They think it is easy money but they don’t realise 
the consequences. There are cases where very 
well-known people got raided and arrested and 
then people found out that they had been involved 
in drug pushing. There are so many people 
involved in this crime. Mainly because of quick 
money and competition, because if some families 
have lavish lifestyles or luxurious items to show 
off and they are said to be in the drugs business, 
others think that they can also be like them. 
Even the risk of imprisonment doesn’t stop them 
because they think they will be out again after a 
certain number of years and the kind of money 
they can make in drug dealing cannot be earned 
any other way. But there was certainly no street 
business in those days.’ (Ali Hussain) 

However, in the younger generation, the perception of 
the scale of the problem has certainly grown: 

‘In some streets, almost everyone is involved in 
dealing or using. When I was at university in the 
mid 1990s, some people my age dropped out 
of college went on to dealing drugs. They were 
caught and spent some years in prison but by 
the time I got a job they had big flashy cars and 
luxurious lifestyles.’ (A. Hussain) 

Once again it was pointed out that awareness about 
the symptoms of drug misuse, support services 
for substance misuse, and information on how to 
approach or engage them, was very low amongst 
Kashmiris. On the other extreme, it was such a taboo 
subject that people did not want to be seen to be 
engaged with services to access help and support as 
this was viewed as bringing shame to the family name. 
This leads to the perception amongst DAA services 
that Kashmiris tend not to be communities that are 
misusing drugs and alcohol. 

One former councillor also linked the issue of drugs 
to a lack of parental involvement with children at an 
early age, and the tendency to accept money with 
no qualms about where it comes from. It was also 
pointed out that cuts to youth services added to the 
problems of anti-social behaviour and drug pushing. 
Another participant highlighted that the lack of good 
employment and business opportunities are the push 
factors for young people, including high educational 
achievers, to get involved with drugs. Further, there 
are no community forums for having informed 
discussions on such issues and to provide advice and 
guidance to young people and parents.

12 .  C R I M E ,  D I S C R I M I N A T I O N  A N D  S A F E T Y

P
age 80



40 41Unknown and Unseen The needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

Eighty-five	percent	of	the	respondents	in	our	survey	
described their religious identity as Muslim, 6% as 
Christian, 2% as Hindu, 4% as having no religion, 
and 3% as ‘other religions.’ Sunni Muslims are the 
majority amongst the Muslims. However, there are 
some followers of other sects, including Wahabis and 
Shias.	Amongst	Christian	respondents,	48%	identified	
themselves as Catholic, 23% as Protestants, 3% as 
Eastern Orthodox and 26% preferred not to express 
their preference. 

Of the Kashmiri respondents who expressed a 
religious	affiliation,	74%	reported	that	they	were	
practicing their religion and 26% said that they were 
non-practicing. Of those who were practicing, 88% 
said that they were able to practice their religion 
freely in Britain. Three-quarters said that they felt 
British. However, only 31% said that they think most 
other people see them as British, and 36% thought 
that only some people see them as British. Worryingly, 
a quarter said that they think most people don’t see 
them as British. So while the Kashmiri community in 
Rochdale might feel British, they do not think others 
see them in that way. 

It appears from the interviews and discussions 
recorded for this research that, initially, religion had 
little	significance	in	the	public	life	of	early	Kashmiri	
migrants. Those who practiced their religion did so 
in the domestic sphere. Eventually, a mosque was 
built which was used by all Muslims for worship and 
for Friday sermons, regardless of ethnic or sectarian 
backgrounds. 

From the 1990s onwards, Muslim identity appears to 
have	gained	greater	significance	in	public	spaces	and	
has emerged as an umbrella or wider identity for all 
Muslims regardless of which country they came from. 
However, with some probing in the interviews it was 
obvious that Muslim is not a homogenous identity. 
There is no single Muslim community, rather there 
are different Muslim communities with distinct ethnic, 
cultural, linguistic as well as sectarian identities which 
can	have	specific	needs,	issues	and	approaches/
viewpoints. 

It appears from the interviews and focus group 
discussions that association with and practice of 
religion currently appears at an all-time high amongst 
Kashmiris in Rochdale. One demonstration of this 
growth is the rise in the number of mosques in the 
town and religious TV channels which have become 
available from the 1990s as a result of developments 
in satellite technology.

For most early Kashmiris in Rochdale, religious 
practice was similar to what it had been in Kashmir. It 

was predominantly a spiritual version of Islam rooted 
in	local	traditions	of	Sufism,	which	meant	that	people	
had a very relaxed attitude towards formal religious 
practices, which were viewed as an individual matter. 
Not	many	people	prayed	five	times	a	day.	A	relatively	
greater number went to the mosque on Fridays, and 
most went to mosques only twice a year on Eid days. 
As Mr Sharif who came to Britain in the 1960s notes: 

‘There was only one mosque in Rochdale, the 
Sunehri or Golden mosque and we used to 
go there on Friday or on Eid days. There were 
some gatherings where some imams would do 
speeches, but we hardly paid any attention to 
what they were saying because mostly they spoke 
in very difficult Urdu ( a reference to Arabic and 
Persian use in speeches and talks on religion in 
mosques) that most of us did not understand. Our 
main focus was work and socialisation, for some, 
in pubs, while most of us played cards on Sundays 
or went to cinemas, watching three movies with 
one ticket! Movies were mostly Indian Bollywood. 
Pakistani films were also shown but not as often.’ 

Mr Rashid who came to Britain in late 1970s said he 
did not know the basics of the prayer: 

‘My parents in Mirpur were not strict about 
children learning to readthe Quran or Namaz 
(prayer). So, when I came to Britain I was unable 
to read the Quran. I never prayed there in Dadyal 
or here in Bradford (later in Rochdale). However, 
when I was retired on account of poor health in the 
latter half of the 1980s, I started learning how to 
read the Quran and to pray.’ 

It	seems	that	for	the	first	and	second	generation,	
religion was not connected with politics, and the 
sense of being Muslim was not a political, but a 
religious identity linked to the spiritual realm and 
confined	to	the	domestic	spaces	of	the	community.	
This changed with the third generation. In our 
research, two main viewpoints emerged about this 
change. Some argued that it was the people who 
started seeing themselves more as Muslims, and 
the media and public institutions picked that up and 
started presenting the community as Muslim: 

‘You know these Muslim organisations like Islamic 
Centres and Muslim Councils etc. initiated the 
move to promote Muslim identity to expand their 
constituency for a range of reasons.’ (Mr Ali) 

However, others said that the Muslim identity became 
significant	after	the	publication	of	Salman	Rushdie’s	
novel ‘Satanic Verses,’ commonly known as the 
Rushdie affair: 

‘It was after the Rushdie affair that we were seen 
by most of the white people around us as Muslim 
rather than Asian. Before that we were Asian.’ (Ms 
Bi) 

Whatever	came	first,	it	is	evident	that	within	the	
community,	religion	has	moved	significantly	to	centre-
stage in the lives of a growing number of people: 

‘By the 1990s, the teaching of Quran and Urdu 
in mosques had increased, and I made sure that 
my children went to the mosque and learnt the 
basics of Islam because religion was more widely 
practiced here by the 1990s and I felt embarrassed 
at religious gatherings or on occasions of 
condolence (Fateh) when most others would read 
something from the Quran and I sat there quietly 
because I did not know much. I did not want my 
children to go through that embarrassment, so I 
made sure they went to the mosque and learnt the 
basics of Islam.’ (Rashid)

Mr N, a retired textile worker, raised a somewhat 
surprising point when he said that he regretted 
donating money to people who used to raise money 
in the name of religion:

‘People used to come to the mosque to collect 
money and we gave it to them but it was a mistake. 
We saw their beards and thought that they were 
Muslims and would do good for the society, but 
they did not. May God forgive them, but there are 
many fake and artificial people misusing religion.’ 

13.1. Extremism
Mr	Shan,	who	is	now	in	his	fifties	and	came	to	
Rochdale at the age of 14, has been involved closely 
with community development activities and is a well-
respected businessman. He offered an in-depth and 
detailed analysis of the growth of religion amongst 
Rochdale South Asians in general and Kashmiris in 
particular. Only a summary is included below: 

‘The growth of religion has two broader aspects. 
One is to do with worship and the other, with 
indoctrination. While this growth in general can be 
measured by the increasing number of mosques 
and mosque goers and the growth of religious 
TV channels, the indoctrination can be traced by 
following the interpretations projected in mosques 
and on the religious TV channels. There are 
positive aspects such as mosques which are also, 
or at least potentially, can be a useful community 
asset where with some regulation, support and 
training, the preachers and teachers can be 
trained to educate and empower the community 
to deal with their issues more effectively. All they 
need to understand is that there are different 
views and understandings of religion, just as there 
are variations in other social and political aspects 
of life. 

I think the problem stems from the prevailing 
tendency to believe that there is only one final 
understanding in religion, and those who do it 
differently are defectors who need to be put on a 
straight path.’ 

Most participants were hopeful that young people 
who were learning about Islam were doing it in 
search of ‘truth,’ which they said is to be a pious and 
considerate human being and to make a positive 
and healthy contribution wherever we live. Many 
shared the observation that most young people were 
involved in various charity and support initiatives 
such	as	collections	for	refugees,	aid	for	flood	victims	
and feeding the poor and homeless rather than in 
extremist activities. 

However, some people did show concern about 
extremism and radicalisation. Again, as summed 
up by Mr Shan there are two spheres or forms of 
extremism – sectarian and political: 

‘One is to do with sectarianism where more and 
more people appear to be becoming followers 
of one or the other sects without developing 
the ability to question some of their narrow and 
absolutist aspects that lead to alienation, not only 
from the wider society of Rochdale but also from 
the followers of different sects within the Muslim 
community. Some signs of intolerance towards 
other sects can also be noticed. The other form 
concerns politics, and has links with the history of 
colonialism and the contemporary politics of the 
superpowers. It is in this context that the older 
generation shows resentment about the past and 
the younger generation feels angry about the 
present situation in many conflicts around the 
world including Palestine and Kashmir.’

Further, the sectarianisation and regionalisation 
of mosques was also pointed out by several other 
participants:

‘Mosques are defined by regions and sects. For 
example, one is known as Wahabi and others 
as Sunni, while some are known as Punjabi, 
Bangladeshis or Kashmiri mosques. Sectarian 
differences has increased over the years. In our 
days, we knew that there were Wahabis, Sunnis 
and Shias in our community, but now many 
other sects have emerged whose lines are more 
sharply defined without much religious interaction 
between them.’ (Zahoor) 

The politicisation of Islam or the rise of political Islam 
was also highlighted: 

‘Initially, I learned the basics, and how to read 
Arabic and Urdu. In those days there was some 
confusion about this East and West distinction, 
and Muslims versus Kafirs (infidels). But then when 

1 3 .  R E L I G I O N

P
age 81



42 43Unknown and Unseen The needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

I did my own research, I found out that the word 
‘Islam’ meant peace, and I heard about the taunts 
that the West is against Islam and Muslims but I 
was confused because I looked around and saw 
what rights and facilities we had in this country 
and there were no restrictions whatsoever on 
religious practice in Britain. I realised later that this 
is politics and religion is being used for political 
purposes by people with political plans.’ (Zafar) 

Another aspect of the radicalisation debate discussed 
by a few participants threw light on the Kashmiri case 
in particular:

‘Our kids are being radicalised and brainwashed 
by the leaders of other Muslim communities, 
mainly Arabs and Pakistani middle-class activists 
and madrasa teachers or scholars. There is hardly 
any Kashmiri amongst them. Yet the majority of 
their audience is Kashmiri.’ (Khan) 

One participant pointed out that people who ran 
madrassas seldom sent their own children to study 
there: 

‘I think that people who run madrasas send their 
children to private schools and persuade Kashmiris 
to send their children to madrassas instead.’ 
(Ahmed) 

In response to being asked what can be done 
to identify their vulnerability to extremism, one 
participant gave the following example from his 
extended family that demonstrates that engaging 
young people at early stages can them from 
gravitating towards extremist interpretations of Islam: 

‘My cousin’s two sons used to go to a particular 
mosque. He used to say very proudly that they will 
become Hafiz-e-Quran and he will go to heaven 
in the next life on account of their piety. But soon 
they started telling him that he was not a proper 
Muslim and denigrated their parents’ Islamic 
practice. He told me about this, and I spoke to the 
boys and informed one of their cousins, who was a 
lawyer, who also spoke to them. Now they tell me 
that had I not intervened and helped they would 
have ended up in Syria or somewhere else.’ (Mr Ali) 

Mr PA also highlighted the vulnerability of young 
people to extremist ideologies. Drawing on his own 
experience of growing up in Rochdale, he said that,

‘The age of 14-23 or 24 is the age when you are 
finding yourself. You are searching for yourself and 
if you don’t find the answer, you become a Muslim. 
What kind of Muslim you become depends on 
whose preaching is the most effective, and I think 
in Rochdale there has been a problem with that 
and still is because people don’t know where they 
come from and have a poorly developed sense of 
self. There are winners and losers. The winners are 

those people who realise where they from, where 
they are and where they want to go.’

Interviews with some young people who have 
been involved in religious politics and related 
activism	showed	that	the	first	point	of	contact	was	
seeing injustice committed against weaker people, 
particularly in Gaza, and what they perceive as the 
prejudiced and biased coverage and presentation of 
the situation in the media. For example, Yousaf who 
has been to several demonstrations and fund-raising 
activities explains: 

‘The first time it happened was you know when 
things were going on in Palestine and Gaza, and 
in 2006 when it got really bad, when it hit the 
mainstream news and we were debating all the 
issues, and there were protests in Rochdale and we 
went to those as well. The main motivating factor 
initially was religion because of the significance of 
the Aqsa mosque for Muslims. It was also because 
of the people there, many of whom were our age, 
and were Muslims as well. That’s why we thought 
we’d jump on that, we want to get our voice heard 
and talk about that, because we felt like that 
was more urgent to talk about. When we learn 
about the world of politics, we think about what’s 
right and wrong and consider it from a religious 
perspective as well, but we look at it that way from 
the perspective of an average human being as 
well. Religiously yeah, I’m not really that religious 
but I have quite a lot of religious friends as well 
who share the same political views as me. It’s both, 
but I look at it as a political issue, as a moral issue, 
what’s happening is wrong, religiously or not, little 
kids are dying, being bombed and all that stuff, it’s 
wrong regardless of whether it’s from a religious 
perspective or not.’

Were there any ways available to develop peoples’ 
abilities to be critical towards all ideologies and not 
be brainwashed into accepting them? In response to 
this question most respondents said that the main 
problem was this mind-set that ‘what I follow is the 
only and absolute truth’:  

‘Addressing this is not an easy task but any efforts 
to deal with this with the intention of controlling 
people is less likely to bring about positive results. 
The best way to deal with this is to provide spaces 
for open expression and discussion, for example, 
TV channels can be incentivized to allocate a 
certain percentage of their time for holding 
open debates about all religions with scholars of 
different viewpoints presenting their side of the 
argument rather than one scholar preaching one 
point of view as the only and absolute truth.’ 

Mr P linked the vulnerability to extremism of Kashmiri 
youth with the confusion about their ethnic identity 
and socio-cultural heritage, and to the role of 
extremist student societies in universities:

‘Kashmiri parents have lived their life wanting to go 
back, and their children don’t know whether to go 
back or to stay. This confusion over identity causes 
big issues. It leads them towards something that 
is neither Kashmiri nor Pakistani or British, which 
is Islam. They see their parents who don’t belong 
anywhere and feel that they have not achieved 
anything, although they have achieved a lot but 
they have not been able to communicate this their 
children. Their children have no money and no 
direction, or some have money but no direction, s, 
direction is the key because I think the tragedy of 
our situation is that we have our feet in two boats 
that are both sinking. Kashmiri children don’t get 
the skills to integrate and fit in from their home 
and community. For example, many of those 
who managed to go to university find it hard to 
integrate and fit in there. They either drop out or 
join some extremist group for some sort of sense 
of belonging.’ 

In conclusion, extremism is considered a serious issue 
within the Kashmiri community in Rochdale. The older 
generations are vulnerable to sectarian ideologies, 
younger generations to religious-political extremism. 
One source of these tendencies is the dominance 
of sectarian and political interpretations of Islam, 
with little access to alternative views and a lack of 
resources for developing critical thinking towards 
what is being preached as the absolute truth. 

P
age 82



44 45Unknown and Unseen The needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

Culture is referred here mainly to various expressions 
of art and music. Results from the KiRS show that in 
these areas, the Kashmiri community is also lagging 
behind other minorities. More than 70% of Kashmiris 
had never participated in any sports, leisure or 
cultural groups, compared to 63% of Pakistanis.

It appears from the interviews that when the early 
migrant Kashmiri community in Rochdale consisted 
only of male workers, their cultural activities included 
gathering at one of the few houses they lived in and 
sharing information, playing cards or listening to 
music which included Indian, Pakistani or sometimes 
Pothwari music and recitations of the Saif ul Muluk. 
Later, cinemas became a place to spend Sundays. 
As	the	films	were	typically	three	hours	long,	the	men	
were	there	all	day,	often	watching	three	films	in	a	row	
on one ticket.

By the early 1980s, when the Kashmir Youth project 
(KYP) was set up, cultural programmes took place 
there. However, gradually the space for cultural 
events at the KYP was reduced and the pace of 
cultural activity amongst Rochdale Kashmiris became 
stagnant. While the Indian, Punjabi and Pakistani Urdu 
culture thrived in Britain as well as in Rochdale in the 
forms of community melas and commercial events 
where	various	Indian	and/or	Pakistani	artists	are	often	
invited to perform, no tradition of inviting artists from 
Kashmir was developed. 

The main reason cited for this was the backwardness of 
music and art in Azad Kashmir due to the domination of 
Urdu	and	Punjabi	through	official	Pakistani	patronage.	
The subordinated position of ‘Azad’ Kashmir was 
also cited as a reason that the rich traditions of 
Sufi	poetry	and	music	could	not	make	their	way	to	
Britain. However, some participants disagreed with 
this reasoning. They said it is more to do with the 
marginalised position of Kashmir and Kashmiris. This is 
evidenced by the fact that Saifulmuluk, the epic book of 
Sufi	poetic	philosophy	associated	with	Kashmiri	culture	
is in fact sung by Indian and Pakistani artists in events 
across Britain. However, these respondents failed to 
name any Kashmiri artist who can perhaps be invited to 
perform here. 

No literature is available in Pahari in the local library 
where shelves are full of books in scores of other 
languages used by the communities of Rochdale. 
Recently, Kashmiri Day and Kashmiri cultural evening 
has been announced to be celebrated in October 
every year in Rochdale Town Hall. Last year, some 
British Kashmiri artists performed there and a Pahari 
poetry event was also organised. This is seen by 
many local Kashmiris as a new beginning for Kashmiri 
art and cultural activities in Rochdale, and a lot of 
optimism is shown for the development and growth 
of this tradition as a healthy way for dealing with 
extremist ideas and for alleviating the suffering of 
elder community members who are in isolation. 

There are some established Community organisations 
and networks that can be useful channels for 
information dissemination and communication, for 
example, for raising awareness about services and 
opportunities as well as consultation on various issues.

Currently there is a serious lack of information, 
awareness and opportunities to meaningfully engage 
with relevant local decision-making processes, 
community and neighbourhood development 
programmes, and understanding citizenship rights 
and responsibilities. 

15.1 First generation ‘back home’ networks
Historically, the initial building blocks of the internal 
community infrastructure of the Kashmiri community 
in Rochdale consisted of the ‘back home’ relationship 
amongst	friends,	village	affiliations	and	regional	
identity. It appears that it was then that the Mirpuri 
identity emerged to distinguish them from Punjabis: 

‘Anyone who spoke Pothwari was seen as Mirpuri 
by Punjabis and anyone who spoke Punjabi was 
perceived as Lyallpuri (Faisalabad’s old name) 
by Mirpuris. They did not know much about each 
other’s regions. For example, Punjabi did not 
know what was Mirpur and Mirpuris did not know 
anything about Lyallpur.’ (Bashir)

The earliest community organisation of the Kashmiris 
in Rochdale was the setting up of the funeral 
committee	by	first-generation	Kashmiris,	which	is	
still functional and works to meet funeral costs for 
its members. Weddings are also organised by the 
village and biradari (extended family) networks, but 
now more and more weddings are being organised 
by hired companies. Along with funerals, weddings 
also provide a very important space for interaction 
between Kashmiris from different towns. 

15.2 Politics and welfare
The earliest political organisation of Rochdale 
Kashmiris, like most other towns, was around the 
political question of Kashmir. Public meetings were 
held in Rochdale to raise awareness about the 
Kashmir situation and political organisations were 
set up including Jammu Kashmir Muslim Conference 
(JKMC), Jammu Kashmir Liberation League (JKLL) 
and Jammu Kashmir Liberation Front (JKLF). Recently, 
more political parties have set up their branches 
including the Jammu Kashmir Peoples Party (JKPPP), 
Jammu Kashmir Peoples National Party (JKPNP) and 
Jammu Kashmir Freedom Movement (JKLFM). 

It appears from interviews that by the middle of 
1970s, the interest in local politics started to grow 
significantly	amongst	Mirpuris	and	Punjabis.	Initially,	

they supported the Labour Party where Pakistanis had 
a stronghold. Thus, gradually, Kashmiris started drifting 
away to Liberal Democrats. Master Karim Dad, who 
is among the few Kashmiris with some education and 
understanding of British politics became very popular. 

The Pakistan Welfare Association was formed and 
led	by	Punjabis.	It	set	up	the	first	Pakistani	community	
centres in the Spotland and Waddleworth areas. 
Initially, some Kashmiris were also involved, but 
soon	conflicts	started	to	emerge	because	both	of	
the centres were dominated by Pakistanis and also 
because no advice was offered in Pahari-Pothwari 
languages. 

Most Kashmiri activists until then were mainly 
concerned	with	the	politics	of	the	Kashmir	conflict	
back home and they exhibited little interest in the 
community’s welfare issues in Rochdale. Interestingly, 
it was through their involvement in Kashmiri political 
activism that some Kashmiris started taking an interest 
in local issues. Mr Muhammed Shabir, one of the three 
founders of the Kashmiri Youth Association (KYA) and 
later of the Kashmir Youth Project, provided detailed 
background context to the growth of Kashmiri 
community organisation and the distinct needs and 
issues of Kashmiris in relation to Pakistanis. This is 
summarised below: 

‘In the late 1970s and 1980s, there was a lot of 
racial discrimination and a general feeling that 
we were not given equal opportunities. Our 
people were actively involved in activism around 
the Kashmir issue which we also supported. 
But some of us were more concerned about 
the marginalisation of our community here and 
wanted to do something for people here in 
Rochdale. That is how we formed the Kashmiri 
Youth Association in 1979-80 and we formalised 
and constitutionalised the organisation under the 
guidance of a community development worker 
of Bangladeshi origin. Three of the founding 
members included Shabir Hussain (now a 
successful businessman), Qurban Hussian (now 
Lord of Luton) who was active in JKLF, and Noor 
Hussain (now Dr Noor Hussain). They went to 
school together and stayed in touch and brought 
together, some local people such as Aftab Khan, 
Lala Mehmood Ghori and later on Daalat Ali (now 
a councillor and prominent Pahari writer, Abid 
Hussain Hashmir (now senior local government 
manager) and Hafiz Abdul Qayum (businessman 
and founder of Kramblers; the Kashmiri Ramblers).’

Established politicians, mainly of Pakistani heritage, 
who saw themselves as the sole representatives of the 
Kashmiri and Pakistani community felt threatened and 

1 4 .  C U L T U R A L  L I F E 15 .  C O M M U N I T Y  I N F R A S T R U C T U R E  A N D 
E N G A G E M E N T  C A PA C I T Y

P
age 83



46 47Unknown and Unseen The needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

tried to discredit the KYA by accusing them of using 
funds for militancy in Kashmir: 

‘Although we had no plans to challenge them, they 
opposed us. They were powerful people. They 
were close to MPs who had great influence. The 
overwhelming majority of Kashmiris was clearly 
supportive. When we grew stronger and got an 
office and a worker and started providing people 
with help in filling forms, benefits advice etc, we 
were reported to the police for allegedly abusing 
public funds for militancy in Kashmir. However, 
we continued our work and founded the Kashmir 
Youth Project that became a hub of advice and 
information for the Kashmiri community and is still 
serving Kashmiris as well as other communities.’ 

KYP is mentioned in several interviews and focus 
group discussions as the hub of the Kashmiri 
community in Rochdale. However, concerns were 
also repeatedly expressed that its community aspect 
has been reduced over the years and the focus has 
shifted more on training and renting out space. It 
was also suggested that this can be developed into 
a community place where people can share their 
concerns and discuss problems as a community to 
address the issues which are the focus of this report. 

KYP says that their approach has always been to 
actively encourage and provide space for the training 
and employment for the community, focusing 
particularly on opening up avenues for women and 
young people for their personal and community 
development. However, they have not been an 
exclusively Kashmiri community project and have 
always welcomed other communities of the borough 
including Pakistanis and Bangladeshis. 

15.3 Mosques
Mosques have become the largest community spaces. 
It is here that the majority of the community gets 
together every Friday and for funerals and other 
religious gatherings. Despite the fragmentation 
of mosques and the polarisation on regional and 
sectarian lines, it is generally suggested and hoped 
that mosques can be instrumental for greater 
community welfare, education and empowerment 
if	the	imams	are	properly	qualified	and	trained	in	
teaching and preaching what is compatible with 
the lives of their followers in Rochdale and how to 
empower local communities to be competitive in 
the contemporary situation rather than merely on 
theological issues. From a different viewpoint, it was 
argued that mosques are a religious space and for 
welfare, spaces like KYP should be developed and 
expanded. 

15.4 Women’s participation in community 
networks 
Women’s	participation	remains	confined	to	the	
margins of weddings and funerals and they are almost 
completely excluded from mosques and religious 
networks. However, recently women have created a 
space for themselves through religious gatherings, 
especially melads or Giyarvein sharif, a day to to 
celebrate the birth of Prophet Muhammad (PBUH) 
on the 11th day of every Islamic month. Some women 
participants criticised the male domination of all 
religious spaces and practices and asked for greater 
women to be represented. One woman particularly 
pointed out that due to the lack of representation of 
women, men have free hand to interpret issues such 
as marriages from male perspectives. She relayed 
a case where a woman in an abusive and violent 
relationship was begging her husband and the 
extended family for a divorce but to no avail: 

‘When I asked them why can’t she apply for Khula 
(women’s right to divorce in Islam), they did not 
know what that was and whether a woman had the 
right to end the marriage.’

This research was set out to test the hypothesis that 
Kashmiris were the largest South Asian community 
in Rochdale but due to their absence from the 
ethnic monitoring systems at national and local 
level, their needs and issues go unknown, hence 
unaddressed, which adds to their social exclusion 
and marginalisation. This makes them comparatively 
more vulnerable to certain activities that can lead to 
criminal offences and segregation. 

As	summarised	below	the	findings	from	both	
qualitative and quantitative data collated for this 
research support the assumptions of the hypothesis 
above. 

The links of Britain with Kashmir and the presence of 
Kashmiris in Britain can be traced back to the period 
of British colonial rule. However, the bulk of labour 
migration from Kashmir took place after its division in 
1947, and currently four generations of Kashmiris live 
in Rochdale and other parts of the UK. 

It appears that the Kashmiri community in Britain 
lagged behind other South Asian communities 
mainly because of the subdued position of ‘azad’ 
Kashmir rooted in the unresolved status of the 
Jammu Kashmir state. Over 99% Kashmiris in Britain 
originate from ‘Azad’ Kashmir, which is under Pakistani 
administration. The disparity in the relationship back 
home was recreated in the relationship between 
the Pakistani and Kashmiri community in Britain, 
resulting in the loss of Kashmiri identity and the Pahari 
language, the mother tongue of British Kashmiris from 
‘Azad’ Kashmir. This added to their marginalisation 
and exclusion as a minority population from the British 
Equality and Inclusion framework. 

The statistical method devised for this research shows 
that two thirds of Pakistanis in Rochdale are actually 
Kashmiris, making them the largest South Asian 
community in the borough. 

The awareness about Kashmiris amongst services 
is poor mainly because Kashmiris are not properly 
included in the ethnic monitoring systems, which 
means that Kashmiris remain an unknown and unseen 
community. The local schools, despite having a 
Kashmiri category in the extended categories they 
use, add to the confusion and seriously undermine 
the analytical values of the data about Kashmiri 
pupils. Subsequently, it is not possible for the relevant 
services and authorities to identify and address the 
needs and issues of the Kashmiri community. 

The views of several community members were 
recorded	in	this	research	and	indicate	the	significant	
tendencies towards introversion in the Kashmiri 
community. This appears to be rooted in the lack of 
self-confidence	and	self-respect,	which	stems	from	
the lack of recognition of the Kashmiri identity and 
language on par with other BME communities. To 
some extent this explains the over representation of 
Kashmiris in certain areas of economic activities i.e. 
Night-Time Economy. 

Mosques, along with Kashmiri political and 
community organisations, provide a good starting 
point for relevant council and public services to 
interact and engage with the Kashmiri community in 
order	to	address	the	issues	identified	in	this	report	
and to take action on the recommendations made in 
the next section. 

16 .  C O N C L U S I O N

P
age 84



48 49Unknown and Unseen The needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

The local Council and their partner agencies in the 
public, voluntary and third sector should include the 
Kashmiri category in their all ethnic data monitoring 
systems and collate and analyse their qualitative 
and quantitative data and community engagement 
feedback from service users to inform the design, 
development and delivery of their services for all 
communities.

1. The RBC should share these recommendations with 
the	GMCA,	LGA	and	National	Statistics	Office	and	
all its partner agencies asking for the inclusion of 
the Kashmiri category in their ethnic monitoring 
systems. 

2. RBC and its partner agencies should reach out 
to ensure that relevant information, awareness 
and opportunities are provided for the Kashmiri 
community to meaningfully engage with local 
decision making processes, community and 
neighbourhood development programmes, 
and understanding on citizenship rights and 
responsibilities.

3. The Pahari language should be adopted in the 
list of community languages on a par with other 
languages in Public Health and the Criminal Justice 
System to provide language support, especially 
for the elder Kashmiris with poor English language 
skills. 
cc Pahari language should be represented 

in libraries along with other languages to 
encourage the greater use of this service by the 
Kashmiri community. 
cc Material on Kashmiri history, migration and 

heritage should be collected and included in the 
local museums. 

4. Borough youth services should liaise with and 
devise	specific	activities	for	Kashmiri	youth	to	
increase their sense of positive identity and 
belonging. 

5. Public	Health	should	run	specifically	targeted	
campaigns for the Kashmiri community involving 
Link4Life and CCG – the clinical commission 
group, to increase the use and engagement of 
the Kashmiri community, particularly the older 
generation and women. 

6. The Education department should improve their 
data collection system in relation to Kashmiris by 
using one category, ‘Kashmiri,’ for Kashmiris. They 
should	also	devise	specific	policies	and	strategies	
to address the gap in achievement by Kashmiris 
pupils. 

7. Further research should be carried out to ensure 
that projects such as the drugs outreach are 
accessible to the Kashmiri community. 

8. The	promotion	of	Sufism	and	Pahari	music	should	
be encouraged and supported by all relevant 
services and departments as a key method to 
celebrate Kashmiri cultural heritage through 
community, public and private sector organisations 
such as annual heritage events and melas (festivals). 

9. Targeted campaigns for leisure and sports related 
services to attract Kashmiri youth to engage in 
leisure and recreational activities to tackle youth 
alienation. 

17.  R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S R E F E R E N C E S

1. Alastair Lamb (2008) The Sino-Pakistani boundary 
agreement of 2 March 1963, Australian Outlook, 
18:3,299-312, DOI: 10.1080/10357716408444182

2. Anwar, M. (1979), ‘The Myth of Return: Pakistanis 
in Britain’ Heineman Educational 

3. Ballard, R. (1994), (ed) ‘Desh Pardesh: The South 
Asian Presence in Britain’, Hurst and Co. London. 
- (1983) Emigration in a Wider Context: 

Jullundur and Mirpur Compared. New 
Community 11: pp. 117-136.

4. Behera, N.C. (2006), ‘Demystifying Kashmir’, 
Brookings Institution, Washington.
- (2000), ‘State, Identity and Violence: Jammu, 

Kashmir and Ladakh’. Manohar, 
5. Books. London. 
6. Das, T. (1950), ‘The Kashmir Issue and the United 

Nations’ in Political Science Quarterly, Vo. No. 65 
(2) (Pp: 264-282) available on https://www.jstor.
org/stable/2145524?seq=1#page_scan_tab_
contents.

7. Desai, R. (1963), ‘Indian Immigrants in Britain’, 
Oxford University Press, London. 

8. Hussain. S. (2014), ‘Missing from the minority 
mainstream: Pahari speaking diaspora in 
Britain’, Journal of Multilingual and Multicultural 
Development’,	Taylor	&	Frances.	

9. Kalra, V.S. (2000) ‘From Textile to Taxi Ranks’, 
Ashgate, Aldershot. 

10. Keay, J. (2010). The Honourable Company: History 
of the English East India Company. A history of 
the English East India Company. HaperCollins: 
London. 

11. McNeil,	R.	&	Nevell,	M	(2000).	A	Guide	to	the	
Industrial Archaeology of Greater Manchester. 
Association for Industrial Archaeology. 
Manchester.

12. Michelle, M. (2002), ‘Consuming Kashmir: Shawls 
and Empire, 1500-2000’, Journal of World History, 
Vol.13 No. 1. 

13. Nasreen Ali. (2009), ‘The making of Kashmiri 
Identity’, South Asian Diaspora 1:2, pages 181-192.

14. Noblet, A., 2003. Building health promoting work 
settings: identifying the relationship between 
work characteristics and occupational stress in 
Australia. Health promotion international, 18(4), 
pp.351-359.

15. Patricia	Ellis	&	Zafar	Khan (2010) ‘Diasporic 
mobilisation and the Kashmir issue in 
British politics’, Journal of Ethnic and 
Migration Studies, 24:3, 471-488, DOI: 
10.1080/1369183X.1998.9976645 

16. Pike, A., MacKinnon, D., Coombes, M., Champion, 
T., Bradley, D., Cumbers, A., Robson, L. and 
Wymer, C., 2016. Uneven growth: tackling city 
decline. Published by the Joseph Rowntree 
Foundation, York.

17. Rehman, S. (2011), ‘Azad Kashmir and British 
Kashmiris’, VDM Verlag, Germany. 

18. Saraf,	Y.	(1977),	‘Kashmiris	fight	for	Freedom’,	
Feroz Sons, Lahore. 

19. Schofield,	V.	(2000),	‘Kashmir	in	Conflict’,	I.B.	
Tauris	&	Co.	Ltd.	London.	

20. Shaw, A. (2000), ‘Kinship and Continuity: Pakistani 
Families in Britain’, Routledge, London. 

21. Sneddon, C. (2012), ‘The Untold Story of the 
People	of	Azad	Kashmir’,	Hurst	&	Company,	
London. 
- (2015), ‘Understanding Kashmir and 

Kashmiris’,	Hurst	&	Company,	London.	
22. Visram, R. (2002), ‘Asians in Britain: 400 years of 

History’, Pluto Press, London. 
23. OHCHR (2018), ‘Report on the situation of 

Human Rights in Kashmir’. https://www.
ohchr.org/Documents/Countries/IN/
DevelopmentsInKashmirJune2016ToApril2018.
pdf 

P
age 85



50 51Unknown and Unseen The needs and issues of Kashmiris in Rochdale

N O T E S

P
age 86



52 Unknown and UnseenPage 87



Report to Cabinet 

Date of Meeting 28th January 2020
Portfolio Deputy Leader and 

Portfolio Holder for Health 
and Wellbeing 

Report Author Mark Widdup
Public/Private Document Public

Response to Climate Emergency Motion

Executive Summary

1.

1.1

This report sets out the scale of the challenge we face to meet the Climate 
Emergency Motion declared by this Council. It sets out the work that has 
been done before the Council Motion and since it was declared. It suggests 
what actions and leadership are needed to work towards the ambitions of 
the Council Motion.

To update Members on the Council’s proposed response to the climate 
emergency motion approved by Full Council on 17 July 2019. To ask 
Members to consider the suggested approach being adopted which is 
intended to closely follow the recently approved GM 5 Year Environment 
Plan. Members are also asked to consider the draft terms of reference for a 
Working Group and draft Strategy on Climate Change.  

Recommendation

2. Cabinet is requested to:

I. endorse the approach which uses the GM 5 Year Environment Plan 
as a framework which the Council will follow locally and build actions 
around as set out in paragraph 3.14 of this report;

II. approve the proposed Draft Climate Emergency Strategy, for 
consultation, which is attached as Appendix 3 of the report;

III. approve the membership of the proposed Climate Emergency 
Working Group that was suggested in the Council Motion as detailed 
in paragraph 3.23 of this report. If Members are mindful to approve 
the Working Group then they are asked to approve the draft terms of 
reference detailed in Appendix 1 of the report which will then be 
agreed by the Working Group once formed.

IV. approve the formation of a Climate Change Business Group as 
detailed in paragraph 3.30 of this report.

Page 88

Agenda Item 9



V. note the existing GM and Council projects and  activities which should 
contribute to the 2038 target as set out in Appendix 2 of the report; 

VI. note that a request for an initial capital budget allocation has been 
included in the budget process to support the climate emergency 
agenda as detailed in paragraph 5.1 of this report. 

VII. consider the personnel implications set out in paragraph 7.1 of the 
report and approve the proposal to establish a post of Climate 
Emergency Officer for an initial three year fixed term contract.

VIII. note that the Climate Emergency Working Group once established 
will be tasked to agree the final Climate Change Strategy and 
produce a detailed climate emergency action plan which can form the 
basis of future discussions and decisions at Cabinet.

Reason for Recommendation

3. The recommendations are put forward to enable the motion on the Climate 
Emergency as passed at Council on 17th July 2019 to be progressed.

Key Points for Consideration

4.

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

Council Motion – 17 July 2019

The Council noted that on 8th October 2018, the UN Intergovernmental 
Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) published a report on the impacts of global 
warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse 
gas Emissions.

The report warned that the risk of catastrophic climate change including 
extreme heat, drought, flooding and climate-related poverty would 
significantly increase unless global warming could be kept to a maximum of 
1.5°C.

The report authors found that global warming is likely to reach 1.5°C 
between 2030 and 2052 if it continues to increase at the current rate and 
say that urgent and unprecedented action is required to meet the target. 

The Council recognises that the scale of the challenge is unprecedented.         
Approximately 97.5% of emissions within the borough are beyond the 
Council’s direct control, so everyone within the borough has a role to play if 
we are to successfully reduce emissions. 

Tackling climate change can only be a common endeavour and will require 
the Council and its Partners, residents, businesses and other organisations 
to play their part.

Page 89



4.6

4.7

At its meeting on 17 July 2019, Full Council resolved to:

 declare a climate emergency;
 work towards ensuring that the borough is carbon neutral by 2050, in 

line with the Mayor and the Government’s targets. Achieving this will 
require significant investment and policy initiatives from the 
Government, and Council hopes it would be achieved earlier than 
2050;

 work towards ensuring that the Council is carbon neutral by 2038 (*), 
recognising the leadership role it has in the borough;

 develop a working group to support the Council to move from 
declaration to delivery drawing in cross sector expertise, capacity and 
capability.

 The working group should draw on existing expertise within the 
borough as well as including residents who are representative of the 
borough as a whole;

 set in place a process of engagement and collaborative action that 
enables an action plan to be considered by Cabinet and Council in 
early 2020, based on achieving the aforementioned targets.

 (An amendment to the motion was moved, seconded and approved 
which amended the target date for being carbon neutral to 2038)

Greater Manchester Position

A Greater Manchester Green Summit was held in March 2019.  A GM 5 year 
Environment Plan was launched which set out the urgent steps which 
needed to happen to provide GM with the best chance of achieving carbon 
neutral by 2038. 

To achieve the plan’s ambitions requires urgent action from everyone in 
Greater Manchester – from businesses, the public sector, and local 
residents. 

The plan sets out how Greater Manchester’s local authorities and health 
sector will work to reduce our environmental impact (of our buildings, 
vehicle fleets and procurement processes, in particular).

We also need businesses to lead the way, maximising the potential 
economic benefits resulting from the transition to a low-carbon economy. 
This includes 
increasing the efficiency of how businesses heat and power their buildings 
and 
produce goods/services, reducing the environmental impact of how their 
goods and staff travel, and installing renewable energy and heating 
technologies at their premises.

Staff will play a key role in driving these changes within their businesses 
and several organisations have supported this by running carbon literacy 
training for their staff or promoting environmental volunteering.

Page 90



4.8

As residents, we can all take what might seem like small steps but which 
will add up to making a big difference across Greater Manchester. We can 
cycle and walk for short journeys and use public transport for longer ones. 
Where we do need to drive, we can car share or replace a petrol/diesel car 
with an electric one when we come to upgrade. We may also be able to 
install renewable energy generation at our home and upgrade our heating 
system and insulation to reduce the impact of the energy we use.

Our consumption of products that are made outside the city region, such as 
food, clothing and single-use plastics, can also have a significant impact on 
the environment – so we need to think about the products we buy and 
consume.

The above actions won’t be enough, we all need to work together in new 
and 
innovative ways – in how we develop new technologies, how we fund 
and finance investment in deploying what already exists, how different 
sectors work together, how we increase the capacity and capability of 
our workforce and how we educate and change people’s behaviours.

Key Aims of the GM 5 Year Environment Plan

What do we need to do over the next 5 years?
There are six broad themes set out in the Environment Plan as follows; 

Our Energy Supply – the source of power and heat to our buildings and 
transport

 Increasing local renewable electricity generation, de-carbonising how 
we heat our buildings, increasing the diversity and flexibility of our 
supply

Our travel and transport – how we move and how goods are transported

 Increasing use of public transport and active travel routes; 
 phasing out fossil-fuelled private vehicles and replacing them with 

zero emission alternatives; 
 tackle to most polluting vehicles on our roads; 
 establishing a zero emissions bus fleet; 
 de-carbonising freight transport and shifting to rail and water transport

Our homes, workplaces and public buildings – the demand for energy to 
heat the places we live and work

 Reducing the heat demand from existing homes; 
 reducing the heat demand from existing commercial and public 

buildings;
 reducing the heat demand in new buildings.

Page 91



4.9

4.10

4.11

Our consumption and production of resources – how sustainably we 
produce goods and services and what we do with them after we have used 
them

 Producing goods and services more sustainably, moving to a circular 
economy; 

 becoming more responsible consumers; 
 managing our waste as sustainably as possible; 
 reducing unnecessary food waste.

Our natural environment – increasing the wide range of benefits provided 
by our air, land, water and biodiversity

 Managing our land sustainably; 
 managing our water and its environmental sustainability; 
 achieving a net gain in biodiversity for new development; 
 increasing investment into our natural environment; 
 increasing engagement with our natural environment.

Our resilience and adaptation to climate change – how resilient we are to 
climate change and how well we adapt to its impacts

 Embedding climate change resilience and adaptation in all policies;
 increasing the resilience of an investment in our critical infrastructure;
 implementing a priorities programme of nature-based climate 

adaptation action; 
 improving monitoring and reporting.

How will we achieve the target for GM and Rochdale Borough?

Climate emergency cannot be just another service performance goal familiar 
to Council Members and Officers, where control and accountability is clear 
and supported through existing statute or policy. This is a challenge where 
the totality of solutions needed is not clear and the approach we take will be 
emergent.

The Council will need to put in place appropriate governance arrangements 
to ensure accountability which adhere to the Council’s constitution and 
decision making process, however, we anticipate the extent of the 
challenge, potential solutions and community opinion are all things that need 
to inform the evolution of our actions and plans.

The Council cannot provide all the solutions, as combating climate change 
needs system wide change that involves communities, business, individuals 
and stakeholders across all sectors of the economy.  We have an 
opportunity to address this challenge through the development of a longer 
term vision for our Borough whilst ensuring we deliver real change in the 
short and medium term. 

Page 92



4.12

4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16

4.17

The Council is best placed to help facilitate this work through a co-creation 
process. It will require major investments, changes to systems of how we 
use and interact with energy and changes to how we live our lives and 
define success. It will also redefine how we interact with our environment. 
Above all, it will involve collective leadership and shared ambition to deal 
with this challenge head on, and this report sets the framework for how we 
can define and develop future actions.

It is proposed to use the GM 5 Year Environment Plan as the framework on 
which to deliver our actions at a district level.  Given that the GM target can 
only be achieved if all 10 districts are seeking to achieve similar aims it 
would seem appropriate to link in with the above themes.

There are already a number of GM projects in which Rochdale is actively 
involved. For example, in order to tackle the major risk that air pollution 
poses, the 10 local councils in Greater Manchester are developing a Clean 
Air Plan.

Appendix 3 sets out a draft Climate Emergency Strategy. The public facing 
strategy outlines the effects and impacts of climate change, as well as the 
current picture in Rochdale, to demonstrate why the Council has declared a 
climate emergency. It includes the national, regional and local policy 
agenda, and targets for reducing the impact. The strategy has been 
informed by toolkits, data, strategies and frameworks prepared by various 
agencies including Friends of the Earth, Ashden, Tyndall Centre, Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority and United Nations. The Council’s goals 
have been framed around the Sustainable Development Goals which are a 
blueprint to achieve social, economic and environmental sustainability. The 
outcomes are also aligned with the GM Environmental Plan, whilst adopting 
a wider focus for climate action to ensure collective responsibility across all 
council services. The draft strategy will continue to be developed through 
consultation and accompanied by a delivery plan to steer the Council’s 
activity on an annual basis, over the next five years. 

Appendix 2 sets out the existing GM and Council projects or activities which 
should contribute to the 2038 target. 

Climate Emergency Working Group

Members are asked to endorse that a Climate Emergency Working Group 
should be established in order both to accelerate action towards the 
Council’s existing sustainability objectives and potentially to set more 
demanding targets. Arrangements for taking forward its recommendations 
would be a matter for further consideration by this Committee.

In a bid to put climate concerns at the heart of council decisions, a Climate    
Emergency Working Group will be established to consider strategies and 
actions that will help achieve our carbon-neutral ambitions. Given the broad 
range of issues within the 6 themes it is suggested that the Working Group 
consist of the following;

Page 93



 Councillors – Cross Party (2 Labour, 1 Con, 1 LD)
 Representative from a new Climate Emergency Business Group (see 

below)
 Member of Youth Parliament
 Action Together (Community and Voluntary Sector Organisations 

Rep)
 Residents (2)
 Rochdale Boroughwide Housing (RSL representative)
 Director of Neighbourhoods
 Officers to provide support on Policy, Legal, Finance, 

communications etc
 Academic support from University sector

Young people should be a central voice in the group to help shape the future 
with the above stakeholders.  It is proposed to ask the Youth Parliament 
how they wish to be represented on this group.

The Working Group will be supported by a range of Officers as required 
covering areas including communications and marketing, HR, finance and 
legal. External expert advice may need to be sought although we could look 
to GM for support in this regard connected to the 5 Year Environment Plan.

A draft of the suggested terms of reference of this working group is attached 
at Appendix 2 of this report.

It will be important that the Climate Emergency Working Group is 
established with the principles of equality, inclusion and diversity.
  
Rochdale Council will call on central government to provide the powers, 
resources and help with funding to make this possible.

 Climate Emergency Business Group

The Borough has a wealth of knowledge and expertise in the field of Green 
Energy and climate change.  It is therefore proposed to establish a Climate 
Emergency Business Group which can provide technical, professional and 
commercial support to the Council.

A number of potential attendees have been identified and these will be 
confirmed in due course.

Alternatives Considered

Given Rochdale Council has approved a motion to declare a climate 
emergency it is appropriate to consider how the Council, its partners and 
stakeholders will deliver the targets by 2038.

It would seem appropriate to use the GM 5 Year Environment Plan as a 
framework on which to base out local action plans. The alternative would be 
for the Council to establish its own model which in the view of Officers would 
look very similar to the one already approved at a GM level.

Page 94



Costs and Budget Summary

5.1

5.2

5.3

It is widely accepted that in order to effectively implement a climate 
emergency plan there is a requirement to establish a climate emergency 
budget.  This could be a combination of revenue and capital investment 
which will be clearer once Officers have completed the assessment of what 
activity we are currently undertaking and what new actions may come from 
the Climate Emergency Working Group.  Funding will have to be identified if 
revenue schemes are developed and will be subject to future consideration 
by Members, however the draft capital programme includes a £1M per year 
for the first 5 years to link with the 5 Year Plan this being subject to approval 
at Budget Council in February.

It is further proposed that in order to deliver such a large and ambitious 
programme a dedicated resource will be required.  It is proposed to establish 
a post of ‘Climate Emergency Officer’ for a fixed three year period. The 
investment required will be circa £150k for the three year period. Once the 
capital schemes are identified the post will be charged against the capital 
budget however the post will require some revenue funding whilst the 
schemes are developed. It is proposed that £50k is allocated from budget 
pressures to fund the post for 12 months whilst the capital investment 
schemes are identified and progressed. 

It should be noted that few if any funding sources are currently available to 
local authorities and significant action would be dependent on new funding 
being made available following the government’s decision to increase the 
targets in the Climate Change Act.  For example, the GM Clean Air Plan is 
wholly dependent on Government Funding for its successful implementation.

Risk and Policy Implications

6.

6.1

6.2

6.3

Legal implications will be assessed and the Working Group will receive 
advice as proposals and actions are developed and delivered.

The climate emergency agenda will link closely to the Council’s new 
corporate plan and as specific actions are proposed these will be linked to 
delivery of our outcomes for the Borough.

A full risk register will be developed to accompany any actions plans.

Workforce Equality Impacts Assessment

Any workforce equality issues arising from this report will be identified as 
the proposals progress.

Page 95



Equality/Community Impact Assessments

Community impacts from a new Climate Emergency Action Plan will 
reduce carbon emissions and will reduce fuel bills. The type and extent of 
impacts will depend on the focus of the action plan.

Potential carbon reduction measures are broad and there may be 
community aspirations to deliver measures in sustainable transport, air 
quality, biodiversity enhancement and water management, yet these may 
fall outside of the requirements of the funding source(s) and as such 
expectations may need to be managed.

6.4

Consultation

7. There will be ongoing consultation around the Council’s suggested 
approach to the Climate Emergency.  Residents will be invited to be 
involved in putting together our action plan and to have regular 
opportunities to develop future proposals as they arise.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

GM 5 Year Environment Plan https://www.greatermanchester-
ca.gov.uk/media/1986/5-year-plan-
branded_3.pdf

For Further Information Contact: Mark Widdup – Director of 
Neighbourhoods
mark.widdup@rochdale.gov.uk 

Page 96

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/1986/5-year-plan-branded_3.pdf
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/1986/5-year-plan-branded_3.pdf
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/1986/5-year-plan-branded_3.pdf
mailto:mark.widdup@rochdale.gov.uk


Appendix 1

Draft terms of reference of the Climate Emergency Working Group

1. It is proposed that the draft terms of reference for a working group should be: 

 To scrutinise the development of new carbon emissions reduction targets for 
the Council beyond 2020; 

 To consider the effectiveness of planned activities to meet the Council’s 2038 
carbon neutral commitment;

 To propose new actions to achieve the above, drawing out budgetary and 
other resource implications for the Council and the Borough; 

 To suggest oversight and review mechanisms in order to ensure progress 
towards targets;

 To collate and consider good practice from other cities, towns and local 
authorities from the UK and internationally;

 To consider how the powers which city and regional agencies currently 
possess can be better used to achieve the above and where further asks 
need to be made of national government;

 To ensure that its work is fully informed by the need to address inequalities 
across the Borough’s communities in relation to climate issues;

 To draft initial recommendations by no later than March 2020. 

2. Cross-party membership of such a group will reflect the significance of the 
issues which it will address. Members will also be able to invite external 
partners, third sector bodies and community voices to make representation 
and presentations to the Working Group.

3. The suggested membership of the Climate Emergency Woking Group is as 
follows:-

 Councillors – Cross Party (2 Labour, 1 Con, 1 LD)
 Representative from a new Climate Change Business Group
 Member of Youth Parliament
 Action Together (Community and Voluntary Sector Organisations Rep)
 Residents (2)
 Rochdale Boroughwide Housing (RSL representative)
 Academic support from University sector
 Director of Neighbourhoods
 Head of Policy and Performance

NB - Officers from Legal, Finance and other services will attend as and when 
required

Page 97



4. This approach offers a good opportunity to engage with the Borough’s 
residents in ways which can support the Council’s community empowerment 
ambitions. The UN, for instance, has been commending the use of a Talanoa 
dialogue for such purposes. This is an open, participative and creative means 
of seeking to make wise decisions for the collective good. It has its origins in 
community practice in Fiji and other Pacific islands and has been adopted by 
the UN for the purposes of getting parties together to talk about climate 
change issues. It is being actively promoted by the UN as part of a collective 
conversation about how the main aims of the Paris climate agreements are 
progressing.

5. It is proposed that the Working Group will facilitate a ‘Citizen’s Assembly’ in 
the Borough to seek the views of our residents on the issue of Climate 
Change and the Green agenda.  Views collected from this Assembly will be 
included in the formulation of our strategies and plans and will form the basis 
of an open dialogue with our residents as the action plan is rolled out.  

6. In addition, given children and young people are key stakeholders in this 
agenda it is proposed to facilitate a Young Person’s Conference/Workshop 
which will be dedicated to listening to their views and ideas and how they 
want to be engaged throughout this process.

7. The Council considers it appropriate to engage in a positive way with all 
organisations which may have an interest in Climate Change. To this end will 
be actively inviting groups including ‘Extinction Rebellion’ and others to 
engage in the development of our draft Strategy and action planning and to 
assist us to deliver our ambitions working towards 2038.  

8. The climate justice agenda is particularly important in relation both to local 
communities and on a global scale. The Working Group will be sensitive to 
the fact that climate change can act as an additional stress on vulnerable 
communities in the Borough, particularly around flood risk and increased 
summer heat.

9. There is evidence that climate change is very strongly gendered in its 
impacts. Globally girls and women are often the first to have to deal with the 
effects of changing weather on their families’ security and wellbeing and the 
first to suffer from the effects of conflict.  It is therefore proposed that the 
working group should look to reflect this key dimension of climate change in 
its own composition and ensure equal gender representation on the group.

Page 98



Appendix 2

Examples of current activity Rochdale Council is doing to support the Climate 
Emergency Motion

1. Using the six broad themes in the Strategy the current activity can be 
summarised as follows

Our energy supply – the source of power and heat to our buildings and transport

Increasing local renewable electricity generation, de-carbonising how we heat our 
buildings, increasing the diversity and flexibility of our supply

 The Council has secured planning consent for a 5MW solar Chamber House 
Farm, Heywood.  Exploring involvement in a GM ‘Unlocking Green Energy 
Bid’ to fund up to 40% of construction costs with energy generated by the 
farm put into the national grid and sold back to the Council as a saving on its 
energy bill.  

 Existing River Roch hydro scheme adjacent to Rochdale interchange – TfGM

Our travel and transport – how we move and how goods are transported
Increasing use of public transport and active travel routes

 Development of a Rochdale Local Cycling and Walking Plan (LCWIP) to 
implement new/improved cycle links in areas of perceived greatest 
opportunity to change travel behaviours. Funding sought from GMCA/Dft 
and/or developer contributions

 Beelines – working with GMCA on a number of cycle corridor scheme to 
promote walking/cycling schemes from the likes of GM Mayor’s Challenge 
Fund and/or DfT, developer contribution.

 Castleton cycle corridor MCF scheme - £1.4m grant from GM Mayor’s 
Challenge Fund to provide an improved cycle/walking corridor through centre 
of Castleton around railway station 

 Sudden – Rochdale cycle corridor – see MCF comments above, up to £10M 
scheme which we are seeking Transport for North/DfT funding Castleton 
Station Masterplan – re-use of vacant land for up to 2,000 residential units, 

Page 99



new station parking and commercial uses on brownfield land within 10 
minutes walking distance of Castleton railway station. Lobbying for additional 
rail investment 

 The Highways Service have project managed the implementation of 4 Electric 
Car Charging units across the Borough within publicly accessible car parks. 
EV users can join the scheme and park for free whilst charging at 
https://www.chargeyourcar.org.uk/ the team continue to contribute ideas and 
support the implementation of “rapid” EV charging points via TfGM and OLEV 
funding.

 The Car Parking team offer permits for parking and a differential charge for 
the cost of the permit based on CO2 emissions, the classification is 185g/CO2 
are charged at a lower rates and higher emitting vehicle classes are charged 
at a higher rate.

 The Highways team have been part of a major multi-modal policy study for 
Greater Manchester called “Streets for All”. Officers and elected Members 
have attended workshops on how road space can be reallocated along major 
strategic corridors to encourage different modes of travel and be a destination 
in their own right.

 Rochdale Station Gateway Masterplan – residential led masterplan for around 
800 new homes, commercial uses, new public square, transport interchange, 
walking and cycling links to Town Centre and 500 space P & R around 
Rochdale railway station.  Lobbying for additional rail investment 

 Acquisition of land at Smithy Bridge station for additional Park and Ride – up 
to 250 spaces 

 The majority of street lighting is via LED bulbs and continues to be the policy 
for bulb replacements.

Phasing out fossil-fuelled private vehicles and replacing them with zero emission 
alternatives;

 Continue to work with GMCA and TfGM as part of the Clean Air Plan
 

Moving to a Green Fleet of Council vehicles

 Transition of Council fleet to electric vehicles - EM have a fleet of 12 Nissan 
eNV200 fully electric small vans that have replaced 12 small diesel vans. This 
removes harmful emissions from approximately 10% of EM’s fleet and 
provides a saving in running costs of £1700 per annum for each vehicle. It is 
our intention to purchase fully electric medium sized vans as soon as they are 
available on the market. EM is also currently working on replacing all of our 

Page 100

https://www.chargeyourcar.org.uk/


non-Euro 6 compliant fleet with new compliant vehicles in order to comply with 
the GM Clean Air Zone in 2021.

 EV charging - EM have installed 17 EV charge points within Green Lane 
Depot consisting of 15x 16amp (slow) and 2 x 32amp (fast). These charge 
points can supply charging for approximately 50+ electric vehicles based on 
an average daily mileage of 27 miles and an average range of 100 miles per 
vehicle.

Tackle the most polluting vehicles on our roads; 

 GM Clean Air Plan
 As part of the Council’s commitment in improving our environment and air 

quality, the Licensing Service engaged the services of a firm called Electric 
Blue under their EVolve project. The purpose of the project was to acquire a 
better understanding both of the practical and financial impact of introducing 
EV’s, for the private hire and taxi trade, within the Borough. This would involve 
providing the necessary information to drivers to assist them to migrate from 
their existing type of licensed vehicles (petrol and diesel) to electric. Individual 
reports are being provided to private hire and taxi drivers to demonstrate the 
feasibility of converting to EV’s / ultra-low emission vehicles. The information 
within the reports are generated from the installation of telematic devices 
within the private hire and taxi vehicles, which captured the following data: 

 Evidence of the main routes and stopping points for the private hire 
and taxi vehicles  – data which perhaps could then be used for any 
future electric charging point requirements and locations;

 The analysis and comparison of the running costs of the existing 
vehicle with an electric vehicle; 

 Quantify the air quality improvements afforded by switching to electric 
vehicles; etc.

In partnership with Electric Blue, the Licensing Service were able to secure 
the ‘buy-in’ from our trade. 

The key findings of the EVolve project included:

 Average daily mileage was around 114 miles. 
 99.9% of all shifts completed by drivers could be completed in an 

Electric Vehicle with just 1 rapid charge top up (15-30 mins) during the 
shift. (8509 of 8514 journeys)

 Over the 28 days of data being collated, the drivers would save almost 
2/3rds of running costs by converting to an EV. (£6,188.27 compared 
to £2,201.42 in a comparative Electric Vehicle)

 There are substantial comparative emissions savings that can be 
made.

Page 101



 £45k of extra disposable income could be available to the drivers. This 
is for 21 vehicles only - this amount can be calculated across the entire 
fleet across converting to EV.

Establishing a zero emissions bus fleet; 

 Continue to work with GMCA and TfGM as part of the Clean Air Plan and 
linked to Bus deregulation 

De-carbonising freight transport and shifting to rail and water transport 

 GM Freight and Logistics Strategy being led by TfGM

Our homes, workplaces and public buildings – the demand for energy to heat the 
places we live and work

Reducing the heat demand from existing homes; 

 The Council continues to implement a programme grant funded, lasting 
energy-saving improvements to private sector properties with measures 
including external and cavity wall insulation, loft insulation, small measures 
(LED lighting, radiator reflector panels, heating controls, etc).
 

 We commission a CIC, EnergyWorks, hosted by Groundwork Oldham, who 
provide energy advice and grant funding across the borough and to all 
tenures.

 
 RBC was recently ‘Commended’ at the North West region of the Energy 

Efficiency Awards for its work in the community

 The manager from EnergyWorks has been awarded ‘Energy Efficiency 
Champion of the Year 2019’ at the recent National Energy Efficiency Awards 
for her work in promoting and delivering energy efficiency measures across 
the borough.

 RBC was the best performing borough in GM in delivering the Green Deal for 
Communities programme, both in terms of number of measures delivered and 
the lowest unit price per measure. 

 Strategic Housing’s activity, on behalf of the council, has been mainly (over 
95%) in the private sector and has achieved the following outputs between 
2012 to date:

Page 102



Measure Number of 
installs

Total cost 
saving p.a 

for 
residents*

Total tonnes CO2 
saved p.a

External wall 
insulation

400 £64k 280

Condensing 
boilers

300 £37.5k 120

First time 
central 
heating

63 £10k 378

Loft 
insulation

20 £3k 8

Cavity wall 
insulation

70 £11.2k 32

Energy use 
advice

5308 £1.75m 3,981

Total 853 £1.877m (per 
annum)

4,799 (tonnes p.a)

*Figures from EST

Reducing the heat demand from existing commercial and public buildings;

 Reduce energy use in own estate- EM currently have plans for the installation 
of a wind turbine and a solar panel installation on the roof of the “Green 
Shed”. In addition we have already installed a voltage optimiser on our 
electricity supply. Further improvements have taken place in respect of the 
installation of double glazed windows throughout the depot and smart LED 
lighting that reduces the amount of power required to light the offices.

 Replacement of Rochdale cremators- the procurement will look at reducing 
energy consumption compared to the current cremators

 Replaced light fittings to LED at six council buildings which will reduce energy 
consumption and maintenance costs

 Fitted solar PV panels to L’boro sports hall roof generating solar power for the 
sports centre and generating a small income for the Council

Page 103



 Replaced heating boilers at three primary schools over the summer to more 
energy efficient boilers linked to building a management system that will help 
further reduce consumption

 Fitted a new energy management system to N1R which is helping manage 
our systems more efficiently and reducing energy consumption 

 
 Bio mass boiler will run throughout the winter months which generates an 

income at N1R, the boiler is used at peak times when the building heating 
output is at its maximum to reduce gas consumption

 Light Feature to the front entrance at N1R needs replacing, the replacement 
fittings will be LED which will double the lifespan of the fittings and will be 
more efficient

 Energy awareness newsletter to be prepared for all schools and service leads 
in corporate assets which will give energy advice on how to reduce energy 
consumption 

 Staff are constantly reminded to switch off products when not in use. In 
particular heavy use items such as ovens

Reducing the heat demand in new buildings.

 GMSF emerging policies around this – Planning are considering an option for 
Rochdale to work up a local planning policy guidance document on this and 
other e.g. Solar 

Our consumption and production of resources – how sustainably we produce 
goods and services and what we do with them after we have used them

Producing goods and services more sustainably, moving to a circular economy; 

 Link with STaR on procurement issues and look to undertake Climate Change 
Impact Assessment on all large procurement decisions over OJEU limits 
(£180K)

Becoming more responsible consumers; 

 Promote key messages through Council and Partner communications and 
marketing to residents

 Continue to promote recycling with particular emphasis on Food waste 

Managing our waste as sustainably as possible; 

 The Council is launching an Eco-Business Scheme in November 2019 which 
will be promoted at all opportunities by officers across Public Protection.  The 
scheme will raise awareness and encourage businesses to become more 

Page 104



sustainable and they can make a pledge and sign up to the scheme.  
Commitments will be made by those that sign up which relate to the following 
areas: Energy Efficiency (LED bulbs, turn off electrical equipment, encourage 
walking, cycling to work, car share) Waste & Food Waste Reduction, Plastic 
Minimisation, Reducing Environmental Impact.  We will also be signposting 
businesses to support and available funding via the Business Growth Hub and 
will promote businesses that sign up and they will get something to display at 
their premise.  The scheme is currently being finalised and we aim to formally 
launch it in November.  Branding and criteria has just been agreed and signed 
off.  

Reducing unnecessary food waste.

 Continue our efforts in promoting recycling of food waste

 Raise awareness with Schools who currently procure mixed waste collections

Our natural environment – increasing the wide range of benefits provided by our 
air, land, water and biodiversity

Managing our land sustainably; 

 Improve the public realm in Rochdale Town Centre through the Town Hall 
Restoration Project. Creating high quality urban greenspace, improving 
sustainable drainage etc 

 Naturalisation of grass verges and open spaces across the borough – by 
changing from a grass monoculture to planting with a wider variety of plant 
species which will encourage a greater biodiversity. These areas also require 
less mowing and maintenance once established so reducing fuel usage.

 Identify new allotment locations – ongoing piece of work to increase allotment 
provision across the borough. Allotment use can reduce food miles and 
residents’ carbon budgets by growing their own. 

Managing our water and its environmental sustainability

 The Littleborough to Rochdale town centre flood risk management project in 
partnership with the Environment Agency will better protect more than 1000 
homes and businesses 

 Our partnership with the National Flood Forum supported by the Regional 
Flood and Coastal Committee works with communities and businesses 
vulnerable to flood risk helping to promote a culture of personal and 
neighbourhood flood resilient behaviour and support local flood action groups. 

Page 105



 We are working with the Mersey Forest and Environment Agency to deliver 
Natural Flood Risk Management measures in the South Pennine fringes of 
the borough 

 Working with the GMCA, Regional Flood and Coastal Committee, EA and 
United Utilities to develop, promote and deliver best practice in sustainable 
urban drainage (Fran)

Achieving a net gain in biodiversity for new development;

 We are working with the GMCA and Natural England to develop a GM wide 
approach to promoting and delivering biodiversity net gain through new 
development.
 

Increasing investment into our natural environment;
 

 There is the GM Natural Capital Investment Plan which seeks to identify a 
pipeline of projects and existing and new streams of investments that can be 
utilised.

 Through our Pennine Edge Forest initiative and working with City of Trees, 
Woodland Trust and the Forestry Commission we are supporting the 
development of the Northern Forest project and working to identify land that 
could be included in new tree planting proposals and further funding 
opportunities to support this.

 Littleborough/Hollingworth Lake Masterplan – improved recreational 
opportunities around Hollingworth Lake - Link 4 Life

 Currently involved in the development and implementation of the Greater 
Manchester Clean Air Plan to tackle nitrogen dioxide exceedances.  
Stakeholder engagement work has taken place and the results are being 
considered across AGMA and with TfGM.  We are planning to take part in 
public consultation on the clean air plan.  Nicola Rogers and Laura Elliott are 
leading on this area of work. 

 A real time air quality monitoring station is to be installed in the borough.

 Monitoring of NOX at various points across the borough currently takes place 
by the installation of monitoring tubes at points across the borough.  The 
number of monitoring points has recently been increased.  

Increasing engagement with our natural environment.

Page 106



 Development and improvements across our Parks and Countryside services 
to encourage participation and more people using the outdoors

 We are working as a member organisation with Pennine Prospects who are 
developing proposals for a South Pennines People’s Park which celebrates 
the South Pennines and its landscape and wildlife, promotes better access for 
recreation and by public transport, supports a sustainable rural economy and 
encourages the delivery of sustainable land management and environmental 
services for climate resilience e.g. peatland restoration that supports carbon 
and flood risk management.

Our resilience and adaptation to climate change – how resilient we are to climate 
change and how well we adapt to its impacts

Embedding climate change resilience and adaptation in all policies;

Increasing the resilience of an investment in our critical infrastructure;

Implementing a priorities programme of nature-based climate adaptation action; 

Improving monitoring and reporting

 These areas will be developed as our plans become more detailed

Page 107



DRAFT

Our plan of action for the planet

2020 - 2025

P
age 108



Effects of climate change
Harmful greenhouse gases are in the 
atmosphere. They come from human 

activity and natural processes 

Councillor Sara Rowbotham
Lead member for Climate Change

Steve Rumbelow
Chief Executive

Pollution is having a major impact on the natural environment 
and our health. It is causing the planet to get hotter which is 
leading to rising sea levels, warmer and acidic oceans, more 
rain and heatwaves. These environmental changes bring a 
threat of flooding, drought, land erosion, loss of habitation for 
wildlife and an increase in heat and cold related illness. Our 
borough has already suffered terrible flooding which has 
caused disruption to essential services, transport and loss of 
income for local businesses, so we know the devastation it can 
bring. In the UK, 40,000 people die annually from air pollution. 
Around 10% of Rochdale’s population have a respiratory 
disease and it is estimated that around 4.2% of deaths in 
Rochdale are related to respiratory diseases caused by air 
pollution. The climate emergency is threatening our existence 
and we must act quickly. Pollution mostly comes from human 
activity so we must all increase our efforts to reduce our own 
impact on the planet. 

Our borough is facing major environmental challenges. The 
Council must help to limit the rise in global temperatures, 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions, reduce the amount of waste 
that is produced and ensure places and spaces are resilient to 
the shocks and stresses of climate change. This plan identifies 
the urgent action we need to take to achieve environmental 
sustainability and enhance the prosperity of people and the 
planet. This includes using renewable sources of energy for 
powering transport and heating buildings, being more efficient 
and responsible when we are making, buying and using goods 
and services, protecting and maintaining the natural 
environment and ensuring that our infrastructure can 
withstand expected and unexpected situations. Taking climate 
action will improve lives, not diminish them. It can deliver 
additional benefits such as improved health, job opportunities 
and bringing people together. Most of all it will secure a future 
for the next generation.

P
age 109



Impact of climate change

Weather is 
more 

extreme

The planet is heating up 
which is having a 

negative effect on the 
natural environment

Nitrogen dioxide
(NO2)

Methane
Carbon dioxide 

(CO2)

Oceans are 
warmer, 

acidic and 
sea levels 
are rising Deforestation means there 

are less trees to absorb 
carbon dioxide

Antarctic ice 
and glaciers 
are melting

Farming 
contributes to 

greenhouse gases

Burning fossil fuels 
contributes to 

greenhouse gases

Decomposing waste 
creates carbon 

dioxide and methane 

P
age 110



Poor air quality and warmer and 
colder temperatures 

Heat and cold related illnesses, 
respiratory and communicable 

diseases 

People in poor health and dying 
earlier, reduced productivity, 
pressure on health services

Warm and acidic 
oceans and changing landscapes

Not habitable for marine and other
wildlife, plants, trees and shrubs

Wildlife and plant decline, loss of 
wildlife habitats, loss of food and 

medicines

Storms and heavy rainfall  
Rising sea levels and flooding from 
water courses and surface water 

runoff 

Land erosion, damage to buildings, 
pressure on infrastructure, 

disruption to services/supply chains

Hotter summers and
 milder winters

Drought, increase in tropical insects Pressure on water resources, risk to 
crops, transmission of diseases

Waste 
Pollutes soil and water, attracts 

pests, easy to ignite, slow to 
decompose

Hygiene and contamination issues 
lead to sickness, wildfires, harmful 
chemicals and gases released into 

the atmosphere

Scarce resources 
(energy, food, water)

Cost of living increases e.g. utility 
bills and insurance premiums Slow economic growth and poverty

European and UK climate change policy and targets
The European Union and UK Government have set targets for reducing the impact of climate change

P
age 111



Global warming
The Paris Agreement 2015
Keep global temperatures well below 2°C and aim for 1.5 °C

Carbon dioxide emissions 
The Paris Agreement 2015
Reduce global greenhouse gas emissions to below 1990 levels by second half of the 21st century
Climate Change Act 2008
Bring UK carbon dioxide emissions to net zero by 2050

Nitrogen dioxide emissions 
The Air Quality Standards Regulations 2010
 NO2 emissions to comply with EU Limit Values in the shortest possible time

 The hourly mean value may not exceed 200 micrograms per cubic metre (µg/m3) more than 18 times in a year 
 The NO2 annual mean value may not exceed 40 micrograms per cubic metre

Renewable energy
Renewable energy directive 2018
32% of energy is fulfilled by renewables by 2030 
10% of transport fuels come from renewable sources by 2030

Waste management
The Waste Framework Directive 2008
Cut the amount of waste going to landfill by 10% by 2035
65% of municipal waste to be recycled by 2035
70% of packaging waste to be recycled by 2030 (85% of paper and cardboard, 80% of Ferrous metals, 80% aluminium, 75% glass
Halve per capita, food waste at the retail and consumer level 

Regional policy and targets
The Greater Manchester Combined Authority has set targets for Greater Manchester, aligned with European and national policy 

P
age 112



Carbon dioxide emissions
Greater Manchester Environment Plan 2019
Bring carbon dioxide emissions to net zero by 2038
10% reduction in heating and cooling demand by 2025 with a 22% total reduction by 2038
38% reduction in industrial emissions by 2025 with a 50-77% reduction by 2038
Retrofit 61,000 homes per year by 2024
Public buildings to obtain an average Display Energy Certificate (DEC) rating of D or better by 2024 and C by 2030 

Nitrogen dioxide emissions
Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan 2019
Reduce NO2 emissions on road links where modelling has identified exceedances beyond 2020 (152 stretches of road identified across GM) 
Greater Manchester Environment Plan 2019
100% of all cars are zero emissions by 2035
100% of all buses are zero emissions by 2035

Renewable energy
Greater Manchester Environment Plan 2019
Add 45MW of local renewable electricity generation by 2024
Add 10TWh of low carbon heating by 2024
Add another 45MW of energy supply through other sources 
20% renewable energy generation at new developments

Waste management
Greater Manchester Environment Plan 2019
Limit any increase in the quantity of waste produced to 20% 
Achieve a recycling rate of 65% by 2035

Natural environment
Greater Manchester Environment Plan 2019 - 2024
Plant 3 million trees by 2035 and a further 1-2 million by 2050
Restore 50-75% of peatlands by 2038

Local policy and targets 
On 17th July 2019 Rochdale Council passed a motion on climate change

P
age 113



The Council resolves to: 

 Declare a climate emergency

 Work towards ensuring that the borough is carbon neutral by 2050, in line with the Mayor and the Government’s targets. Achieving 
this will require significant investment and policy initiatives from the Government, and Council hopes it would be achieved earlier 
than 2050

 Work towards ensuring that the Council is carbon neutral by 2038, recognising the leadership role it has in the borough

 Develop a working group to support the Council move from declaration to delivery drawing in cross sector expertise, capacity and 
capability. The working group should draw on existing expertise within the borough as well as including residents who are 
representative of the borough as a whole

 Set in place a process of engagement and collaborative action that enables an action plan to be considered by Cabinet and Council 
in early 2020, based on achieving the aforementioned targets

The climate emergency in Rochdale
Friends of the Earth have said that Rochdale is only 72% climate friendly 

P
age 114



Reducing Rochdale’s greenhouse gas emissions
Greenhouse gases are the biggest threat to our planet. The Council has committed to reducing carbon emissions by 2038

Rochdale is producing 0.9 million 
tonnes of carbon dioxide 

emissions (MtCO2) as at 2019. 
42% of emissions come from 

housing, 26% from transport, and 
32% are industrial and 
commercial emissions.

Rochdale has 10 stretches of road (road 
links) where concentrations of nitrogen 
dioxide are forecast to exceed legal limit 

values beyond 2020. 

The Rochdale area 
currently has only 13MW 

of renewable power.

In Rochdale only 12% of people 
commute by public transport, 
1% cycle and 10% walk. Only 

12% share their car.

Rochdale only has 10 public 
electric vehicle charging points 

(EV).

Only 37% of homes in Rochdale 
are well insulated and 13% of 

households can’t afford to heat 
their homes properly.

Rochdale reuses, recycles 
and composts 48% of its 

household waste.

Only 5% of the Rochdale 
area is woodland

Source: https://takeclimateaction.uk/climate-action/how-climate-friendly-your-
area-enter-your-postcode-see-results-your-community

Blanket bog is important for habitat 
and provides a carbon store, helping 

to reduce flood risk. 5.4% of the 
borough is blanket bog but not all is 

in good condition. 

P
age 115



The Tyndall Centre at Manchester University has said that we must make a fair contribution to reducing carbon dioxide emissions to achieve net 
zero by 2100. A fair contribution in Rochdale means reducing emissions by at least 13% per year, staying within a maximum carbon budget of 8.1 
million tonnes (MtCO2) from now until 2100. However, it is recommended that Rochdale stays within a recommended budget of 6.2 million tonnes 
(MtCO2) to achieve as near as possible to zero by 2038. To be wholly carbon neutral by 2038, an even smaller carbon budget, with accelerated 
reduction rates is required over the next 18 years. 

The Council has committed to bringing nitrogen dioxide emissions to within legal limits 

The Greater Manchester Combined Authority has said that we must implement clean air measures for the highest polluting vehicles to ensure that 
the 10 stretches of roads in Rochdale that are  modelled to exceed EU  legal limit values beyond 2020, will comply as soon as possible. 

0.93

0.07

0

2010 2014 2018 2022 2026 2030 2034 2038 2042 2046 2050 2054 2058 2062 2066 2070 2074 2078 2082 2086 2090 2094 2098
0

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.7

0.8

0.9

1

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

Pathway Projections for Rochdale

YEARS

M
TC

O
2

4.0

2.1

1.0

0.5
0.3

0.1 0.1

2018-2022 2023-2027 2028-2032 2033-2037 2038-2042 2043-2047 2048-2100
0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

4.5

Cumulative CO2 emissions for budget period from 2018 to 
2100 for Rochdale

M
t C

O
2

P
age 116



 Phase 1: Buses, taxis and commercial vehicles by 2021
 Phase 2: Long Goods Vehicles (LGV’s) by 2023

Summary of exceedances in Rochdale before and after clean air measures
Local Model point 
exceedances on 
Pollution Climate 
Modelling (PCM) 
links

Additional Local 
Model point 
exceedances on 
local roads (non 
PCM links)

Total Local Model 
point exceedances

2021
Without Clean Air Measures 10 0 10

Clean Air Phase 1 2 0 2

Change in exceedances -8 0 -8

2023
Without Clean Air Measures 2 0 2

Clean Air Phase 2 0 0 0

Change in exceedances -2 0 -2

Our sustainability goals and outcomes
The Council’s goals and outcomes align with the Sustainable Development Goals and Greater Manchester Environmental Plan

P
age 117



Deliver the following co-benefits in tackling climate change

Social sustainability

Economic sustainability

Environmental sustainability

Build the resilience of those most vulnerable to climate-related events

Access to adequate, safe and affordable housing and basic services

Less exposure to environmental shocks and disasters, in particular flooding from rivers and surface water

Less people living in poverty (including fuel poverty)

Support sustainable food production and practices that can withstand climate change

More local food production

More eating of healthier and plant-based food, with less and better reared meat

More resilient agricultural practices

Relieve the burden of climate related illness and disease

P
age 118



Less air, water and land pollution and contamination

Less respiratory and communicable or infectious diseases

Healthier lifestyle habits, working environments and green spaces 

Build knowledge and skills in sustainability

School pupils educated in sustainable development and sustainable lifestyles

Education and vocational training programmes to support careers in a green economy

Workforces equipped with the right skills for working in greener industries and sectors

Empower women and girls to support  economic growth and development

More girls and young women particpating in Science, Technology, Engineering and Maths (STEM) subjects

More women working in the clean tech sector

Women as stewards of natural and household resources are involved in climate action

Manage demand for water and threats to water security resulting from climate change

Better water-use efficiency

P
age 119



Better management, protection and restoration of water-related ecosystems, rivers, lakes etc. 

Strong surface water management  to reduce risk of sewer flooding

Less water needing to be treated to improve water quality 

Reduce use of fossil fuels that are harmful to the environment

More renewable electricity generation 

More diversity and flexibility of energy supply including low carbon heating and hydro power

Fossil fuelled private vehicles, bus and other fleets replaced with zero emission capable alternatives

Freight transport shifted to rail and water transport

Support clean and green growth for a sustained economy

New industries at the forefront of clean and green innovation e.g. advanced materials, digital technologies

More companies trading in low carbon environmental goods and services 

New types of jobs supporting clean and green growth

Reduce the intensity of carbon emissions from the industry sector

Circular and resource efficient production models that reduce waste and encourage recycling

P
age 120



More environmentally friendly equipment, technologies and processes 

Infrastructure and industries upgraded or retrofitted

Advance equal opportunity and reduce inequalities of outcomes in addressing climate change

Enhanced representation and voice for young people

Diverse and vulnerable groups supported to move to cleaner and greener ways of living

Those most vulnerable to climate change benefitting first from climate action 

Make urban areas cleaner, greener and with climate responsive infrastructure

Inclusive, sustainable, resilient and accessible buildings, roads, green and public spaces

Sustainable drainage plus measures for relieving heat stress/providing cooling

Well connected and sustainable public transport systems and active travel (cycling and walking)

The most polluting vehicles removed from town centres 

The natural environment included in the design of urban areas (blue/green infrastructure)

Implementation of risk and disaster mitigation, adaptation and management measures

Protect the loss of scarce resources through prevention, reduction, recycling and reuse

P
age 121



Reduced waste, including food and plastic waste

Increased recycling of different types of materials e.g. paper, cardboard, aluminium, glass 

Reduced heat demand from existing homes, new buildings and commercial and public buildings 

Harvested rainwater used as a resource in combatting climate events (drought, flooding)

Raise awareness to make it easy to identify and respond to the impact of climate change

Carbon literacy for all

Good examples of energy saving behaviour

Volunteering opportunities for climate action and nature restoration projects

Protect areas for aquatic biodiversity 

Aquatic habitats created or enhanced

Reduce and mitigate land and water activity that causes damage to aquatic habitats 

Aquatic wildlife sustained by tackling destructive fishing practices and managing aquaculture and tourism

Protect and restore vital ecosystems and species

Achieving a net gain in biodiversity through new development

P
age 122



Increased tree and wildflower planting as part of sustainable drainage systems

Wildlife habitats created, enhanced or protected from harm, including managing and restoring peatlands

Increased and maintained green spaces, green belt and designated nature sites

Mobilise change through effective participation and governance 

Dedicated political and officer leads for climate change

Responsive, inclusive, participatory and representative decision-making at all levels

Environmental sustainability criteria embedded in policies, plans, processes e.g. procurement, planning etc.

Progress reported against achievement of climate change actions and targets

Deliver sustainability goals through cooperation, finance and data

Multi-stakeholder partnerships that share resources including knowledge, expertise, technology, money

Funding to support work in reducing greenhouse gas emissions and nature restoration

High-quality, timely and reliable data to understand the current and future climate position

P
age 123



Report to Cabinet

Date of Meeting 28 January 2020
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Health & Wellbeing

Report Author Nicola Rogers

Public Document

Greater Manchester's Clean Air Plan - Tackling Nitrogen Dioxide 
Exceedances at the Roadside - Update

Executive Summary

1.
To set out the progress that has been made following the Government’s 
response to Greater Manchester’s Outline Business Case to tackle Nitrogen 
Dioxide Exceedances at the Roadside (OBC), and the implications for the 10 
Greater Manchester (GM) local authorities in relation to the schedule of work 
and statutory consultation on the Clean Air Plan.

Recommendation

2.

2.1

2.2

2.3

Cabinet are recommended to;

note progress made to date;

note the ministerial direction under the Environment Act 1995 (Greater 
Manchester) Air Quality Direction 2019 which requires all ten of the Greater 
Manchester local authorities to implement a charging Clean Air Zone Class C 
across the region;

agree the need to continue to proceed towards developing the implementation 
and contract arrangements of a charging Clean Air Zone in Greater 
Manchester utilising the initial tranche of £36m of funding as required by the 
ministerial direction / feedback;

delegate authority to  Director of Neighbourhoods in conjunction with the 
Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing to determine the preparatory 
implementation and contract arrangements that need to be undertaken 
utilising the initial tranche of £36m of funding to deliver the CAZ and other GM 

Page 124

Agenda Item 10



2.4

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

2.9

2.10

CAP measures, as set out at paragraph 4.11;

note that the report to determine the timings for commencing the consultation 
will be received in the Spring of 2020;

note the outstanding need to secure a clear response from the Government on 
clean vehicles funding asks;

note that Highways England have not been directed to act in relation to 
tackling NO2 exceedances in the same way as the Greater Manchester local 
authorities, and that this will leave some publicly accessible areas of GM 
adjacent to trunk roads managed by Highways England, with NO2 
exceedances that are not being addressed by the Highways England plan;

delegate authority to the Director of Neighbourhoods in conjunction with the 
Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing to agree the final content and 
submission of the documents listed in Appendix One for formal submission to 
JAQU and note their Publication status;

delegate authority to the Director of Neighbourhoods in conjunction with the 
Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing to determine any further technical 
reports for formal submission to JAQU; and

note that the Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing will co-sign a letter 
from the GM Authorities to the Transport Secretary asking them to bring 
forward the launch of a statutory consultation to strengthen rules on vehicle 
idling.

Reason for Recommendation

3.

3.1

3.2

In July 2017, the Secretary of State issued a Direction under the Environment 
Act 1995 requiring seven Greater Manchester local authorities to produce a 
feasibility study to identify the option which would deliver compliance with the 
requirement to meet legal limits for nitrogen dioxide in their areas in the 
shortest possible time. 

Rochdale BC was not required to act under this Direction, however the 
Council was required to address the exceedances of nitrogen dioxide that 
have been identified within its boundaries during the Target Determination 
exercise. Rochdale has therefore been developing a feasibility study 
collectively with the other 9 Greater Manchester local authorities and the 
GMCA, and coordinated by TfGM in line with Government direction and 
guidance and an Outline Business Case (OBC) was duly submitted in April 
2019.

The key features of Greater Manchester’s feasibility study and its Outline 
Business Case (OBC) to reduce nitrogen dioxide exceedances in Rochdale 
borough and across Greater Manchester in the shortest possible time were 
approved on 13 March 2019 at the Council’s Cabinet meeting for submission 
to the government's Joint Air Quality Unit (JAQU).

Page 125



Key Points for Consideration

4.

4.1

4.2

4.3

Introduction

Government has instructed many local authorities across the UK to take quick 
action to reduce harmful Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) levels following the Secretary 
of State issuing a direction under the Environment Act 1995 to undertake 
feasibility studies to identify measures for reducing NO2 concentrations to 
within legal limit values in the “shortest possible time”. In Greater Manchester, 
the 10 local authorities, the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) 
and Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM), hereinafter collectively referred 
to as “Greater Manchester” or “GM”, are working together to develop a Clean 
Air Plan to tackle NO2 Exceedances at the Roadside, hereinafter referred to 
as GM CAP.

In its Outline Business Case (OBC) Greater Manchester proposed the 
following package of measures that delivers compliance in the shortest 
possible time, at the lowest cost, least risk and with the least negative impacts. 
They are:

 A charging Clean Air Zone (CAZ) which will target the most polluting 
commercial vehicles including older heavy goods vehicles, buses, 
coaches, taxis and private hire vehicles from the summer of 2021, 
and older polluting light goods vehicles from 2023 (i.e. a CAZ C with 
a van exemption until 2023). It has been assumed at OBC stage 
that the Clean Air Zone Charge would be £7.50 per day for taxis, 
private hire vehicles and light goods vehicles and £100 per day for 
heavy goods vehicles, buses and coaches.

 A Clean Freight Fund of c.£59m to provide financial support for the 
upgrade of light and heavy goods vehicles, minibuses and coaches, 
which will be targeted to support smaller local businesses, sole 
traders and the voluntary sector, registered in Greater Manchester. 

 A Clean Taxi Fund of c.£28m, to support the upgrade of non-
compliant Greater Manchester Licensed taxi and private hire 
vehicles. 

 A Clean Bus Fund of c.£30m to provide, where possible, the retrofit 
of older engine standards to the less polluting Euro VI standard for 
those buses registered to run services across Greater Manchester. 

 A package of supporting measures including a proposed Loan 
Finance scheme, sustainable journeys projects, additional EV 
charging infrastructure.

The OBC made clear the expectation that the UK Government would support 
the plans through: 

 Clear arrangements and funding to develop workable, local vehicle 

Page 126



4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

5

5.1

5.2

scrappage / upgrade measures; 

 Short term effective interventions in vehicle and technology 
manufacturing and distribution, led by national Government with 
local authorities; 

 Replacement of non-compliant buses; and 

 A clear instruction to Highways England with regard to air pollution 
from the Strategic Road Network (SRN) in Greater Manchester. 

The OBC outlining these proposals and the supporting evidence was 
submitted to Government at the end of March 2019. Ministerial feedback was 
received in July 2019 along with a further direction under the Environment Act 
1995 which requires all ten of the Greater Manchester local authorities to take 
steps to implement a plan to deliver compliance with the requirement to meet 
legal limits for nitrogen dioxide in the shortest possible time.

The 2019 Ministerial Direction and accompanying letter proposed some key 
amendments to GM’s OBC proposals, including the implementation of a 
charging Clean Air Zone Class C without a van exemption until 2023, with 
additional measures; and for local authorities to jointly submit to JAQU revised 
evidence by 2 August and a Full Business Case (FBC) by 31 December 2019 
at the latest. 

The Ministerial letter set out that the GM plan looks to be on track to deliver 
compliance in the shortest possible time and that on the evidence provided to 
date Greater Manchester authorities should continue to proceed towards 
developing the implementation and contract arrangements of a charging Clean 
Air Zone in Greater Manchester and that the Government would provide an 
initial tranche of £36m of funding to take this forward.

Full detail of the government’s response was set out in the GMCA – Clean Air 
Update report on 26 July 2019 and at the Council’s Informal Cabinet Meeting 
on 9 July.

Progress Since Last Update 

Following the ministerial feedback and 2019 Ministerial Direction, the GM 
Authorities sought clarification on the 2019 Ministerial Direction and the 
accompanying ministerial letter, questioned the government’s lack of 
assurances around financial support for the broader GM CAP, outlined GM’s 
approach to the requests for further options analysis, and detailed the issues 
GM faces in preparing to implement the scheme in terms of the timetable for 
FBC and statutory consultation.

The ministerial letter requested from GM further options appraisal information 
(including transport and air quality modelling as well as due regard to 
economic, financial and deliverability considerations) to be submitted prior to 

Page 127



5.3

5.4

5.5

5.6

5.7

5.8

5.9

statutory consultation, and by 2nd August 2019. 

In the interests of the ongoing working relationship between the 10 GM 
Authorities and the government's Joint Air Quality Unit (JAQU) in developing 
the GM CAP, a total of 29 draft technical reports and notes have been issued 
to JAQU in draft form and are subject to approval as set out in Appendix One. 
These provide the specific information JAQU has requested about behavioural 
assumptions and sensitivity testing. 

GM has also requested clarification of the 2019 direction, JAQU guidance and 
GM’s legal obligations relating to the options appraisal process, and whether 
this impacts on the GM authorities’ options appraisal work to date or the 
additional work required by the letter accompanying the 2019 Ministerial 
Direction.

In addition, GM set out that the delay of over two months in receiving 
Ministerial feedback on the OBC, compounded by the request for GM to 
submit further options appraisal information, has had a material impact on the 
timetable for the GM CAP.

The delay arising from the ministerial feedback and lack of clarity on the 
direction, JAQU guidance and GM’s legal obligations relating to the options 
appraisal process means that consultation will now need to take place later 
than originally planned. Consultation must comply with the relevant public law 
principles which may be summarised as:

 consulting at a time when proposals are still formative;

 giving sufficient reasons for the proposals to allow intelligent 
consideration and response by consultees;

 giving adequate time for consultees to respond; and

 ensuring that the responses to the consultation are conscientiously 
taken into consideration in finalising proposals.

In planning for a Statutory Consultation Officers have had to have regard to 
these principles. Given the continuing dialogue with Ministers to secure a clear 
response from government on our clean vehicles funding asks and lack of 
clarity on the 2019 Ministerial Direction, JAQU guidance and GM’s legal 
obligations relating to the options appraisal process, Officers cannot at this 
time advise the GM Authorities to commence the Statutory Consultation. 

In the absence of a Statutory Consultation GM Authorities will not be able to 
submit an FBC by the end of the year and therefore that aspect of the 
Ministerial Direction will not be fulfilled. Officers remain in dialogue with JAQU 
and have written to clarify GM’s position in relation to our schedule of work. 
GM has been clear that improving air quality is a priority and to that aim we 
have set out how we have been progressing this work.  

Despite this delay to undertaking a Statutory Consultation, in view of the 2019 
Ministerial Direction GM must continue to proceed towards developing the 
implementation and contract arrangements of a charging Clean Air Zone in 

Page 128



5.10

5.11

5.12

6

6.1

6.2

Greater Manchester utilising the initial tranche of £36m of funding.

GM Authority decision makers will receive a report in Spring 2020 to 
determine the timings for commencement of the consultation. The report will:

 Detail the outputs from the Public Conversation and workshop-style 
focus groups, known as deliberative research;

 Set out the outline of the proposals and what they mean for GM, 
including:
o the basic key elements of the Clean Air Zone including the 

intended boundary and times of operation, proposed 
discounts/exemptions, vehicles affected and daily charges]

o the supporting measures [the detail of proposals of the funds and 
vehicle finance scheme, sustainable journeys]

o An Equalities Impact Assessment that considers the draft 
proposals at a GM level.

In the interim, given the scale and challenging timeline to deliver a charging 
Clean Air Zone as required by the 2019 Ministerial Direction, there is 
preparatory work that needs to be undertaken. This is in order to maintain 
delivery momentum in line with the funding arrangements agreed with JAQU, 
for example in relation to automatic number plate recognition (ANPR) 
cameras, back office systems and service providers. Therefore, a delegation 
is sought to give Director of Neighbourhoods in conjunction with the Cabinet 
Member for Health and Wellbeing the necessary authority to determine the 
preparatory implementation and contract arrangements, utilising the initial 
tranche of £36m of funding that may need to be undertaken to deliver a Clean 
Air Zone and other GM CAP measures, ahead of the report that will determine 
progressing the statutory consultation.

The commencement of a charging Clean Air Zone scheme and the other 
measures are subject to both consultation as set out at 4.10 and to the GM 
authorities receiving the required government funding to enable them to meet 
the legal limits for nitrogen dioxide concentrations. 

Government Asks

In addition to the response on the specific clean air proposals, additional asks 
were made of Government, as set out at 3.3

These include an ask for Government to direct Highways England to tackle 
NO2 exceedances on the Strategic Road Network (SRN) in the same way that 
local authorities that have been directed to undertake a feasibility study are 
having to take action on the local road network. The ministerial feedback 
outlined that Highways England are working up plans for exceedances 
identified by national modelling on their network, and that this is not expected 
to include charging on the SRN but will instead focus on a range of measures 
such as traffic management, speed limits and barriers.

Page 129



6.3

7

7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

7.6

7.7

8

8.1

Officers have been advised that the measures proposed by Highways England 
in Greater Manchester focus on introducing 60mph speed limits on parts of the 
SRN. It highlights the concern that Highways England have not been directed 
to act in relation to tackling NO2 exceedances in the same way as Greater 
Manchester local authorities, and that this will leave some publicly accessible 
areas of GM adjacent to trunk roads managed by Highways England, with 
NO2 exceedances that are not being addressed by the Highways England 
plan.

Vehicle Idling

Our Clean Air conversation in Spring 2019 highlighted that many people are 
concerned about vehicle idling, prompting questions about what GM can do to 
crack down on people who leave their engines idling.

In the UK, it is illegal under the Road Vehicles (Construction and Use) 
Regulations 1986 to leave a vehicle’s engine running unnecessarily while that 
vehicle is stationary on a public road. Doing this can incur a £20 fixed-penalty 
fine under the Road Traffic (Vehicle Emissions) Regulations 2002. 

This is only imposed if the driver fails to turn off their engine when asked to do 
so. Enforcement of this legislation, either through a Fixed Penalty Notice 
(FPN) or via the magistrates’ court sits with local authorities. 

As the enforcing officer has to give the driver the opportunity to switch off the 
engine first and the penalty for idling is relatively small (£20), Greater 
Manchester Local Authorities do not consider the Regulation to be an effective 
deterrent.

In addition, government has recently announced proposals to consult on 
toughen up rules on vehicle idling and increase fines for drivers who leave 
their engine running while parked.

Given the limited enforcement deterrent the GM Authorities are planning 
undertake more awareness raising campaigns to inform of the health impacts 
that idling has on air quality.

In parallel, GM Authorities will write to the Transport Secretary asking them to 
bring forward the launch of the public consultation on this issue

Next Steps

Officers will:

 Continue to work with JAQU to clarify the 2019 Ministerial Direction, 
JAQU guidance and GM’s legal obligations relating to the options 
appraisal process, and the implications of that to our schedule of 
work and the timings for consultation on the Plan; 

 Continue dialogue with JAQU to secure a clear response from 

Page 130

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/idling-drivers-could-face-higher-fines-under-new-government-crackdown


government on our clean vehicles funding asks; and

 Continue stakeholder engagement and awareness raising with both 
groups in scope of the Clean Air Zone and the general public.

Costs and Budget Summary

9. As set out in the Outline Business Case and report to Cabinet 13 March 2019, 
being that DEFRA/JAQU will underwrite any net operational deficit and if 
scheme operations generate any net surplus, this would be re-invested back 
into achieving Local Transport Plan (2040 Greater Manchester Transport 
Strategy) objectives, as required by the Transport Act 2000. 

Risk and Policy Implications

As set out in the Outline Business Case and report to Cabinet 13 March 201910.

Consultation

11. Stakeholder engagement and awareness raising will continue with statutory 
consultation 

Background Papers Place of Inspection

26 Jul 2019, report to GMCA: Clean Air Plan Update

31 March 2019, Greater Manchester’s Outline 
Business Case to tackle Nitrogen Dioxide 
Exceedances at the Roadside (OBC)

1 March 2019, report to GMCA: Greater Manchester’s 
Clean Air Plan – Tackling Nitrogen Dioxide 
Exceedances at the Roadside - Outline Business 
Case

11 January 2019, report to GMCA/AGMA: Clean Air 
Update

14 December 2018, report to GMCA: Clean Air 
Update

30 November 2018, report to GMCA: Clean Air Plan 
Update

26 October 2018, report to GMCA: GM Clean Air Plan 
Update on Local Air Quality Monitoring

15 November 2018, report to HPEOS Committee: 
Clean Air Update

16 August 2018, report to HPEOS Committee: GM 
Clean Air Plan Update UK plan for tackling roadside 
nitrogen dioxide concentrations, Defra and DfT, July 

https://cleanairgm.com/

Page 131

https://cleanairgm.com/


2017

For Further Information Contact: Nicola Rogers

Tel: 01706 924124, 
nicola.rogers@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 132



Greater Manchester's Clean Air Plan - Tackling Nitrogen Dioxide 
Exceedances at the Roadside - Update

1 Appendix One

1.1 This appendix summarises the purpose and contents of the additional 
supplementary technical Evidence Notes that are required to be formally submitted 
to JAQU to accompany the OBC and in response to the Minister’s feedback.

1.2 Pursuant to the Ministerial Direction, and in discussions with the government’s 
Joint Air Quality Unit (JAQU) GM has updated analysis that addresses issues 
raised around the behavioural assumptions used and provided assurance that the 
proposed Clean Air Zone will deliver compliance in the shortest possible time, and 
that compliance cannot be achieved earlier than 2024, such analysis includes:

 exploring whether measures targeted at the last remaining exceedance 
locations following implementation of a CAZ in 2021 would achieve compliance 
quicker;

 updating the behavioural assumptions used to model the impact of a CAZ, 
following the Technical Independent Review Panel’s suggestions;

 providing further sensitivity testing on vehicle upgrade assumptions; and

 demonstrating that a Greater Manchester CAZ D cannot bring forward 
compliance, including outlining the delivery challenges discussed for a GM wide 
CAZ D. 

1.3 In response 29 Evidence Notes, have been produced, namely:

1. GM CAP Data, Evidence and Modelling: post-OBC approach

2. GM CAP: Next steps for data collection and the development of analytical 
tools

3. GM CAP: Analysis of the freight market

4. GM CAP: Analysis of the coach market

5. GM CAP: ANPR Surveys: Summary of Initial Findings 

6. GM CAP: Behavioural response assumptions and available data sources*

7. GM CAP: LGV and HGV Operational Cost Models*

8. GM CAP: HGV Behavioural Responses Note*

9. GM CAP: LGV Behavioural Responses Note*

10. GM CAP: Taxi Behavioural Responses Note*

11. GM CAP: Analysis of Bus Upgrade Options to Deliver Air Quality 
Compliance**

Page 133



12. GM CAP: Evidence of the impact of 2021 implementation of a CAZ C 
(without exemptions)

13. GM CAP Study: Traffic Impact on Neighbouring Authorities

14. GM CAP: Local exceedances: Update*

15. GM CAP: Implications of the EFT update for GM

16. GM CAP: Sensitivity testing of a CAZ C in 2023 with revised behavioural 
response assumptions.* 

17. GM CAP: Evidence supporting the decision not to progress with a GM-wide 
CAZ D.*

18. GM CAP: Minibus Vehicle Research

19. GM CAP: Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Fleet Research

20. GM CAP: Greater Manchester Specialised Goods Surveys: Results 
Summary

21. GM CAP: Sensitivity test: Full Electric Bus Fleet

22. GM CAP: Addendum to Note 3: GM Comparative Statistics

23. GM CAP: Summary update of ongoing work on local exceedances*

24. GM CAP: Updates to the Modelling Tools post-OBC Submission for the Do 
Minimum scenario

25. GM CAP: Modelling the impacts of Sustainable Journeys Measures*

26. GM CAP: Analysis of Funds*

27. GM CAP: Demand Sifting Tool Operating Manual*

28. GM CAP: Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Operational Cost Model*

29. GM CAP: Option for Consultation Modelling Summary*

1.4 In the interests of the ongoing working relationship between the 10 GM authorities 
and JAQU in developing the GM CAP, all of the above reports have been issued 
to JAQU in draft form, and are now subject to approval.

1.5 The evidence base that will underpin the Full Business Case (FBC) is still being 
developed. Evidence was supplied to JAQU where it was possible to do so, with 
the recognition that the Notes represented a work-in-progress and that more work 
is required to properly understand the implications of the analysis from a policy, 
delivery, legal and analytical assurance perspective. 

1.6 Contents of the supplementary Evidence Notes:

 ‘Note 1: GM CAP Data, Evidence and Modelling: post-OBC approach’ sets out 
the process being undertaken to deliver the Data, Evidence and Modelling 

Page 134



requirements in support of the FBC. It also describes the evidence to be supplied to 
JAQU and how this responds to the feedback received from JAQU and the 
Technical and Delivery Independent Review Panels (the T-IRP and D-IRP).

 ‘Note 2: GM CAP: Next steps for data collection and the development of 
analytical tools’ provides information about further data collection and the 
development of tools planned as next steps, namely behavioural research of van 
drivers and other groups; the development of further Operational Cost Models for 
other vehicle types; on-street specialized goods vehicle surveys; and the analysis of 
evidence emerging from the Conversation and other bodies.

 ‘Note 3: Analysis of the freight market’ describes the number of Heavy and Light 
Goods Vehicles operating in GM, the compliance status of those vehicles, and the 
business and usage patterns of those vehicles.

 ‘Note 4: Analysis of the coach market’ describes the number of coaches 
operating in GM, the compliance status of those vehicles, and the business and 
usage patterns of those vehicles. This evidence, and that contained in Note 3, is 
being used to inform scheme design and to support the development of analytical 
tools and modelling assumptions.

 ‘Note 5: GM CAP ANPR Surveys: Summary of Initial Findings’ sets out the 
results of an ANPR survey conducted in January 2019 at 42 sites across GM. The 
survey was designed to provide a representative profile of the vehicle fleet 
operating in Greater Manchester in terms of vehicle type (including fuel used) and 
age profile, in order to update the previous data used in the OBC with a more 
comprehensive and robust dataset. The results show that there are not major 
differences between observed levels of compliance in the overall GM fleet between 
the 2016 and 2019 surveys. This data set is now being used widely as part of the 
ongoing work to refine the proposals as part of the FBC development for the CAP.

 ‘Note 6: GM CAP: Behavioural response assumptions and available data 
sources’ sets out evidence gathered from a number of sources offering an insight 
into the vehicle markets in question and how they might respond to the range of 
measures proposed in the GM CAP. These include Stated Preference surveys that 
have been carried out by other CAP authorities (Sheffield and Bradford) and shared 
with GM.

 ‘Note 7: LGV and HGV Operational Cost Models’ describes a new analytical tool 
that has been developed in support of the GM CAP allowing the assessment of 
behavioural responses to a CAZ based on operational costs by vehicle type for 
HGVs and LGVs. It is proposed that this tool replaces the methodology for 
assessing behavioural responses as applied in the OBC.

 ‘Note 8: GM CAP: HGV Behavioural Responses’ sets out what behavioural 
response assumptions were applied at OBC for HGVs, the revised behavioural 
assumptions proposed for future analysis based on the HGV Operational Cost 
Model, and proposed next steps for analysis.

 ‘Note 9: GM CAP: LGV Behavioural Responses’ sets out what behavioural 
response assumptions were applied at OBC for LGVs, the revised behavioural 
assumptions proposed for future analysis based on the LGV Operational Cost 
Model, and proposed next steps for analysis.

Page 135



 ‘Note 10: GM CAP: Taxi Behavioural Responses’ sets out what behavioural 
response assumptions were applied at OBC for Hackney Cabs and Private Hire 
Vehicles (PHVs), and consider a possible approach to updating these assumptions 
based on evidence derived from stated preference surveys carried out in Sheffield. 
It sets out proposed next steps for analysis, including the development of an 
Operational Cost Model for Taxis (Hackney Cabs and PHVs). 

 ‘Note 11: Analysis of Bus Upgrade Options to Deliver Air Quality Compliance’ 
was produced in response to a request from JAQU for analysis scaling the 
proportion of bus compliance required to deliver compliance. Practically, this 
approach is very difficult to test in a way that would represent a real-world 
operational scenario that could be delivered as part of the CAP. Note 11 therefore 
presents two approaches to understand the influence of buses on compliance with 
the Air Quality Directive: 

 how many of the GM bus service routes pass the predicted exceedance locations 
and the number of buses this represents compared with the GM bus operator 
vehicle fleet. 

 how many of the modelled exceedances would remain if the preferred option 
(Option 8) excluded bus improvements at all (i.e. a CAZ that did not include buses 
as a type of vehicle to be charged).

 ‘Note 12: Evidence of the impact of 2021 implementation of a CAZ C (without 
exemptions)’ describes analysis carried out by GM to assess the risks of 
implementing a CAZ C in 2021 without also implementing a two-year sunset period 
as was proposed in the OBC. The Note sets out analysis of vulnerability by sector, 
based on the proportion of the fleet that would be non-compliant in 2021 compared 
to 2023; analysis exploring the risk of market distortion and the potential impact on 
small businesses; and analysis of the likely availability (or lack of availability) of 
second-hand compliant vehicles.

 ‘Note 13: GM CAP Study: Traffic Impact on Neighbouring Authorities’ presents 
the results of highway modelling carried out to assess the likelihood and potential 
scale of traffic re-routeing to avoid a CAZ.

 ‘Note 14: GM CAP Local exceedances Update’ sets out GM’s approach to 
identifying and assessing sites where further measures may be required in order to 
achieve compliance in the shortest possible time. The Note presents the results of 
analysis carried out to assess real-world traffic conditions and to compare these to 
model outputs, and analysis of NOx source apportionment and any local conditions 
affecting concentrations, such as canyons, including checking how accurate the 
representation of such conditions is in the model itself. It also sets out an update on 
work carried out to identify possible local solutions.

 ‘Note 15: Implications of the EFT update for GM’ considers the implications of 
Emission Factor Toolkit (EFT) version 9.1a, released by JAQU at the end of May 
2019. GM’s methodology for calculating traffic emissions applies emissions factors 
has been derived from DEFRA’s Emission Factor Toolkit (EFT) version 8.0, which 
was originally released in November 2017. Version 9.1a of the EFT contains fleet 
figures which have resulted from a recent Department for Transport (DfT) project to 
develop new passenger car fleet projections in light of emerging evidence regarding 

Page 136



changes in consumer purchasing behaviour which show a shift away from diesel 
cars and towards petrol cars, alongside a slowing in overall new car sales.

 ‘Note 16: GM CAP: Sensitivity testing of a CAZ C in 2023 with revised 
behavioural response’ presents the results of a sensitivity test of the impacts of a 
CAZ C (without any supporting measures) in 2023, applying revised behavioural 
responses for HGV, LGV, PHV and Hackney Cab. The bus upgrade was assumed 
as 100% for the purposes of this test. This test was conducted at the request of 
JAQU.

 ‘Note 17: Evidence supporting the decision not to progress with a GM-wide 
CAZ D’ sets out the options appraisal process applied at OBC and presents further 
evidence explaining why it is not considered that a GM-wide CAZ D cannot bring 
forward compliance.

 ‘Note 18: Minibus vehicle research’ describes the number of minibuses operating 
in GM, the compliance status of those vehicles, and the business and usage 
patterns of those vehicles.

 ‘Note 19: Taxi and Private Hire vehicle fleet research’ describes the number of 
taxis and PHVs licensed and operating in GM and the compliance status of those 
vehicles. This evidence, and that contained in Note 18, is being used to inform 
scheme design and to support the development of analytical tools and modelling 
assumptions.

 ‘Note 20: Greater Manchester Specialised Goods Surveys: Results Summary’ 
sets out the results of on-street surveys carried out at three sites identified in the 
local exceedances study where freight was a significant contributor of emissions. 
The surveys provide estimates of vehicle volumes by size, compliance status and 
industry.

 ‘Note 21: Sensitivity test: Full Electric Bus Fleet’ describes the results of a 
sensitivity test carried out to understand the impact on compliance of a fully electric 
bus network across GM. This was carried out as a theoretical test at the request of 
JAQU.

 ‘Note 22: Addendum to Note 3: GM Comparative Statistics’ presents the results 
of analysis carried out at the request of JAQU to test the reasonableness of GM’s 
assumption that the region was typical of the UK in terms of economic and business 
activity. It acts as an Addendum to Note 3.

 ‘Note 23: Summary update of ongoing work on local exceedances’ provides an 
updated position on the local exceedances project, acting as a follow-up paper to 
Note 14 which was supplied to JAQU in draft three weeks earlier.

 ‘Note 24: GM CAP: Updates to the Modelling Tools post-OBC Submission for 
the Do Minimum scenario’ describes a series of improvements that have been 
made to the underlying assumptions in the Do Minimum modelling scenario, in 
particular reflecting the release of EFT v9.1a and newly available data on bus 
services and fleets.

Page 137



 ‘Note 25: GM CAP: Modelling the impacts of Sustainable Journeys Measures’ 
sets out the methodology that has been developed to test the impacts of a package 
of sustainable journeys interventions, and the results of those tests.

 ‘Note 26: GM CAP: Analysis of Funds’ sets out how the available tools have been 
used to assess the impact of different funding offers in terms of likely uptake and 
impact on behavioural responses. This analysis has fed into the assessment of the 
funding offers, alongside other evidence.

 ‘Note 27: GM CAP: Demand Sifting Tool Operating Manual’ describes the 
Demand Sifting Tool and acts as a manual for use, setting out the underlying 
assumptions and methodology within the Tool. This Note has been developed to 
meet the TIRP request for further detail on the operation of the Tools.

 ‘Note 28: GM CAP: Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Operational Cost Model’ 
describes a new analytical tool that has been developed in support of the GM CAP 
allowing the assessment of behavioural responses to a CAZ based on operational 
costs by vehicle type for Hackney Cabs and Private Hire Vehicles. It is proposed 
that this tool replaces the methodology for assessing behavioural responses as 
applied in the OBC.

 ‘Note 29: GM CAP: Option for Consultation Modelling Summary’ presents the 
results of a series of tests of the updated Do Minimum scenario and of the full 
package of measures proposed for consultation for the GM CAP. Test have been 
carried out for 2021, 2023 and 2025 and analysis has been carried out to estimate 
the forecast year of compliance, shown to be 2024 with the proposed package as 
per the Ministerial Direction. As such, this Note supersedes Note 16, which acted as 
an early test of a simplified CAZ-only scenario using an interim  version of the 
updated tools. 

1.7 The reports, save for those marked with an asterisk, will be published once they 
have been approved. Upon publication, copies of these reports will be available at: 
www.CleanAirGM.com. 

1.8 Those reports marked with a single asterisk (*) are unfinished documents and will 
remain unpublished until the beginning of the consultation. 

1.9 As such, it is considered that the reports referred to above fall within the exception 
under regulation 12(4)(d) EIR and that, in all the circumstances of the case, the 
public interest in maintaining the exception outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. Subject to the comments at 9.10 in relation to report 
number 11, all the reports referred to above will be made public shortly and in any 
event prior to statutory consultation so there will be an appropriate opportunity for 
public scrutiny of them.  It is not considered that the public interest would be 
served by disclosing at this stage drafts which are incomplete.

1.10 In addition, report number 11, marked with a double asterisk (**) contains 
commercial or industrial information in respect of which confidentiality is provided 
by law to protect a legitimate economic interest, and disclosure would adversely 
affect that confidentiality. As such, it is considered this report falls within the 
exception under regulation 12(5)(e) EIR and that, in all the circumstances of the 
case, the public interest in maintaining the exception outweighs the public interest 
in disclosing the information.

Page 138

http://www.cleanairgm.com/


Document is Restricted

Page 139

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 151

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 155

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 157

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 161

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 162

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 167

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 168

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6 Finance Update Report 2019/20
	Append. 1 for Finance Update Report 2019/20

	7 Collection Fund 2019/20
	Append. 1 for Collection Fund 2019/20

	8 Research report - 'Unknown and Unseen: the Social, Economic and Cultural needs of the Kashmiri Community in Rochdale'
	Appendix 1 Recommendations - Unknown and Unseen needs and issues of the kashmiri community
	Unknown and Unseen needs and issues of Kashmiris

	9 Response to Climate Emergency Motion
	CURRENT FINAL DRAFT  December 2019 - Climate change strategy

	10 Greater Manchester's Clean Air Plan - Tackling Nitrogen Dioxide Exceedances at the Roadside - Update
	Append. 1 for Greater Manchester's Clean Air Plan - Tackling Nitrogen Dioxide Exceedances at the Roadside - Update

	12 Holiday Pay
	13 HR and Payroll System Contract
	Append. 1 for HR and Payroll System Contract

	14 St Mary's Gate Rochdale - Proposed Acquisition of Property
	Append. 1 for St Mary's Gate Rochdale - Proposed Acquisition of Property

	15 Consent for Proposed Disposals of Land
	Append. 1 for Consent for Proposed Disposals of Land
	Append. 2 for Consent for Proposed Disposals of Land


